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Chairman’s Statement
EN 38

Dear Shareholders,

Looking back at 2024, the global economic landscape
remained complex and volatile. Escalating geopolitical
conflicts, intensifying trade tensions, and persistently high
global interest rates placed significant pressure on local
economic activity and market confidence. The advertising
sector remains cautious, with various industries scaling back
their advertising spending, which has inevitably impacted
the Group’s advertising operations. Despite intensifying
competition in the media industry, the Group has stayed
closely attuned to market trends, proactively addressing
challenges, expanding business channels, and enhancing
operational efficiency. Building on the solid foundation of our
traditional media business, we are accelerating our digital
transformation to drive future growth.

Over the past year, “Sing Tao” has accelerated the
integration of print and digital media, continuously expanding
its digital platforms and leveraging innovative technologies
such as artificial intelligence to enhance overall operational
performance. We successfully hosted a series of major
events, including the 30" Anniversary Celebration of
the “Leader of the Year”, the “ESG Certification Awards
and Sustainable Development Forum 2024”, and the
“China Macro Economy and Greater Bay Area Integration
Forum 2024”. At the same time, we stayed attuned to
market demands by organising the “Sing Tao Real Estate
Development Trends Forum” and the “Hong Kong Higher
Education Expo”. In the first quarter of 2025, we successfully
launched the “ArtCan Culture Forum and Awards Ceremony
2024” and the “Praise Quest — The Most Commendable
Student Reward Program” ceremony, all of which sparked
considerable interest and enthusiasm in the market.
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Looking ahead to 2025, the Group will continue to uphold
the principle of “Innovation for change, professionalism
unchanged!”. We will closely monitor market trends,
actively exploring new business models, and refining our
operational strategy. We remain committed to strengthening
our leadership in the traditional media market, enhancing
brand value, leveraging content resources, streamlining
cost structure, and boosting profitability. Simultaneously,
we will expedite our digital transformation by advancing
media technology, expanding digital platforms, enhancing
content distribution efficiency and user engagement, all
while unlocking new revenue streams from emerging
media ventures. Notably, “Sing Tao” will fast-track the
digital transformation of The Standard media platform and
its overseas business this year. We will also continue to
implement a green, low-carbon operational model, integrating
sustainability across content production and supply chain
management to fulfil our corporate social responsibility
through concrete actions. As an international gateway,
Hong Kong seamlessly integrates global advantages with
China’s strengths. “Sing Tao”, serving as a vital platform for
information exchange and communication between Hong
Kong and Mainland China, remains committed to supporting
Hong Kong’s development in economic, financial, cultural,
sports, and educational sectors. By seizing opportunities, we
aim to drive progress and achieve new breakthroughs.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, we would like to extend our
heartfelt gratitude to all our stakeholders. We are deeply
appreciative of our dedicated employees for their hard work,
our supportive shareholders for their trust and recognition,
and our loyal readers and users for their affirmation and
support. Moving forward, we will continue to collaborate with
all of you in our efforts to create greater value for both our
shareholders and the Group.

Choi Karson Ka Tsan
Co-Chairman

Kwok Ying Shing
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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Major Events of The Year
AEERFELE

L.eader of the Year 2023
2023 45 B ) S ah e 5

The “Leader of the Year 2023” award presentation ceremony was successfully held on 21 June 2024, marking a
significant milestone as it coincided with the 30" anniversary of the prestigious event. For the first time in its history,
the ceremony took place simultaneously in Hong Kong and Shenzhen. It recognised outstanding leaders across five
categories: Commerce & Industry / Finance, Community / Public Affairs / Environment & Conservation, Education /
Professions / Technology & Innovation, Sports / Culture / Performing Arts, and Young Entrepreneur.

[2023%¢ K BEHE R | REHBN2024F6 A21HEMEIT - SFEEREFHMER | ZTRFEHR Y HEIARFEM
RYIMBRFRT - RABRAEERTY KB ABEANNEHERM : [T/ e@ARN] 1R/ 2HEK/ REREA
Al THE /BE/ BERRAIFAR] (88 /X / B2AR I RIEFEERE] -

Mega Events

KR )

During the Year, the Group leveraged its diversified media
platform resources to successfully hold a series of mega
events such as “Sing Tao Real Estate Development Trends
Forum 2024”, “ESG Certification Awards and Sustainable
Development Forum 2024” and “China Macro Economy
and Greater Bay Area Integration Forum 2024”.

AEBEFARDERBETNZTCREBFEER  KINEHRE : ‘
T—RINKRLES  BEIEESFHEZRDMMIE2024] - [ESGREBERTEKEER®MIF2024] - [THRZEKLBEZ
NEE A wiE2024] & -

Sing Tao Daily / Headline Daily / The Standard
CRLE B / OB R / CRSOR ) ARTCAN::x

With innovative thinking, professional design and leading editing e
techniques, Sing Tao Daily’s supplement ArtCan collaborates ARTCAN
with prominent arts organisations, enterprises and various
sectors to promote arts and cultural activities and performances,
thereby enriching Hong Kong’s cultural and artistic atmosphere.
Additionally, the inaugural “ArtCan Culture Forum and Awards
Ceremony” was successfully held in early 2025, marking a !
significant milestone in fostering arts and culture.

(ESRM BT IBXE]INAIFEL BEXRFRBLRTHRRFT L BEAEE &
ERBERETFAE HEXEE2MEHIEL  BARABTENEEMARN - ko EE
[ArtCanZ i X b i BB H 1€ | IIR2025F M EM 1T - RlEHEM UL ERBHEE ¥ -
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Major Events of The Year
WEERBELE

To celebrate its upcoming 20" anniversary, Headline
Daily embraced a refreshed image and energised the
public through a series of gift giving activities during
its anniversary month. As part of the celebrations, all
staff members donned vibrant new red uniforms to
engage warmly with readers. Additionally, Headline
Daily successfully organised several major activities
throughout the Year, including the “Chill Fun Travel
Carnival 2024” and “Headline No. 1 Awards 20247,
further solidifying its connection with the community.

According to the “Digital News Report 2024” by The University of Oxford’s Reuters Institute, Headline Daily was again
ranked as the top brand newspaper and second most trusted in public opinion in Hong Kong.

REVBRA_TAF (BEREARNUEFVREES/SARERENE RBEART - RIEREAREDY  2HRIKEE
T E R FEEARALE G AREEE RE ot CRIGA RN FAKINEM T [ChilllB#) ke 52 F 2024 | K [FHENo. 1
RNE2024 | EZHB AR E—TERRBAHENETHE -

]
n

RBFRZABRELTBERARAERO BB T ERE2024] (BRRBMEBEREZHRNEBLENIIRER
BETEHRE= -

~

The Standard has organised a series of education-focused events,
including the “International Schools Fair” and the “Tseung Kwan O
Education Fair”, to support and promote educational opportunities for the
community. Additionally, The Standard has successfully organised “The
8" Story Writing Competition and The 12" English Writing Competition” to
encourage students to express themselves in English and improve their
English writing skills.

3

| TEE EE ugr G-
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8

-

The 8™ Story Writing/Competition
The12£English\Writing Competition

(RXEH BT —FIHEERMED  BEARERRER]
RISERAERIS HAREAERE AHSERRHEES “
BEEE I (EXEBORDER B\ EREBELBRES o 4
+-ERBEBELE] SESMBENRBARELS  BEAK PATARLY PO
BB - 1 . LI

Sing Tao Headline
MR

Since March 20283, Sing Tao Headline has launched “Sing Tao §
PROBE”, aiming to be Hong Kong’s most pragmatic complaint Bllincea
platform, dedicated to helping the public tackle difficulties and
challenges. To mark the first anniversary of “Sing Tao PROBE” in
March 2024, the “Praise Quest — The Most Commendable Student
Reward Program” was introduced to recognise students who have
excelled in holistic development, encouraging their achievements and
inspiring others.

[ESSEG]B2023F3ARELHIESHFE] BNTELEXMBMNRFTE  REATRIHEBRR - £2024F3 A
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Major Events of The Year
WEEREBELE

Education
HEH

The Group successfully organised “The 1% Hong Kong Higher Education
Expo”, bringing together 12 Hong Kong universities in Shenzhen for the
first time to showcase the excellence of Hong Kong’s higher education
to parents and students from Mainland China. Additionally, “The 2™
Shenzhen-Hong Kong-Macao Youth Creative Design Competition” was held once again in cooperation with Shenzhen
authorities, fostering emerging talents to drive the growth of cultural and creative industries in the Greater Bay Area.

AEEXRDERTIAEEESEHEBES | BFEET _MaRAXRERRI  AARENBLEENETESS
HEMEBEER - N AEBETBERARINE D EMEE RNERF _ERERFLFABRAAE] BRRE
BXBIBEXERBEENENE -

“The 39" Sing Tao Inter-School Debating Competition” co-organised by
Sing Tao Daily and The Standard, was successfully held during the Year.
The “Sing Tao Learning Platform” of Sing Tao Daily hosted online lectures
on “National Education and National Security Education”, further promoting
awareness and understanding of these important topics. Additionally, Sing
Tao Daily successfully organised “The 2™ Sing Tao Chinese Language Quiz
Competition” and co-organised “The 4" Hong Kong-Macao Secondary
Schools Debating Championship” in collaboration with the Macao Speech
and Debate Association, contributing to the development of young people’s
language skills and critical thinking abilities.

(BEBRAMM(EXRB) ARV ESE=TNEEZERBRWLEIRNF
NEWET (EBRMBETIEBRE TR IERBRBXENBERLZE
PEIREBE E-SHEABAZBNER - i (ESEAH TKINE
MESEF _E2BENEIEEAMELE| YRBEFIERESGEMIF
MEBRT BRmEE]  RIERTIFNEBTENOMEHRIELER -

Magazine
%éﬂ:
we»
East Week organised a variety of events during the Year, including
the “Hong Kong Service Awards 2024”, “Outstanding Corporate

Strategy Awards 2024” and “The 11" Kids Drawing Contest”,
actively contributing to the diverse development of society.

(REATDFARMZIAES  BRIBBRBEAE2024] - [HHD
ERBMAR2024 | R [E+—E2ERERESKILEIF  BHHE
BHEZTLER-

The Group’s Sing Tao Motor and Caz Buyer successfully held
the annual flagship event in the automotive industry, the “No. 1
Car Awards 2024” award presentation ceremony, highlighting
the industry’s outstanding achievements and innovative
developments.

EBET(ERBE)R(Caz BuyerEBER)KIN BB HIEFEE KRS
[No. 1)98 K$82024 | FHIEHAIE - /78 3 A A = iR 5L B Bl 57 3%
I o
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Major Events of The Year
WEERBELE

Ohpama/Smart Parents
i [on! &85/ (BTE)

During the Year, Ohpama.com organised a variety of events,
including the “Learning and Teaching Education Expo 2024” and
the “Chinese Calligraphy Competition 2024”, and co-organised
the “UK Education Fair” with strategic partners. Notably, Ohpama.
com was recognised as the “No. 1 Digital Media of the Year -
Parenting” by Marketing Magazine for seven consecutive years
(2018-2024). Additionally, Smart Parents has been honored with
the title of “Best Parenting Magazine” for 12 consecutive years
(2013-2024), demonstrating its leadership in the parenting media
industry.

FA-ONEBIBMRTZEED BEIHIHKEIZ2HEK]F
$2024] - [{BHEBFHRB)EEE AL E2024 )5 - WHERBEH
AERRT[HBEAZRE] - [OnNBH]EE L F (2018-2024) &
<<I\/Iarket|ng I\/Iagazme>>u¥k7%fﬂ—%ﬁ—F%@%ﬁ% g - MCEFED
wAEE T —F (2013-2024) RE[HREEZRMF | RRTH
E%E—Fﬁ%gimﬁﬁﬁ’lbﬁ & {7 o

ofyE WEE

Oh '%«éilﬁ#

(R BER) ¥R E

JobMarket
{JobMarket Kk #%5 )

JobMarket successfully organised “The Employer of Choice Award 2023” and the “Graduate Recruitment Awards
2024” presentation ceremonies. It also participated in the “Global Talent Summit” and the “28™ Autumn Career and
Employment Expo for National College Graduates”. Additionally, JobMarket co-organised the “Global Talent Carnival
2024” (Autumn) recruitment event with Innovating Hong Kong and
once again partnered with the Labour and Welfare Bureau to host the
Mainland Elite Universities “Top Talent Pass” Career Fair.

{JobMarketsK B & 15 ) B Th 28 i [ 2 BB = A 282023 | M [B /L% E
FHEREAH2024 | BRI /,J%/%-1ﬁ/\ﬁmlh gIMIE
BEZEAAXBEXLENFTREEES ] BRAFBTERNBERA
TR FE2024 | (M ZE )?EH%H/E@J Iﬁfﬁi SEBAERERTALS
REEI®F BIRBEBEKE]

Ny w7 e

Sing Tao Overseas
A

During the Year, Sing Tao Daily’s overseas offices
organised a variety of cultural activities, including “The
28" Anniversary Banquet of Sing Tao Chinese Radio”, the
“U.S.-Sino Herbs Cuisine Competition 2024” and “Miss
Sing Tao 2024”. Additionally, Sing Tao Daily’s Canada
office received the special topic in the newly established
category, “Journalism in a Language other than French or English”, at the prestigious National Newspaper Awards,
which has a history of 75 years.

(EERHZBIIMIZRRNFAERTZEAXMEY  BREIEETXEARRBBFHRE] - [2024h X B[R ERE
RHEAXRBETAEZRRES I R[2024ESHRENMERIBRE|F - I (ESEBOMEAREREE L THFES
MEBRFEARTREERARILNGRIERETFERFB AR REE]
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Major Awards of The Year
AR JE R EAEIE

Hong Kong News Awards 2024
2024 éﬁﬁf#ﬂzfﬁ@fﬁ?ﬁ

Best Headline (English)
s HE AR (334

TOTAL BAN ON E-CiGs MAY - NIGHTLIFE SECTOR IN HIGH
JUSTBE A FEW PUFFS AWAY LA SPIRITSASI.IQUORTAXCUT

e : p——
sendivgtievie
Clearer picture emerges today e
g 25 control measures revealed |} 4 st I
E: 5 o )y

elow,as well as iquor with:

IT’S POSITIVE: BIRTH
RATE BOUNCES BACK

Enough tonurse population hopes amid push for new fertilty-assisted rule

ks balance beween publc healh and gov-

il not benefit from the tax reduction

Winner : The Standard 1* Runner-up : The Standard 2" Runner-up : The Standard

B (EXER) DE (REXER) FF (HEXER
Topic & : Total ban on e-cigs may Topic & : Nightlife sector in high spirits Topic £ & : It's positive: birth rate
just be a few puffs away as liquor tax cut bounces back

Best News Writing (Chinese)
s B8 B B S AE (b AL

Best Scoop
ﬁ L] LDWN.AGN‘NF — “““‘"‘ —_— % {% éﬁ % %’f @

BE SEI0THEES

il E%@ﬁﬁ@&%ﬁj

2 )i DAY MAcAZNE s v wmon

I8
H 1 m—
il H 1t
w X
o -
i B
é’t{ BREKERBE ;E {é
€~ s
Winner : Sing Tao Daily ﬁ’r%
SE (2E58H) 2

Topic £ : ERHTERHR -

P Ay Merit : Sing Tao Daily 2" Runner-up : Sing Tao Daily
EE_:<<E%EI$&>> . EE (EEAH)
Topic £/ : [/ ] 0K % Topic =& : [ AREALE ] KIBR
REMME
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Best Photograph (News) M&JOI‘ Awards of The Year

S B I GO 0 L) AR AR IE
| v

ol )
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Best Photograph (Features)
I B R (e R AL

Winner : Sing Tao Daily
BE (ESH®M)
Topic £ : T &M AR

= ! 2" Runner-up : Sing Tao Daily
Merit : Sing Tao Daily FE (EREH
BE (ESH®) Topic £ : 4R
Topic £ : [ X & | HRY

Best Busi N R ti Best Business News
o 1 i v 2 AL 0TS Writing (Chinese) Best Science News
5 e 265 9 T 35 255 99 4 6 0 ( o S 411 Reportilll

S5 i L T

0 67148 DALY MAGAZNE

fmuen,/,,

%ﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ?gﬁﬁaﬁﬁ

e

Wi 2
WX G

‘w;éE

g
s

1" Runner-up : Sing Tao Daily . ‘ .
TE(EEHB) 2" Runner-up : Sing Tao Daily

Topic T8 : RESBE 7 FE(ESAW it Si :
P8 2 Topic T8 : T 2% 85 R (e

ERz[EELk S RmEE Topic $H : EHELHES
B EETT R T
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Major Awards of The Year
AF B R EHAR IR

“Focus At The Frontline 2023” The 24" Consumer R ights
Photo Contest Reporting Awards

CHi R - £ 2023) Frwss L& 55—+ P f 30 2 k3 1 0 38 5

Sports News Photography

(oA i B Bk

Bronze Award :

Sing Tao Daily

R (ESHHR)
Topic £ : [R#EFR

Topical Reporting Award

1** Runner-up : Sing Tao Daily AF B 32 HE 8
DE(EEH®R)

Topic £ : BRI E HE(E==) Top Five Finalists : East Week
AREBEER  BEEESEREAEHRZE BATR : (EET)

Topic E: [TE ARSI RE B B 83 5[ REFR ] R E8EFR)

Video Reporting Award (Short Clip)
i 5 3% (% )

Merit Award : Sing Tao PROBE
BEL: ESHFT

Topic £ : [ EERIIED
EEMEZ]

h 7w/ . ~ y
The 9" Media Convergence Awards

BILNG I WK 5
Newspaper (APP) Newspaper (Overall) Magazine (Social Media)
e (2 50) P (R ) MenE (R BERS)
Gold Award : Sing Tao Daily Bronze Award : Sing Tao Daily Silver Award : East Week
2R (ESH®) AR (ESHM) R 3& : (CRAETD
i [ .
TRAILBLAZERS: MagaZine (Website) MagaZIHe (OVerall)
earhg s | HESE () Bk (L)
i Gold Award : East Week Bronze Award : East Week
£  (EFT) fr g€ CGRATD
Bronze Award : JobMarket English Media (APP)
87 82 : (JobMarket < B & 5 ) oo (AR

Silver Award : The Standard
888 (R
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Marketing-Interactive’s

Media Report 2024

Local Newspaper
No. 1 Local Newspaper of the Year
Headline Daily (ZA {5 H &)

Parenting Magazine
No. 1 Parenting Magazine of the Year
Smart Parents (1 F £ )

Parenting
No. 1 Parenting Digital Media of the Year
Ohpama.com [Oh!& 45 |

No. 3 Parenting Digital Media of the Year
Smart Parents (i FE )

Reader’s Digest Hong Kong
Trusted Br;mdi" 202/?

(i 77 X 15) 7 7 1 Bt M 2024

Free Newspaper

% 2 A

Platinum Award : Headline Daily
A& (GRIEE®)

California Ethnic Media Awards 2024

TS A 25 A5 5

Coming of Age in a Polarized Society
Winner : Sing Tao Daily (San Francisco)
Theme : For One Adoptee, Xi-Biden Meeting at APEC is ‘Personal’

National Newspaper Awards 2023

Special Topic : Journalism in a language
other than French or English

JATIONAL | e Wi 8
L’ m\r\ej Sir:gl'll'zg Daily (Canada)

Theme :

Four-part series

Embracing Canada, on the
challenges faced by the
second wave of immigrants
from Hong Kong

Major Awards of The Year
AF B AR IR

Best Original Content
AR AN

Silver Award : Sing Tao PROBE
RE: EBRFL

Campaign : The most Accessible Appeals and Grievance platform

28" A; 1nual Celebration of the
World’s Best Annual Reports

2024 International ARC
Awards

Gold Winner

Cover Photo/Design : Media
Company/Conglomerate

(Annual Report 2023) £3

LACP 2023 VisionAwards

@ 2023 VISION AWARDS @
o ' " o
Gold Award @

Tele ety

,

Annual Report Competition

Gold Award

for excellence within its industry on the development of the
organization’s annual report for the past fiscal year

2023 VISION AWARDS

2023 VISION AWARDS @
B e

Top 50 Chinese Reports
among all reports reviewed for the past fiscal year

Technical Achievement Award

for overall excellence in the art and method of annual report
communications for the past fiscal year

ASTRID Awards 2024

EXCILLENCE IN DESIGN

BRONZE WINNER

Books - Hardcover
Bronze Award
Sing Tao News Corporation Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The consolidated revenue of Sing Tao News Corporation
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 (the
“Year”) amounted to approximately HK$777.2 million as
compared with approximately HK$819.9 million last year.
Loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$84.3 million as compared with
approximately HK$49.1 million last year.

Given the continued volatility and the unclear trend during the
Year, the Group’s treasury investment has been conducted
cautiously.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) did not
recommend the payment of final dividend for the Year. No
interim dividend was declared for the Year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity, Financial Resources, Gearing Ratio and
Charges on Group’s Assets

The Group maintained a strong financial position with a cash
position throughout the Year. During the Year, the Group
paid approximately HK$13.9 million for purchases of items
of property, plant and equipment. As at 31 December 2024,
the Group had a cash balance (calculated with reference
to the Group’s cash balances and total borrowings, if any)
of approximately HK$520.7 million (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$524.3 million).

The gearing ratio, defined as non-current liabilities (excluding
deferred tax liabilities) to equity, was 0.7% as at 31 December
2024 (31 December 2023: 0.8%). As at 31 December 2024
and 2023, the Group did not pledged any asset.

Capital Structure, Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange
Rates

The Group adopts a prudent approach in managing its
treasury function and uses different hedging methods to
minimise the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations on its
financial performance.
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Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
contingent liability or claim which the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) considered to be material.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies

The Group did not have any significant investments, material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies during the Year.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately
1,202 employees.

The Group remunerates its employees based on individual
and business performance. Competitive salaries and benefits
are paid to attract and retain quality staff. Other employee
benefits include medical insurance, discretionary bonus,
share options and provident fund schemes.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the Hong Kong economy continued to experience
steady growth, with an overall stable upward trend. Driven by
the recovery in external demand, goods exports rebounded,
and the tourism sector revived, which boosted service trade
and stimulated overall investment activities. However, shifts
in consumption patterns led to a slight decline in private
consumption.

16 SING TAO NEWS CORPORATION LIMITED E & EEEAR A 7

HZREE

RZE-_NMF+_A=+—H AEBTETFAK
AAEE([ER])RABEANKREBERRE -

EARE EAUBRHENBARKREE QS

AEBNARFE N REMEARE  BARER
B R R BB -

B’E

RZZE-_MF+-_A=+—8  AEEEEH1,202
ZEBTI-

AEERBEBEZEARERERE K TEE
ARSI Nz HMERA - ARSI RIEBEEET -
HiEERANBREERRR WIFEAL  RRER
NiEERFE -

EHXDE

R-ZZB-_MF EALERFRIEBER BRBEER
BEFIR - XERIBHFREE  SHEO@A -
REXFEER THRGEZER  BRRERE
BMAEMIER - AT HEEABLEHALARE
%A TBE



Management Discussion and Analysis

Throughout the Year, the government has actively introduced
various support measures to further promote local economic
activities and stimulate consumption. The robust recovery
of the tourism industry fueled growth in related sectors,
while major promotional events generated economic benefits
for the market. The capital market remained robust, with
emerging sectors such as green finance and digital finance
continuing to expand, further reinforcing Hong Kong’s
position as an international financial center. At the same
time, the government strengthened support for innovative
industries, including biotechnology and artificial intelligence,
promoting technological development and industrial
upgrading. However, the slowdown in global economic
recovery, geopolitical uncertainties, and shifts in the trade
environment presented challenges to the local economy.
The high-interest rate environment also placed pressure on
market activities. Additionally, the retail sector is undergoing
structural adjustments, and while the property market saw a
brief rebound, the overall economy continues to be impacted
by downside risks. Further optimisation of economic
restructuring is still needed to ensure long-term stability and
growth.

In the advertising market, total advertising spending
experienced a slight decline over the Year. According to
admanGo’s advertising data, Hong Kong’s advertising
expenditure (excluding search engine advertising) in 2024
totalled HK$29.8 billion, reflecting a year-on-year (“YoY”)
decrease of 1.3%. The market performance at the start of
the Year was relatively weak due to a high comparative base
from the first quarter of 2023 following the full resumption
of normal travel between Hong Kong and Mainland China.
However, with the government’s promotion of major events
and the subsequent recovery of the tourism sector, the
advertising market showed signs of recovery by mid-year.
Nevertheless, shifts in consumption patterns and market
uncertainties continued to drive adjustments in advertising
placement strategies, keeping overall market performance
influenced by multiple factors.
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The Group recorded consolidated revenue of approximately
HK$777.2 million in 2024, representing a decrease of
HK$42.7 million compared to approximately HK$819.9
million in 2023. The consolidated loss attributable to owners
of the Company was approximately HK$84.3 million in
2024, compared to approximately HK$49.1 million in 2023,
representing an increased loss of HK$35.2 million. This
included a depreciation charge of approximately HK$60.0
million for property, plant, and equipment (the depreciation
charge in 2023 was approximately HK$60.9 million). The
widening loss was primarily due to the one-time COVID-19
related Employee Retention Tax Credit received by the
Group’s United States subsidiary under the United States
Government in 2023 (2024: Nil) and a certain impact on the
Group’s consolidated revenue resulting from an unfavourable
market environment in 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank balances and
cash (including pledged bank time deposits) was HK$520.7
million (31 December 2023: HK524.3 million) and no debt
was incurred.

New Media Business

According to admanGo’s advertising data, digital media
(mobile advertising, desktop, and social media) accounted for
56.2% of Hong Kong’s overall advertising spending in 2024,
maintaining a dominant position in the market. The Group
places significant emphasis on the development of its new
media business, continually refining strategic deployments
and upgrading its website, mobile applications, and social
media platforms to increase visitor numbers and page views,
while actively exploring new business growth opportunities.
Additionally, we leverage technologies such as artificial
intelligence and big data analytics to enhance media content
creation, delivering more engaging formats and content that
align with reader preferences. We also optimise programmatic
advertising recommendation mechanisms to further enhance
user satisfaction and loyalty. By adopting a comprehensive
cross-platform innovative business model, we integrate the
Group’s media resources to offer more precise and diversified
advertising solutions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group continues to enhance the “Sing Tao Headline”
website and app to provide users with an optimal browsing
experience, achieving remarkable results. During the period,
the total user numbers and page views across the new media
platform saw significant growth. Meanwhile, our “www.stnn.cc”
(EBIRE4), which is directly accessible in Mainland China,
underwent a comprehensive upgrade and revamp, further
strengthening its role as a bridge to expand our presence in
the Greater Bay Area and the mainland markets, facilitating
seamless information exchange between the two regions.
Additionally, the Group has established official “Sing Tao”
accounts on various major media platforms in Mainland China,
creating a diversified media matrix tailored to local audience
needs. As part of these efforts, the education segment of
“www.stnn.cc”, known as “Mainland Education Channel”, has
been actively developing a series of vertical accounts. Anchored
by the Group’s flagship event, the initiative “Hong Kong Higher
Education Expo” aims to deepen its presence in the education
sector and related fields while exploring business development
opportunities.

Since its launch, the Group’s “Sing Tao PROBE” has
gained widespread public recognition and strives to be
the most pragmatic complaint platform in Hong Kong. It
serves as a channel for citizens from both Hong Kong and
Mainland China, as well as enterprises, organisations, and
government departments, to voice their complaints and clarify
misunderstandings. In addition, the Group introduced the
“Praise Quest” initiative to recognise acts of kindness and
spread positivity throughout Hong Kong. A key highlight of
this initiative is “The Most Commendable Student Reward
Program”, which honors students who excel in all-around
development. This program has received strong support from
various government departments and the education sector.
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The Group’s online parenting platform, Ohpama.com, is
dedicated to providing parents with practical knowledge on
education, parenting insights, lifestyle wisdom and family
activities. In addition, it provides customised online and
offline marketing solutions for brands and advertisers. Over
the years, Ohpama.com has maintained its market-leading
position through innovative promotional strategies and
exceptional media penetration. Since 2018, it has been
recognised as the “Best Parenting Digital Media” for seven
consecutive years by Marketing Magazine, while its other
publication, Smart Parents, has been awarded the “Best
Parenting Magazine” for twelve consecutive years since
2018. These accolades further strengthen Ohpama.com’s
leadership in the parenting media sector. As of December
2024, the combined total followers for Ohpama.com,
24parent.com and Smart Parents on Facebook and Instagram
has exceeded 920,000, reaffirming its position as one of the
most popular parenting social media platform in Hong Kong.

Newspapers

The Group continues to maintain its leading position in
the print media market, staying committed to delivering
high-quality content and providing valuable advertising
services to further strengthen the competitiveness of our
core media business. The Group’s newspaper portfolio
includes Sing Tao Daily, the renowned international Chinese
newspaper; Headline Daily, the highest-circulated free
newspaper in Hong Kong; The Standard, a widely distributed
free English newspaper; and the overseas edition of Sing
Tao Daily. To navigate the challenges in the traditional print
media market, a strong brand foundation and an unwavering
commitment to quality content are essential to maintaining
our core competitiveness. We will continue to closely monitor
market trends and make timely adjustments to our coverage
and layout design, aiming to consolidate and expand our
readership while further enhancing Sing Tao’s influence within
the print media market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Sing Tao Daily

Sing Tao Daily is committed to delivering high-quality
content while adhering to the principles of factual reporting
and impartiality. We continue to provide in-depth news and
information that keep our readers informed about global
trends, while also covering content relevant to daily life. This
approach has earned us recognition and appreciation from
our readership. According to admanGo’s advertising data,
total advertising spending on paid newspapers for 2024
decreased by approximately 3.9% YoY, while Sing Tao Daily’s
advertising revenue slightly outperformed the market. As the
travel and related industries recovered, advertising revenues
from sectors such as travel agencies and retail showed
growth. In the property market, the introduction of new
and unsold first-hand private residential units in the second
half of the Year temporarily boosted real estate advertising.
However, developers remained cautious, and their advertising
investment for the Year was conservative.

Additionally, Sing Tao Daily’s supplement, ArtCan, actively
promotes the development of arts and culture in Hong
Kong. It successfully hosted the inaugural “ArtCan Cultural
Forum and Awards Ceremony”, which received a strong
and enthusiastic market response. At the same time, to
support the Hong Kong Government’s policy of becoming an
“International Education Hub” and to build the “Study in Hong
Kong” brand, the Group successfully held the first “Hong
Kong Higher Education Expo” during the Year, promoting
the advantages of Hong Kong’s higher education system
and exploring opportunities for expanding related business
development.

Furthermore, Sing Tao Daily’s educational section has always
been well-received in primary and secondary schools across
Hong Kong. As a leader in education-related content, Sing
Tao Daily has a professional education team and a rich
database, dedicated to producing education-related feature
news and developing the “Sing Tao Learning Platform”
initiative. This comprehensive learning resource platform,
designed for teachers and students, attracted approximately
80,000 registered users from 2022 to 2024. Sing Tao
Education section will continue to lead the development of
the education sector, providing higher-quality support for
students at all stages of their learning journey.
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Headline Daily

With its market share continuously expanding, Headline Daily
continues to hold its position as the No. 1 free newspaper in
Hong Kong in terms of distribution volume and the number
of advertisements. According to admanGo’s advertising
data, the total advertising spending for free newspapers
saw a significant decline of 20.8% YoY in 2024. However,
Headline Daily maintained stable advertising revenue
through innovative business models and diversified business
expansion, particularly in sectors such as travel, dining,
and retail. To celebrate its 20" anniversary, Headline Daily
organised several outreach activities throughout the Year.
In mid-July, all newspaper carriers donned new uniforms,
symbolising a fresh, positive energy for the community. At the
same time, we continue to optimise our operational models,
actively expand business partnerships and develop diverse
and personalised collaboration projects to further enhance
brand value and market influence.

The Standard

According to admanGo’s advertising data, The Standard,
the only free English newspaper in Hong Kong, saw a
decline in overall advertising revenue in 2024. However, it
still significantly outperformed the broader free newspaper
advertising market. The local property market was sluggish
in the first half of the Year, but with the introduction of new
properties in the second half of the Year, advertising demand
rebounded, while the overseas property advertising business
remained stable throughout the Year. Additionally, sectors
such as education, tourism, and exhibitions boosted client
exposure and promotional effectiveness through online live
broadcasts, large-scale events, and competitions. To meet
the needs of its readers, The Standard introduced the new
Racing Guide, currently the only free racing newspaper in
Hong Kong. Its online platform features a dedicated horse
racing section, providing readers with in-depth coverage of
local and international horse racing news. The Standard also
actively collaborates with various professional organisations
and enterprises to produce sponsored articles and special
advertisements, further diversifying its revenue streams
through the development of innovative collaborative projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Overseas Business

In 2024, the global economy remained under pressure,
prompting advertisers to adopt a more cautious approach.
In response to these market changes, Sing Tao Daily has
been continuously adjusting its overseas operations by
implementing strategies such as strict cost control, optimising
production structures, and expanding revenue sources.
These efforts aim to actively adapt to market changes and
maintain Sing Tao Daily’s leading position in the overseas
Chinese media market. Additionally, we continue to enhance
our online platforms to improve user experience by integrating
online and offline program interactions. This approach helps
expand the “Sing Tao” membership user base and advertising
client base, ultimately driving revenue growth.

Magazines

According to admanGo’s advertising data, the advertising
spending in the Hong Kong magazine market saw a
significant decline of 12.1% in 2024. However, the Group’s
flagship magazine, East Week, recorded a 9.2% increase
in advertising revenue, maintaining its leading position in
terms of advertising market share. East Week is widely
recognised for its comprehensive and in-depth information
reporting. To sustain our competitive edge, we will focus on
reader demands, continuously innovate magazine content,
and actively promote digital transformation. The East Week
website underwent a complete upgrade in mid-2023 to
enhance user experience, while also launching diverse
content and programs. Additionally, we established an
official East Week account on major social media platforms
to expand its influence, attract a wider audience, and further
drive revenue growth.
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Recruitment Media

According to admanGo’s advertising data, the Group’s
recruitment publications, including JobMarket, HeadlineJobs,
and The StandardJobs, continue to hold leading positions in
the print recruitment media market. JobMarket, in particular,
boasts the largest railway distribution network in Hong Kong,
covering seven MTR lines and reaching key areas in Hong
Kong, Kowloon, and the New Territories. We continue to
optimise the mobile applications and website functionalities
of our recruitment platforms, expanding our influence through
social media platforms such as Facebook, enhancing
interaction experiences between job seekers and employers.
During the Year, JobMarket organised “The Employer of
Choice Award 20283” presentation ceremony, introducing new
awards related to the Greater Bay Area to further broaden
its market influence. At the same time, we actively diversify
our business by collaborating with the Hong Kong Talent
Engage to promote top talent recruitment policies. We also
partnered with the Labour and Welfare Bureau of Hong
Kong to jointly organise talent recruitment events for the Top
Talent Pass Scheme and launched headhunting services for
talent matching between Hong Kong and Mainland China.
Furthermore, the Group’s EDUplus.hk, the multimedia
platform in Hong Kong dedicated to higher education and
continuing education course information, continues to expand
its presence in the local, Mainland China, and overseas higher
education advertising markets.

PROSPECTS

Entering its 87" year, “Sing Tao” continues to uphold its rich
media heritage and strong sense of responsibility. Amid Hong
Kong’s accelerating economic recovery and the deepening
integration of the Greater Bay Area, we are steadfast in
embracing industry transformations and opportunities.
We remain committed to the principles of objectivity and
impartiality in journalism, continuously upgrading our content
and services to provide high-quality, reliable information to
our readers and users, while actively responding to market
demands and societal developments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

We remain committed to strengthening our leadership in the
traditional media market, enhancing brand value, leveraging
content resources, streamlining cost structure, and boosting
profitability. In response to the surge of digital transformation
within the media industry, we will further strengthen our new
media strategies, increase our investment in technological
and content innovation, and enhance the influence and
market competitiveness of our digital platforms. At the same
time, the application of cutting-edge technologies, such as
artificial intelligence is reshaping the media ecosystem. We
will actively embrace these technological changes, optimising
content production, information dissemination, data analysis
and user interaction to improve our overall business
performance and expand market opportunities.

As a highly influential media brand, “Sing Tao” will continue to
leverage its role as a vital platform for information exchange
between Hong Kong and Mainland China, actively promoting
sustainable development across key sectors such as the
economy, finance, culture, sports, and education. In 2025,
the Group will build on its proven success by hosting a series
of high-impact forums, award ceremonies, and competitions.
These events will span a diverse range of topics, from
industry leadership elections and macroeconomic forums
to Environmental, Social and Government development,
real estate trends, education exhibitions, and creative
competitions. Through these initiatives, we aim to foster
cross-sector collaboration and contribute to the continued
progress and development of society.

Looking ahead, “Sing Tao” will actively capitalise on the new
opportunities stemming from industry changes, continue
to drive digital transformation and technological innovation,
and reinforce regional and international connectivity. With a
forward-looking perspective, we aim to facilitate information
exchange between Hong Kong and global markets, tell good
stories of Hong Kong, amplify China’s voice on the global
stage, and contribute to promoting social progress and global
communication.
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Directors and Senior Management

ERLERTHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwok Ying Shing (60) has been the chairman and
an executive director of the Company since 2021 and has
been redesignated as the co-chairman and remained as an
executive director of the Company with effect from 30 May
2022. Mr. Kwok is currently the chairman and an executive
director of Kaisa Group Holdings Ltd. (“Kaisa Group”) (stock
code: 1638), Kaisa Capital Investment Holdings Limited (stock
code: 936), Kaisa Health Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 876) and Kaisa Prosperity Holdings Limited (stock
code: 2168), all are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Kwok
is one of the founders of Kaisa Group and has been the
chairman of its board and a director since its inception in
1999. Mr. Kwok is primarily responsible for overall strategy,
investment planning and human resource strategy of Kaisa
Group. Mr. Kwok has extensive experience in real estate
development, investment and financing management.

Mr. Kwok is the father of Ms. Kwok Hiu Ting, the
vice-chairman and an executive director of the Company.

Mr. Choi Karson Ka Tsan, B.B.S., J.P. (39) has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company since
2021 and has been redesignated as an executive director
and the co-chairman with effect from 30 May 2022. Mr. Choi
is currently the chairman, chief executive officer and an
executive director of Town Health International Medical Group
Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3886).
Mr. Choi is also the vice-chairman of Early Light Industrial
Company Limited (“Early Light”), the founder and chairman
of Unique Timepieces Watches Group Limited and the
chairman of Fastwheel Motors Group Limited. Early Light is
the world’s largest toys manufacturer. Under the leadership
of Mr. Choi, Early Light has developed diversified businesses,
including the industries of toys manufacturing, shopping
mall development, property rental and management, luxury
watches retail, motors sales and maintenance, bioplastic
production and education.

Mr. Choi is a deputy director of The Population, Resources
and Environment Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference and a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. Mr. Choi also serves as a member of the
Court of the University of Hong Kong, members of various
government advisory committees and leaders of social
groups.

Mr. Choi graduated from University of Southern California,
United States with a Bachelor of Arts Degree in International
Relations. Mr. Choi has been admitted to Honorary University
Fellowship of the University of Hong Kong in October 2023.
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Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Kwok Hiu Ting (31) has been the vice-chairman,
an executive director and the co-chief executive officer
of the Company and a director of various subsidiaries
of the Company since 2021. Ms. Kwok was formerly an
executive director of Kaisa Prosperity Holdings Limited
(listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2168). She was
also the assistant chairman and the general manager of
the Curriculum Development Department of Kaisa Noying
Education (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd..

Ms. Kwok graduated from Durham University in the United
Kingdom with a Bachelor’s Degree in Business and
Management in June 2016 and obtained a Master Degree in
Sustainability Management from Columbia University in the
United States in December 2017.

Ms. Kwok is the daughter of Mr. Kwok Ying Shing, the
co-chairman and an executive director of the Company.

Mr. Cai Jin (38) has been an executive director and the
co-chief executive officer of the Company and a director of
various subsidiaries of the Company since 2021. Mr. Cai
previously took up key roles in several listed companies
in Hong Kong with more than 15 years’ experience in
media and finance. Mr. Cai is an adjunct professor at
the School of Accounting and Finance of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University, an adjunct professor at the School
of Communication of the Hong Kong Baptist University and
the advisor of the International Business School of Zhejiang
University.

Mr. Cai is the vice-chairman of Hong Kong Federation
of Journalists, a committee member of the Media and
Communications Training Board of the Vocational Training
Council, a committee member of the Newspaper Society of
Hong Kong, a committee member of Policy Research Centre
for Innovation and Technology (PReCIT) of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is also a member of the Jiangsu
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference.

Mr. Cai holds a Bachelor’'s Degree with honours in Business
Administration in Accounting and Finance from the University
of Hong Kong, a Master of Arts Degree in International
Journalism Studies from the Hong Kong Baptist University
and a Doctorate Degree in Business Administration from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Cai is also a member
of the Institute of Certified Management Accountants Australia
and a fellow member of the Institute of Public Accountants
Australia.
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Directors and Senior Management

ERLRBRTHE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony, G.B.S., J.P. (70) has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company since
2021. Mr. Wu has directorships in certain companies listed
on the Stock Exchange: he is an independent non-executive
director of China Resources Medical Holdings Company
Limited (stock code: 1515), CStone Pharmaceuticals (stock
code: 2616), Hui Xian Real Estate Investment Trust (stock
code: 87001), Ocumension Therapeutics (stock code: 1477)
and Power Assets Holdings Limited (stock code: 6), and
is also the chairman and non-executive director of Clarity
Medical Group Holding Limited (stock code: 1406) and Venus
Medtech (Hangzhou) Inc. (stock code: 2500). He was also
an independent non-executive director of Agricultural Bank
of China Limited (stock code: 1288), Guangdong Investment
Limited (stock code: 270) and China Taiping Insurance
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 966), the chairman
and executive director of Sincere Watch (Hong Kong) Limited
(stock code: 444). He was also a director of the Fidelity
Funds.

Mr. Wu is the chief advisor to MUFG Bank, Ltd., the Chairman
of the China Oxford Scholarship Fund and an honorary
professor of the Faculty of Medicine of the Chinese University
of Hong Kong and the Peking Union Medical College
Hospital, and an honorary fellow of Hong Kong College of
Community Medicine. Mr. Wu was appointed as the Board
Member of the West Kowloon Cultural District Authority
with effect from November 2024. Mr. Wu was also formerly
a member of the Chief Executive’s Council of Advisers on
Innovation and Strategic Development of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region, the chairman of the Hong
Kong Hospital Authority, the chairman of the Bauhinia
Foundation Research Centre, a member of the Task Force on
Land Supply of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
He was a member of the General Committee of the Hong
Kong General Chamber of Commerce from 2000 to 2017,
served as its chairman from 2010 to 2012, and is currently a
member of its Council.

Mr. Wu is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, and an honorary
chairman of the Institute of Certified Management
Accountants (Australia) Hong Kong Branch.
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Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Han Yonghong (48) has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 2021. Ms. Han
is currently a professor, a Doctor of Law, a tutor to PhD
students, and the deputy dean of the School of Law of the
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies, the PRC. She is
also a visiting scholar at the University of Wisconsin-Madison
in the United States, the University of Toronto in Canada, the
University of Central Lancashire in the United Kingdom, and
Ritsumeikan University in Japan.

Ms. Han graduated from the Southwest University of Political
Science & Law, the PRC with a Bachelor’s Degree, a
Master’s Degree and a Doctoral Degree in Law.

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, J.P. (46) has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company since
2022. Mr. Fan has directorships in certain companies listed
on the Stock Exchange: he is an independent non-executive
director of China Aircraft Leasing Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1848), China Overseas Grand Oceans Group
Limited (stock code: 81), Chuang’s China Investments Limited
(stock code: 298), Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code:
1982) and China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code:
762). In the last three years preceding the date of this report,
Mr. Fan was also an independent non-executive director of
Culturecom Holdings Limited (stock code: 343) and Space
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 2448).

Mr. Fan is a practicing certified public accountant in
Hong Kong with over 18 years of experience. He holds a
Bachelor’'s Degree of Business Administration (Accounting
and Finance) from The University of Hong Kong and a
Bachelor’'s Degree in Laws from the University of London.
Mr. Fan is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also a
committee member of the tenth to twelfth Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of the Zhejiang Province,
the fourth and fifth Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Shenzhen, the tenth to twelfth Vice Chairman
of Zhejiang Province United Young Association and a member
of the fourteenth National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference.
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Directors and Senior Management

ERLRBRTHE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Kwong King Lim (69) is the Chief Executive Officer
of the Group’s China operations (Publications), the Chief
Executive Officer of Sing Tao Daily overseas region, the
Editor-in-Chief of Sing Tao Daily overseas, and a director
of various subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Kwong graduated
from the Department of Chinese Language and Literature of
Jinan University. He joined the Group in 2003. Prior to joining
the Group, he was the vice-chairman of The Newspaper
Society of Hong Kong and held senior positions in various
media companies. He has extensive experience in editorial,
operations and administration.

Mr. Tong Kam Piu lvan (63) is the Editor-in-Chief of Sing
Tao Daily and The Standard newspapers. He has extensive
knowledge and experience in both Chinese and English
media industry in Hong Kong. Upon graduation from the
Hong Kong Baptist University in 1985, Mr. Tong started his
journalism career and worked for several Chinese and English
newspapers. He has worked in senior positions for two listed
companies in Hong Kong with businesses on the mainland.
He was stationed in Beijing and Shanghai from year 2000 to
2002. Mr. Tong joined the Group in 2002 and was appointed
as the Editor-in-Chief of The Standard in 2006. He was
further appointed as the Editor-in-Chief of Sing Tao Daily and
Headline Daily in December 2021, in addition to his position
in The Standard.

Mr. Ng Wai Kwong (58) is the Group News Director of Sing
Tao News Corporation, responsible for editorial management
of the Group and overseeing news resources. He joined the
Group in 2003 as the Deputy Editor-in-Chief of East Week.
Prior to joining the Group, he held senior positions in various
media companies and has extensive experience in editorial,
operations and administration.
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Corporate Governance Report

e S-Sk

The Directors believe that good corporate governance
practices serve as an effective risk management for the
Company and hence, the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) will benefit from the high standard of
corporate governance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and complied with the CG
Code throughout the review period with deviations from
certain code provisions of the CG Code specified and
explained below.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as the code for
dealings in securities of the Company by the Directors. The
Company has made specific enquiries to all Directors who
have confirmed that, during the Year, they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code.

THE BOARD

As at 31 December 2024, the Board consists of seven
directors including four executive directors (the “ED(s)”) and
three independent non-executive directors (the “INED(s)”).
Names and biographical details of the Directors, which
include relationship(s) between the Directors, are set out
under the section headed “Directors and Senior Management”
on pages 26 to 30.

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the
Company. The Board reviews and approves the objectives,
strategies, direction and policies of the Group, the annual
budget and the management structure of the Company. The
Board also reviews the Group’s performance in light of the
Group’s objectives, business plans and budgets.

Liability insurance for the Directors and senior management
officers of the Company was maintained by the Company
with coverage for any legal liabilities which may arise in the
course of performing their duties.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board has delegated the responsibility of the day-to-day
operations of the Group to the management of the Company.

The Co-Chairmen of the Board are Mr. Kwok Ying Shing and
Mr. Choi Karson Ka Tsan, and the Co-Chief Executive Officers
(the “Co-CEO(s)”) of the Group are Ms. Kwok Hiu Ting and
Mr. Cai Jin. The roles of the Co-Chairmen and the Co-CEOs
are separate, and their respective roles and responsibilities
were clearly established and set out in writing. The Co-
Chairmen are primarily responsible for the management
and effective performance of the Board. The Co-CEOs are
primarily responsible for the day-to-day management of the
business of the Group.

Two INEDs and one INED were appointed for a fixed term
ending on 2 June 2025 (Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony and
Ms. Han Yonghong) and 29 May 2026 (Mr. Fan Chun Wah
Andrew) respectively with renewal option subject to retirement
and re-election by rotation under the amended and restated
bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”).

According to the bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, one-third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
and are subject to re-election at the annual general meeting
at least once every three years. Bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-laws
provides that any Directors who are appointed to fill casual
vacancies shall hold office only until the first general meeting
of the Company after their appointment, and are subject to
re-election by shareholders of the Company.
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ATTENDANCE OF BOARD MEETINGS AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

In compliance with the code provision C.1.4, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development
(the “CPD”) to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Company has adopted its own policy on Directors’
CPD. During the Year, the Company encouraged all Directors
to attend or give speeches at training courses, seminars
or conferences which were relevant to their respective
duties and responsibilities at the Company’s expenses, and
provided relevant materials and updates for their viewing.
According to the records provided by the Directors, the
Directors participated in the following CPD programmes
during the Year:

EZEeBHERRREXRE

RETTARXCAA EEFE2EFERR
BR((HEZEER]) ABRIL EHENE MR
B -ARFEHEENHEZERRBITRATH
BER - RAFEAR  ARAEBABEEFHFELE
BB THBENEIIRE AR N
ZEEJRE T EXERHRESN BREA
AR ARARBIRAEFEM T AR E
HEEHMERARMMER - REEFREMEIIF
i RERAFERNRETUATHEFEHE
RIER :

Type of CPD programmes

BESXRREAER
Attending
training Viewing
courses, online video,
seminars or materials or
conferences updates
HE BHAL
EIRE - BE - MEH
Directors =% HHERER BEHER
Executive Directors: HITEF -
Kwok Ying Shing (Co-Chairman) SO (B EEE) 4
Choi Karson Ka Tsan (Co-Chairman) BNE (HEFEE) v
Kwok Hiu Ting (Vice-chairman and Co-CEQ)  ZREEZ (g3 /& # B jE 1T A8 #) v
Cai Jin (Co-CEQO) 2T (HEiTHAAR) 4
Independent Non-Executive Directors: BIIHITESE -
Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony A E fB v
Han Yonghong FEIKAL v v
Fan Chun Wah Andrew Sp B EE Ve

The Board held 3 regular meetings instead of 4 as required
by the code provision C.5.1 for efficiency consideration
during the Year. The regular meetings were held to consider
and approve, among other things, the annual results,
interim results and annual budget of the Group. The Board
was consulted for every crucial decision and the written
resolutions were also circulated to all Directors to obtain the
Board’s consents.
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Attendance record of Directors in 2024 is set out below:

e SRR 8

“ECMFEREENHFRLENT

Corporate
Audit  Remuneration Nomination  Governance
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee AGM
tEER
§3¢  ENZEE  HMZEE  R4ZEE 788 RREEAE
Number of meetings held in 2024 SIMERINEENH 3 3 1 1 1 1
Executive Directors: AfEZ .
Kwok Ying Shing (Co-Chairman) BERBELE) 33 1 il
Chai Karson Ka Tsan (Co-Chairman) EMEBELE) 33 111 111
Kwok Hiu Ting (Vice-chaiman and Co-CEQ) ~ FBES (B2 EZEETRE) 33 10 il il il
Cai Jin (Co-CEQ) 2L (BERER) 33 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors: BUFHAES:
Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony e 33 33 11 " 01 il
Han Yonghong 4 33 33 111 11
Fan Chun Wah Andrew fies 33 33 1 1 1N
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE THMEES

The Board has established a remuneration committee and
its terms of reference are available on both websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Remuneration
Committee comprised three members and a majority of the
members are INEDs. The Committee is chaired by Mr. Wu
Ting Yuk, Anthony, with Ms. Kwok Hiu Ting and Mr. Fan
Chun Wah Andrew as members.

The Committee’s principal roles and functions are:

()  to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and
senior management’s (if any) remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;

(i) to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives; and

(i) to determine, with delegated responsibilities, the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and
senior management.

E=ZSCRUFMEZES  HBEREEINAR
&H‘éﬁ“ﬁﬁ%ﬂiﬁ FMEZEem=RZ8MAK 7(*5
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=
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Summary of the work performed by the Committee during the
Year:

° approved the discretionary bonus for the EDs and
senior management based on their performances.

The Company adopted a remuneration policy to support
the strategies and long-term vision of the Group as well as
provides adequate incentive for Directors and Employees to
pursue long-term growth and success of the Group.

The remuneration of each of the Directors are set out in this
annual report on pages 133 to 135.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established a nomination committee and
its terms of reference are available on both websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Nomination
Committee comprised five members and a majority of the
members are INEDs. The Committee is chaired by Mr. Kwok
Ying Shing, with Ms. Kwok Hiu Ting, Mr. Wu Ting Yuk,
Anthony, Ms. Han Yonghong and Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew
as members.

The Committee’s principal roles and functions are:

(i) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service) of the Board and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy;

(i)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board;

(i)  to assess the independence of INEDs; and

(iv) to review the Nomination Policy (as defined below)
and the Board Diversity Policy (the “BDP”) and make
recommendations on any proposed revisions to the
Board, and monitor its implementation so as to ensure
its effectiveness.
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Summary of the work performed by the Committee during the

Year:

reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board, the Nomination Policy and the BDP;

assessed the independence of the INEDs, including
those served more than 9 years and subject to
re-election at the AGM; and

recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
Directors for Shareholders’ approval at the AGM.

Nomination Policy

The Company’s nomination policy is constituted by the
provisions set out in paragraphs (i) and (ii) of the Committee’s
principal roles and functions above, as the key nomination
criteria and principles of the Company for the nomination
of Directors (the “Nomination Policy”). The nomination
procedures for the appointment and reappointment of
Directors are summarised as below:

(0

For appointment of Directors, the Committee shall
identify and upon receipt an appointment proposal,
evaluate such individual(s), having due regard to
the Nomination Policy and BDP, and assess the
independence of the proposed INED(s) as appropriate,
then make recommendation(s) to the Board. The Board
may confirm the appointment of such individual(s) as
Director(s) or recommend such individual(s) to stand for
election at a general meeting. Individual(s) appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the Board shall be subject to re-election by the
Shareholders at the next general meeting after initial
appointment in accordance with the Bye-laws.

For re-appointment of Directors, the Committee
shall review the overall contribution and service
to the Company of each retiring Director, having
due regard to the Nomination Policy and BDP, and
assess the independence of each retiring INED, then
make recommendation(s) to the Board. The Board
may recommend such retiring Director to stand for
re-election at the AGM in accordance with the Bye-laws.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted its own BDP. The BDP aims to set
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. Selection
of candidates on the Board will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective selection criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity. The Committee will
monitor the implementation of the BDP and review it annually
to ensure its effectiveness.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven
directors. Three of the directors are INEDs, thereby promoting
critical review and control of the management process. The
Company has appointed two female directors achieving a
female representation in the Board.

As at 31 December 2024, the ratio of women to men in the
workforce of Hong Kong (excluding directors of the Company)
was 46:54. For details of gender distribution, please refer to
our Environment, Social and Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Board has established a corporate governance
committee which comprises three members. The Committee
is chaired by Mr. Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony, with Mr. Choi
Karson Ka Tsan and Ms. Kwok Hiu Ting as members.

The Committee’s principal roles and functions are:

()  to develop, review, implement and monitor the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the
Board so as to comply with the legal and regulatory
requirements;

(i)  to review and monitor the training and CPD of Directors;

(i)  to review the contribution required from a Director to
perform his/her responsibilities to the Company;

(iv) to develop, review, implement and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to

Directors and employees; and

(v)  to review the Company’s annual Corporate Governance
Report.
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Summary of the work performed by the Committee during the

Year:

reviewed the annual Corporate Governance Report
contained in the Company’s 2023 annual report;

prepared materials and updates relevant to the
Company’s business for Directors’ viewing in
compliance with the code provision C.1.4 on Directors’
CPD;

noted the revised Corporate Governance Code and
related Listing Rules; and

noted the consultation conclusion on listing regime for
overseas issuers.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established an audit committee and its terms
of reference are available on both websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Audit Committee comprised
three members and all of them are INEDs. The Committee
is chaired by Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony, with Ms. Han
Yonghong and Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew as members.

The Committee’s principal roles and functions are:

(0

(i

(ii)

to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor and
assessing their independence and performance;

to review the Group’s financial information and
compliance; and

to review the Group’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems and their
effectiveness.

Summary of the work performed by the Committee during the

Year:

reviewed the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023;

reviewed the interim report for the six months ended 30
June 2024; and

reviewed the internal audit reports including the review
and evaluation of risk management and internal control
systems.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditor, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, in respect of audit
and non-audit services provided to the Group are set out
below:

BB &

FA - ARRABINEZBEN KB E B S ETAE 5T
BRARAAKEREZEZIFEZ RN
SNz BRARFIMT

Services rendered BEZ R Fee payable
ENEHR

HK$’000

FET

Audit services EiH RS 2,250
Non-audit services* JEEF RS -
Total &5t 2,250

*

Including the fees on preliminary announcement of results of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements for each financial year which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and in
presenting balanced and clear interim and annual financial
statements, other financial statements and announcements of
inside information disclosures. The reporting responsibilities
of the external auditor are set out in this annual report on
pages 54 to 61.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for
evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the
risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives and ensuring that the Group establishes and
maintains appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. The Board through its Audit
Committee oversees the risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis and reviews their effectiveness.
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Management is delegated to design, implement and maintain
risk management and internal control systems appropriately
and effectively; to identify, evaluate, manage and control the
risks that may have potential and material impacts on the
processes of their operation; to monitor and mitigate risks by
executing appropriate controls in their day-to-day operations;
to respond promptly to and follow up the findings of any
significant weakness or failures in the risk management and
internal control systems; and to conduct risk management
and internal control self-assessment on a regular basis to
evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of controls that are
in place.

The Internal Audit Department is independent of the Group’s
operation and reports directly to the Audit Committee twice
each year. It independently reviews on the major operating,
financial and compliance control and risk management
system of the Group on an on-going basis and covered
all major operations of the Group on a rotational basis.
Significant internal control deficiencies will be reported to the
executive management, the Audit Committee and the Board
on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are
taken.

The risk management process is embedded into our daily
operations and is an on-going process carried out by different
levels within the organization. Systematic risk management
procedures have been established and implemented to
ensure that significant risks (including environmental, social
and governance (“ESG”) risks) arising from our business and
the constantly changing business environment are identified,
assessed by considering the potential impacts and likelihoods
of their occurrence, and managed effectively by identifying
suitable controls and countermeasures. The Group adopts
both top-down and bottom-up approaches in relation to risk
management. It combines a top down strategic review with
a complementary bottom up operational risk assessment to
identify, evaluate and manage significant risks.
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The risk management and internal control systems of the
Group are featured with a defined management structure with
clear lines of responsibility and authority, underpinning proper
segregation of duties, complemented by monitoring and
reporting mechanism to ensure proper checks and balances.
Policies and procedures covering key business processes
are established and communicated to staff, and are reviewed
regularly to ensure continued relevance and effectiveness,
and for continuous improvement. The systems are designed
to assist in the achievement of corporate objectives, to
identify and manage potential risks, to facilitate effective and
efficient operations, to ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records for reliability of financial reporting,
compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations, and to
safeguard assets from inappropriate use. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

A review of the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems is conducted at least annually. The review is
conducted through the use of risk management and internal
control self-assessment questionnaires, management of key
business units and corporate functions systemically review
and assess the changes of significant risks and formulate
relevant controls and mitigation measures; evaluate the
effectiveness of key internal controls over their business
operations that are in place; and confirm the effectiveness
of the systems. The assessment covers all the major internal
controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls as well as risk management functions. The review
also considers the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budgets of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting functions, internal
audit as well as ESG functions. The Internal Audit Department
is responsible for the coordination and consolidation work
of the annual review, performs independent examination and
reports the results to the Audit Committee.
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During the Year, the Board, through the Audit Committee with
the assistance of Internal Audit Department has conducted
an annual review of the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems, and considered factors including
but not limited to the changes of significant risks (including
ESG risks), the Group’s ability to cope with its business
transformation and changing external environment; the scope
and quality of management’s review on risk management and
internal control systems; the result of internal annual review
of the effectiveness of risk and internal control systems; any
significant failures or weaknesses identified and their related
implications; and status of compliance with the Listing Rules.
The Board considers the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group are adequate and effective.

Although there were no significant control failings or areas
of concerns identified during the Year, the risk management
and internal control systems will be reviewed regularly for
continuous improvement.

The Company has adopted its policy and procedures for
disclosure of inside information including but not limited to
restricting access to inside information to a limited number
of employees on a need-to-know basis so as to ensure the
disclosure requirement of inside information in compliance
with the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).

The Company adopted a whistleblowing policy which aims to
encourage all stakeholders of the Group to voice concerns
or report any actual or suspected improprieties associated
with the Group through a confidential reporting channel.
The Group will handle such reports with due care and
handle the concerns raised by the whistleblowers fairly and
appropriately.

The Company includes the anti-bribery provisions in the
employee handbook based on Section 9 of the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
provides guideline for practical guidance.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Shum Ka Fai has been the Company Secretary of the
Company since 2021. He is a full-time employee of the
Group, has day-to-day knowledge of the Company and has
complied with the relevant professional training requirement
under rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company sets out the Shareholders’ rights on:

(a)

(b)

44

How Shareholders can convene a special general
meeting (the “SGM”)

Pursuant to the bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws and section
74 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended)
(the “Act”), Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company with voting right
can submit a written requisition to convene a SGM
for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition.

The written requisition must:
(i) state the purposes of such SGM,;

(i) be signed by the requisitionists (which may consist
of several documents in like form each signed by
one or more requisitionists); and

(i) be deposited at the registered office of the
Company at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda for the attention of the
Board or the Company Secretary.

Such SGM shall be held within 2 months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
SGM, the requisitionists, or any of them representing
more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a SGM.

How to put forward proposals at Shareholders’
meetings

Pursuant to sections 79 and 80 of the Act, Shareholders

can submit a written requisition to move a resolution at

a general meeting (the “GM”) if they:

(i) represent not less than one-twentieth of the total
voting rights of all Shareholders having at the date

of the requisition a right to vote at the GM; or

(i) are not less than 100 Shareholders.
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(d)
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The written requisition must:

(1)

state the resolution, accompanied by a statement
of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the
matter referred to in the proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at the GM;

be signed by the requisitionists (which may
be contained in one document or in several
documents in like form);

be deposited at the registered office of the
Company at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda for the attention of
the Company Secretary not less than 6 weeks
before such GM in the case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution and not less
than 1 week before such GM in the case of any
other requisition, however, if after a copy of the
requisition requiring notice of a resolution has been
deposited at the registered office of the Company,
a GM is called for a date 6 weeks or less after the
copy has been deposited, the copy though not
deposited within the time required as referred to in
the above shall be deemed to have been properly
deposited for the purposes thereof; and

be accompanied by a sum of money reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in
giving effect thereto.

How Shareholders can propose a person for
election as a Director

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director
at a GM, please refer to the procedures available on
both websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

How enquiries be put forward to the Board

The Company has already adopted an effective and
efficient way of receiving enquiries from its Shareholders
through the corporate e-mail as well as its principal
office in Hong Kong and therefore, will continue these
channels of communication.
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Shareholders may send their enquiries to the Board
by addressing them to the Company Secretary (whose
contact details are set out below). The Company
Secretary will properly forward the enquiries to the
Board for appropriate action:

The Company Secretary

Sing Tao News Corporation Limited
Sing Tao News Corporation Building,
7 Chun Cheong Street,

Tseung Kwan O Industrial Estate,
Tseung Kwan O, New Territories,
Hong Kong

Email: investor@singtaonewscorp.com

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy on 28
March 2019 (the “Dividend Policy”) which is available on the
website of the Company. The Dividend Policy aims to provide
relatively steady dividend payout ratio and sustainable returns
to Shareholders, linked to the Group’s earnings performance,
financial position, cash flows position, expenditure plans
and investments requirements as well as the business
environment and strategies, and future prospects.

The Board may determine and pay to the Shareholders
interim dividends as it considers appropriate, and
may recommend the payment of final dividends to the
Shareholders for approval at the GM, subject to any
restrictions under the Bye-laws and all applicable laws, rules
and regulations.

Even if the Board decides to recommend and pay dividends,
the form, frequency and amount will depend upon the
operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus,
general financial conditions, contractual restrictions, other
internal or external factors that may have an impact on
the business or financial performance and position of
the Company, and other factors that the Board deems
appropriate.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the Year. The memorandum of association
and the Bye-Laws are available on both websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication
channels between itself and its shareholders, investors
and other stakeholders. These include the annual
general meeting, the annual and interim reports, notices,
announcements and circulars and the Company’s website at
www.singtaonewscorp.com.
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the financial statements.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the Year.

A fair review of the Group’s business as required by Schedule
5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
an indication of likely future development in the Group’s
business, can be found in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” set out on pages 15 to 25 of this annual report.

In respect of the discussion on the Group’s environmental
policies and performance, its compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations and relationships with stakeholders are
set out in “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
which will be separately published on the respective websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company in due course
according to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

The Group is committed to enhancing governance, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the
environment and giving back to society in order to fulfill social
responsibility and achieve sustainable growth. The Group has
complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impact on the operations of the Group.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Principal risk and uncertainties of the Group can be found in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages
15 to 25 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s financial performance for the Year and the
Group’s financial position at that date are set out in this
annual report on pages 62 to 197.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the Year (2023: Nil). No interim dividend was
declared for the Year (2023: Nil).
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results, and of assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out on
page 200 of this annual report. The summary does not form
part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital and
share options during the Year are set out in notes 28 and 29
to the financial statements respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
amended and restated bye-laws of the Company (the
“Bye-laws”) or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available
for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie, calculated
in accordance with the provisions of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981 (as amended), amounted to approximately
HK$1,136,524,000 (2023: approximately HK$1,137,845,000).

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable contributions
totaling HK$50,000 (2023: HK$12,000).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate amount of revenue attributable
to the Group’s five largest customers represented less than
30% of the Group’s total revenue. The aggregate amount of
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
represented less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

During the Year, none of the Directors or their close
associates or the shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive directors:
Mr. Kwok Ying Shing

Mr. Choi Karson Ka Tsan
Ms. Kwok Hiu Ting

Mr. Cai Jin

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony

Ms. Han Yonghong

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew

According to the bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Kwok
Ying Shing, Mr. Choi Karson Ka Tsan and Mr. Fan Chun
Wah Andrew will retire by rotation, and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company (the “2025 AGM”). Details of the
Directors’ standing for re-election will set out in the circular to
the shareholders of the Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony, Ms. Han
Yonghong and Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew, and as at the
date of this report still considers them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 26 to 30 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors
is currently in force and was in force throughout the Year.
The Company has maintained directors and officers liability
insurance cover for the Directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval
at general meetings of the Company every year. Other
emoluments are determined and approved by the Board
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance, and the results of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), were as
follows:

Interests in the Company

Report of the Directors
Ry

ESRESTRAEBNES

RZZF-WE+-_A=+—R EFRARAEES
TRABRARRREBEEZE (EEREBED
FEMEFZ MGG ([F 5 RBEER]) FEXV
BB 2Bty RARRAR O o HEAREE S LB E K
{5 S8 362{5k A8 1 B 78 T 5 17 &) & ac ffft P o 8% sl AR 1%
EEBMARIAERARAES LMARRA (T LETR
Q) M EXCIMB 2K LM BEITAEFTETERR S
MIREST A (TGRESFRD]) BARTTHEARE M
FEBMARZAARAR ([BFT]) BRI T

ERQBHERE

Number of ordinary shares and underlying
shares held, capacity and nature of interest

FEEERREBROHME SORESENE

Percentage of the

Personal Corporate Company’s issued

Name of director Notes interests interests Total voting shares
HERLATEERITHE

EEME i3 B A= DR HnYy REEROZAISL
Mr. Choi Karson Ka Tsan
ZnELE 1 - 125,000,000 125,000,000 14.20%
Ms. Kwok Hiu Ting
ZeEF 2+ 2 - 125,000,000 125,000,000 14.20%
Notes: Kz -

1. The corporate interests of 125,000,000 shares held by Power
Giant Holdings Limited, which was wholly-owned by Mr. Choi
Karson Ka Tsan.

2. The corporate interests of 125,000,000 shares held by Vast
Resources International Limited, which was wholly-owned by
Ms. Kwok Hiu Ting.

Save as disclosed herein, none of the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company had or were deemed to have any
interest and short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed in the share option schemes disclosures
in note 29 to the financial statements, at no time during the
Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2024, those persons, other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company, who had
interested or were deemed to be interested in 5% or more of
the issued voting shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO, were as follows:

Capacity and Number of ordinary

ESRBERONER

5 i B R R 81 10 B 7% S R MY R 29 BB A1
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Percentage of the
Company’s issued

Name Notes nature of interest shares held voting shares
HAEQNTRCRITHE
£ B aF SR REZMEE FIEEEREE RBREEROZEISHL
Power Giant Holdings Limited 7 Beneficial owner 125,000,000 14.20%
BEEKRER AR EmEE A
Vast Resources International Limited 2 Beneficial owner 125,000,000 14.20%
RIREBRER AR EmER A
Stagelight Group Limited Beneficial owner 81,959,500 9.31%
E=HEA
Mr. Lin Ho Man Beneficial owner 47,674,000 5.41%
HERSEE EnlEAA
Notes: B1at -

1. The interests of Mr. Choi Karson Ka Tsan, held through a
controlled corporation, duplicate with those disclosed in the
section “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests” above.

2. The interests of Ms. Kwok Hiu Ting, held through a controlled
corporation, duplicate with those disclosed in the section
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests” above.

Save as disclosed herein, the Company had not been notified

of any other interests or short positions being held by any
person in the shares and underlying shares of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

None of the Directors or his or her connected entity had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party at any time during or at the end of
the Year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least
25% of the Company’s total number of issued shares was
held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited will retire and a resolution for
their reappointment as external auditor of the Company will
be proposed at the 2025 AGM.

OTHER INFORMATION

Change of Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Agent
in Bermuda

As announced on 30 December 2024, the principal share
registrar and transfer agent of the Company in Bermuda
will be changed to Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda)
Limited with effect from 31 December 2024.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Kwok Ying Shing/Choi Karson Ka Tsan
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Sing Tao News Corporation Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Sing Tao News Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 62 to 197, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

REEXER

Valuation of properties

Y ElGE

MEELER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RERTEEHERELREENT E

As at 31 December 2024, land and buildings and
investment properties held by the Group amounted
to approximately HK$989,377,000 in aggregate, of
which HK$855,580,000 related to owner-occupied
buildings measured at fair value, HK$23,000,000
related to prepaid land lease measured at fair value
and HK$110,797,000 related to investment properties.
The valuation process was inherently subjective and
dependent on a number of estimates. The Group
engaged an external valuer to perform the valuation for
the Group’s properties measured at fair value.

RZE_WNF+_A=+—H  E£EFAELHR
BFUARKEMEAF 4 A989,377,000% &+ £
855,580,000 T HIZ AT EFENEREFHEH -
23,000,000 T IZ A FEA ENRN L HMBEERIER
B8 > 110,797,000 LRI BEIR EM R B - HERFAH
EX#lt WBORNZ AL - EXECREFIINEGE
MERATEFEN EEEYMEETHE-

The related disclosures are included in notes 3, 13 and
14 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRARBEHN G M HRARMES - 13%14 -

Our audit procedures included evaluating the
competence, capabilities and objectivity of the external
valuer employed by the Group; evaluating the valuation
methodology and the assumptions adopted by the
external valuer; assessing the reasonableness of source
data used as inputs for the valuation and comparing
such data with market data of comparable properties;
discussing with management and external valuer on
key assumptions and judgements used in the valuation;
performing sensitivity analyses on the key assumptions
and assessing the adequacy of the disclosures on the
valuations of the properties.

BN EZEFeENEh ESEMEBEBMIINEHE

BibBY RS (ERE 77 ~ KERFENM 71 f SMER 14 E R PR 4%
MG E R R B - sHE A EEESE A GBI KIRE

BEM YEBUMENTSHRBELE BEEER
SMER e B B & A EL A N B AV B B2 R AR AN A - A
BRETHRBEIMEFEMELERERS KD °
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BRERSE
Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment

YE - BLs KRG ETE

Independent Auditor’s Report

B 7 A% B Rl e

MEERER(#F)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RERTFTEEFERERSEENT A

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had property,
plant and equipment amounted to approximately
HK$1,053,722,000, comprising right-of-use
assets of HK$39,072,000 and owned assets of
HK$1,014,650,000. In view of the operating loss of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024,
management performed an impairment assessment
on the Group’s property, plant and equipment so as
to determine whether the carrying amounts of these
assets was higher than the recoverable amounts as at
31 December 2024. The impairment test was based on
the recoverable amounts of individual cash-generating
units to which these assets were associated with, and
the recoverable amounts of the relevant cash-generating
units were determined based on value-in-use calculation
using the discounted cash flows method. No impairment
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 by the
Group.

RZZEZME+-A=+—H  E5ENYE BEK
* 8 #) 51,0563,722,0007% 7T+ B 539,072,000/ JT B
FA#&EKR1,014,650,0008 THBEREEE - EN E&

ERBZ T _MNF+_A=+—HLFEHELER

B -EEEYH BESEENYE BELRXBETHEST
H UNEERSEERZZENF+A=1T—HHNE

HEEESRAKEESRE RENADERZEFEER
ﬁ%ﬂﬂﬁi?iﬁh%ﬂ%@@%’ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%?i
BUMAKOSBELERNEREEHENURRAESRE
EEE . EEEREBE_T_MF+_A=+—HIF
A B E NI EERE AR E -

Management’s impairment assessment process involves
significant judgement and estimations in determining key
assumptions used, including, among others, expected
future operating performance of the cash-generating
units, growth rates and discount rates. They are sensitive
to future market conditions and the actual performance
of the cash-generating units.
*ﬁﬁ#ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬂ&ﬁ&ﬂ%%%m%ﬁﬁm

TEAHAE RS HPaERRReEEELREKL
%%ﬁ»%ﬁ%&%ﬁ%vﬁ%*%ﬁﬁ&ﬁ@%iﬁ
i ) B R R R B -

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.
BB EENIFEE P FHREM FEIR13 -

Our audit procedures included, among others, evaluating
the Group’s policies and procedures of impairment
assessment, having discussions with management on
the Group’s business plans, performing a retrospective
review by comparing the forecast operating results
made in the prior year’s impairment assessments
with the current year’s operating results to assess
the historical accuracy of management’s forecasting
process, assessing management’s bases and significant
assumptions adopted in the value-in—use calculation
including, among others, expected future operating
performance of the cash-generating units, growth rates
and discount rates with reference to the latest operating
performance and historical data of the Group. We have
reviewed management’s sensitivity analysis on key
assumptions and discounted cash flows projections for
any significant impact on the recoverable amounts of the
cash-generating units.

BN EZEFERE (AT ) R E5EKOH
MREXEERALBERE  Fh EEENRENG
BEKRF FERMA—FREMGPAENTRALE
FERAFENREREETHBRETOREEZS - AT

ﬁ”ﬁﬁ&ﬁ% ﬁﬁﬁuﬁmﬁﬁﬁ HEREERE
P O BEEBENEBFEETIR HAEEEFEEMA

f@%%ﬁ&%%méﬁﬁm(ﬁ$”%%%ﬁ%?$
BARKLERE BEEIRFEE) - RATHEEE

RRSEABMNNRKESEMBEATE  HERERE
MEPTIRIR &R ETRAETHHEE DT EITALS -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit

Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

3 5 % B e A

BREMRERREMBRRARENER

BHNECRHEBGAVBRRRE T FEHAR
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit and obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the group as a basic for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Ka Kit.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 24 March 2025

Chan Ka Kit
Practising certificate number P08291
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
HaHEAER

2024
—E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
Revenue ' @N 5 777,164 819,863
Cost of sales RN (552,239) (567,384)
Gross profit E | 224,925 252,479
Other income and gains, net Hg A RIS 7 F58 5 27,018 54,128
Distribution expenses bakiz1: 3 (124,356) (128,093)
Administrative expenses TE A (207,224) (211,177)
Other operating income/(expenses), H &L A~ (FAk) 2 %58
net 153 (5,988)
Finance cost EE N 6 (876) (1,244)
Share of profits and losses of: FELE B A B m A f B8 -
Joint ventures BEDE (4,171) (6,156)
Associates & A A (2,010) (810)
Loss before tax BB AT B 18 7 (86,541) (46,861)
Income tax credit/(expense) FisHiEe,/ (FAX) 10 2,290 (2,204)
Loss for the year attributable to KRR ANBLAFEEEA
owners of the Company (84,251) (49,065)
Loss per share attributable to AAREERERZEEA
ordinary equity holders of EEERER
the Company
- (HK cents) — (L) 12
Basic AR (9.57) (5.57)
Diluted e (9.57) (5.57)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

fr e 2 W g R

2024
—E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#ET FHET
Loss for the year KEEER (84,251) (49,065)
Other comprehensive income Hit 2 E W=
Other comprehensive (loss)/ D#HBETREER S EERBRZN
income that may be Hib2mE (EE) WE
reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation  # &g M 3 & KO FE 3, =58
of foreign operations (with nil tax (BERBETE)
effect) (4,260) (904)
Reclassification adjustment for a FARBINEBFHEEZREL 2
foreign operation deregistered BN HEAR(ZEUBTE)
during the year (with nil tax effect) - 2,285
Net other comprehensive (loss)/ LA A Al ge EFT D fE 1B = W
income that may be reclassified Emam(EE) W F5E
to profit or loss in subsequent
periods (4,260) 1,381
Other comprehensive income NEHBTREEF S EEBEN
that will not be reclassified to Hb 2 EURE :
profit or loss in subsequent
periods:
Remeasurement of provision for BT ERERBESEE
long service payments (with nil tax (BEFRBETE)
effect) 81 989 229
Gains on property revaluation b ES=Enyl 13 21,838 24,924
Income tax effect Frisfis & 27 (3,890) (4,387)
18,937 20,766
Other comprehensive income REAFEHMGE2EKE
for the year, net of tax 14,677 22,147
Total comprehensive loss for the ZAATEAARGEEZEEE
year attributable to owners of e
the Company (69,574) (26,918)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

% B W B IR DL e

31 December 31 December

2024
—E-mF

+=A=+—8 =+—~H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE MR 18 1,053,722 1,084,359
Investment properties REHE 14 110,797 111,214
Intangible assets EEE 16 100 100
Investments in joint ventures REBLEZRE 17 10,337 8,473
Investments in associates REEZ RN 2K E 18 9,867 12,202
Equity investments designated at fair {5 E AEAFEFAEMEE
value through other comprehensive Wtz SR E
income 19 47 47
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFABREZ 23
profit or loss BB E 10,234 10,427
Deferred tax assets BEEFIEE E 27 4,571 4,571
Other deposits paid HibE#iEz® 22 3,418 4,653
Total non-current assets EMEEELE 1,203,093 1,236,046
Current assets REBEE
Inventories PNy 20 20,530 23,753
Trade receivables e U BR 3% 21 158,200 190,118
Prepayments, other receivables and TR RRIE - H Ath JE WA K 22
other assets H&EE 30,944 33,839
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFABRES 23
profit or loss B EE 2,540 1,923
Tax recoverable A] Uy [2] 7 18 2,105 1,272
Pledged bank time deposits RITHE I EHFR 24 4,386 1,750
Bank balances and cash IRITERFEANIE & 24 516,306 522,508
Total current assets A EEE 735,011 775,163
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables FES R 25 25,930 29,306
Other payables and accruals H fth fE A~ 3008 K ST RUE 26 128,921 123,429
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 7,392 10,395
Tax payable J& 5 754 38 328 290
Total current liabilities mE B ERAE 162,571 163,420
Net current assets RENEEFE 572,440 611,743
Total assets less current liabilities ERAEBEE2SEHAE 1,775,533 1,847,789
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A IR Ol R

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
B NEF —T-=F
+=A=+-8 | ft-A=+ &
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Total assets less current liabilities ERABABZEELE 1,775,533 1,847,789
Non-current liabilities knBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EIETREAE 27 133,413 133,831
Lease liabilities HEBRE 15 10,826 13,090
Total non-current liabilities FnBEERE 144,239 146,921
Net assets BEFE 1,631,294 1,700,868
Equity % R
Equity attributable to owners of the NRNEVEE AE(LR%
Company
Issued capital BEITRA 28 176,109 176,109
Reserves M 30 1,455,185 1,524,759
Total equity P #E 4 R 1,631,294 1,700,868
Cai Jin Kwok Hiu Ting
g =
Director Director
EE BE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

)»/1%/\%4%@]%

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARREEAEMN
Issued
ordinary Share Share Asset  Exchange
share premium Contributed option revaluation fluctuation Retained
capital account surplus reserve reserve reserve profits
BRT i3] BRE BEEfR EXKE
ZERE HEE HAR&K 1] =11 wiE  REEA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHTT FET FET FET FHET FAET
(Note 28) (Note 30)
(Hii£28) (H1:£30)
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F—Hf—H 176,109 43,522 407,890 8,014 358,916 (32,798) 766,133 1,727,786
Loss for the year AEEER - - - - - - (49,065) (49,065)
Other comprehensive FEEMEZENE
income/(loss) for the (B1) :
year:
Remeasurement of B ERARES
provision for long BB (M)
service payments
(note 31) = = = = = = 229 229
Gains on property MESHkE Nk
revaluation, net of tax TiIA - - - - 20,537 - - 20,537
Exchange differences HBNER BN
related to foreign B ESE
operations - - - - - (904) - (904)
Reclassification FARGIERTH
adjustment for a BREH 2 EH
foreign operation DEHE
deregistered during
the year - - - - - 2,285 - 2,285
Total comprehensive FE2AKE/ (BE)
income/(loss) for the year ~ 42%8 - - - - 20,537 1,381 (48,836) (26,918)
Transfer of share option BRI BB 2 (4 BB A e
reserve upon the R AE At
forfeiture of share
options - - - (2,573) - - 2,673 -
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-_=ZF+-A
=t—-A 176,109 43,5622* 407,890* 5,441 379,453* (31,417)* 719,870 1,700,868

66 SING TAO NEWS CORPORATION LIMITED £ E¥EEEAER AT



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
% 17 HE o 58 B %

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARREEAEMN
Issued
ordinary Share Share Asset  Exchange
share premium Contributed option revaluation fluctuation Retained
capital account surplus reserve reserve reserve profits
BRT [i3/i) BRE BEEff EIRD
ZERA HEE HAR&K i =11 #E  REREAN
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
(Note 28) (Note 30)
(Ktit28) (H#£30)
At 1 January 2024 R-ZE-MFE-—F—H 176,109 43,522 407,890 5,441 379,453 (31,417) 719,870 1,700,868
Loss for the year AEEEBE - - - - - - (84,251) (84,251)
Other comprehensive FEEMZERE/
income/(loss) for the (B18) :
year:
Remeasurement of EFHERBRES
provision for long BB (M)
service payments
(note 31) - - - - - - 989 989
Gains on property MESHE Nk
revaluation, net of tax FiIE - - - - 17,948 - - 17,948
Exchange differences HENEBEAN
related to foreign ERESR
operations - - - - - (4,260) - (4,260)
Total comprehensive FE2zARS/ (B#B)
income/(loss) for the year ~ #2%8 - - - - 17,948 (4,260) (83,262) (69,574)
Transfer of share option 1% U B A% 12 14 8
reserve upon the ERERE
forfeiture of share
options - - - (899) - - 899 -
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-m&E+=A
=+—HA 176,109 43,522* 407,890* 4,542* 397,401* (35,677)* 637,507 1,631,294
. These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves * EEFEEEBRTREMBHRARTNEGEE FEE

of HK$1,455,185,000 (2023: HK$1,524,759,000) in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

JL) e

1,455,185,000/%8 7t (= F = =4 : 1,524,759,000/%
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEBHeREER

2024
g 11 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities REEXBELZEERE
Loss before tax B 3% AT &5 18 (86,541) (46,861)
Adjustments for: EAEH T3 :
Finance cost 7 A Bk AN 876 1,244
Share of results of joint ventures BIE & EDEFE 4,171 6,156
Share of results of associates FEAG B & A R 3 4E 2,010 810
Bank interest income RITA B WA (22,153) (20,153)
Investment income ‘EWA (5) )
Dividend income from listed equity KB EMBRAKE 2K E
investments WA (188) (127)
Net losses/(gains) from fair value REAFEAENEE,
adjustments, on: (W zs) 88 -
Investment properties WA 417 (6,365)
Financial assets at fair value BEAFEFABREZ
through profit or loss WIS EE (486) 472
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEWE  BENMKXEEE
property, plant and equipment pd <t- VAL &) 125 (344)
Gain on disposal of asset classified HESHEABELEZ
as held for sales BE 2 W= - (1,544)
Loss on disposal of an associate HE—EEE AR B8 - 168
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary &R —EHB AT Z
B8 - 968
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - RENEREITE
equipment (other than right-of-use (FREEERN)
assets) 59,979 60,874
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 15,644 18,153
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ FEWBER CRERR)
impairment loss of trade RIEEE
receivables (156) 5,982
Write-off of other receivables H A 8 U5 PR R 8R 3 6
Write-down of inventories to net GFEMEE &8 FE
realisable value - 39
(26,304) 19,476
Decrease in inventories FERD 3,223 13,273
Decrease/(increase) in trade FEUBR SR ~ AT FIE « HMpE
receivables, prepayments, other WREREMEERD
receivables and other assets (3% hn) 31,698 (12,109)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables,  FE{TBRZX » H fth FE B &
other payables and accruals FEEtEIEE I Of ) 3,105 (6,963)
Cash generated from operations REEBMEEES 11,722 138,677
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HAEBHERER

2024
—E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash generated from operations REEBIMELERSE 11,722 18,677
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded ERERBNEN 810 132
Overseas tax refunded/(paid) iR,/ (B8 SIFE 836 (363)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 6 (876) (1,244)
Net cash flows from operating REXBAEEZRERE
activities HEE 12,492 12,202
Cash flows from investing activities BREXKELEZRERE
Interest received 2 U F) 5 25,421 20,153
Investment income wEWA 5 2
Dividend received from listed equity Bl EmEmERE ZRE
investments 188 127
Purchases of items of property, plant BEEB%¥ - HME R&xEEE
and equipment (13,850) (15,189)
Deposits paid for purchases of items of BEEWE - MEMKREER 2
property, plant and equipment S (657) (1,109)
Purchases of financial assets at fair BERAFEFABREZEREZ
value through profit or loss BB EE - (38)
Dividend received from an associate SR N Py ) - 1,650
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEDE - BEMKREEB
property, plant and equipment RGO 5 1,458
Proceeds from disposal of asset HESHABIELEZEEZ
classified as held for sales FT 18 518 - 39,459
Proceeds from disposal of an associate & — B4 A 7 2 15318 - 8,777
Subscription of preference shares ina RES LD ENELR
joint venture 17 (5,690) -
Withdrawal/(placement) of non-pledged 1248 (77 A) I EVS B R 2| 2R
time deposits with original maturity Al =18 A 2 EiK#H F 5
of more than three months when T FEE
acquired, net 320 (277,279)
Placement of pledged bank time TFASRTIRTBEHRER - F58
deposits, net (2,636) (1,750)
Net cash flows generated from/ REEBELE, (EH) 2
(used in) investing activities HEeEREFE 3,106 (223,739)
Cash flows from financing activities FEZEBEL2EHEHRE
Principal portion of lease payments HENRZAS ) 33(b) (14,734) (16,374)
Net cash flows used in financing MEITBFEAZCRESRETE
activities (14,734) (16,374)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HAEBEsRER

2024
—EB-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Net increase/(decrease) in ReRBELSEEFEREM
cash and cash equivalents R A) 28 864 (227,911)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUzHRekBEeFEIER
beginning of the year 230,232 457,457
Effect of foreign exchange rate [RGB FRE
changes, net (6,746) 686
Cash and cash equivalents FRESRESZEER
at end of year 224,350 230,232
Analysis of balances of cash and ReRBESEEEBEEHRIN
cash equivalents
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFHEES 24 131,442 136,542
Time deposits T EA 17 3K 24 384,864 385,966
Bank balances and cash as stated  Bf # iR 5 3R (4 Fr 4l 19 4R 17 45 64
in the statement of financial EERE&
position 24 516,306 522,508
Non-pledged time deposits with original A ESE R E| 81 H 8
maturity of more than three months =88 2\ T H T 24
when acquired (291,956) (292,276)
Cash and cash equivalents HeRERAFMAHNREESR
as stated in the statement of HEEHEER
cash flows 24 224,350 230,232
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CORPORATION INFORMATION

Sing Tao News Corporation Limited (the “Company”) is
a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

During the year, the Group (as defined in note 2.1) was
involved in the following principal activities:

° media
° property holding
° investment holding

In the opinion of the directors, Vast Resources
International Limited (“Vast Resources”) and Power
Giant Holdings Limited (“Power Giant”), which are
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands respectively,
are the Company’s substantial shareholders. Vast
Resources is beneficially owned by Ms. Kwok Hiu Ting,
an executive director of the Company, and Power Giant
is beneficially owned by Mr. Choi Karson Ka Tsan, an
executive director and Co-Chairman of the Company.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment
properties, land and buildings, certain equity
investments and debt securities, and financial
assets at fair value which have been measured at
fair value. These consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

4 B B 5 i e Mk

DAEEH

EEHEEBRERAA ([ARA]) AER
RETFMKZ 2 BRAF o NAQ a2
Z BRI Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda °

AEE(ERXAME2 D FARETZEERER
LI

o R
s MERA

s KREEK

EERANEBRELXBEESEMALZ ZRE
RERAR(TRR]) REEZERAERAE ([B
ENRARBZEZERR - ZIRA AR A H
TEFBBR=LTERER MEEBALR
ARTESRMEIRENERLERER

B BE
21 REZEE

KIEEMBRRIBREBEBTESAMAE®
(IBEEEFMAg) BhzBEEHHR
SEA((FEYBREEL]) (AL
EREREMBHREEN FESE
A(EESFEA]) k) RE - X
NeaBBERAGRAIZHWERTE - MR
RIGDABELRALERE  EREME
THRBTF BT HRSUEREREHKE
SFURBRAFEAEZHMBHBEENZRR
FEFAE ZEFAYBTRENABTE
5 BRARBEAEN  AERKEHEE
AAETRE-

Annual Report 2024 3 Al



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 WA 5 R B wE

2

72

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority
of voting rights results in control. When the
Company has less than a majority of the voting or
similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary,
it derecognises the related assets (including
goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest
and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and
recognises the fair value of any investment
retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in
profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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14

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and

disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards for the first time for
the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and

HKFRS 16 Leaseback
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current (the

“2020 Amendments”)
Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)
Supplier Finance
Arrangements

Amendments to
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Except as described below, the application
of other amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current year and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can
be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability
is itself accounted for as an equity instrument
would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising
from a loan arrangement, only those with which an
entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period.

SING TAO NEWS CORPORATION LIMITED E & EEEAR A 7

2

B RE (&)

22 SHBEMNBEZLE

AEECEAFEMBHRR B RERNA
THET RGBT REYHRELER -

BB wmE E#FHEIRTHE B
-5 9‘1%16'7'}?{%5 &
B &R HEEBESERZTE
%H‘Jﬁ{yu q#FTE ([ =F
ZEFEFT))
B &R B 5 2 3 B I i B
%HJE{M BE(ZE=-=
FXEFT])
B AR REFFHELH
FTRRESD
B 75 3 5 R Al
FTIRAEET

B S A SN RAFEERBEMEE
MBRELENETHARERFRE LB
EFENHBHRREREAR,RER
AEEVBBRRNBBELBEATLE -

—E_TFEIABEBHAEIEAMN
BAIERDNER  BEHEELEERED
ME - AREBEEEVRERS S
%%ﬁ& BENSBEITEERBITRHRE
BEBENAIEMENTZE - BFIREER
BABEAUNEECHERTALEE
ERBERIEREERNERER
SWERERTAZENBLT  AF&
NERAT TG EE R —_ T _TF
BRI A M — 5%%&% KL FEEDNE
BERAH - ERVALEHRSEH K
ZW&#W%?%@%ELMWE%#
ﬁ@%ﬁ°%#am&ﬁ¢%émﬂﬂ
NEFARRZONIERSDEE  F
TEAINEER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2

2.3

Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

The Group has reassessed the terms and
conditions of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023
and 2024 and concluded that the classification of
its liabilities as current or non-current remained
unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these
consolidated financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards, if applicable, when they
become effective.

HKFRS 18

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 21

Annual
Improvements
to HKFRS
Accounting
Standards -
Volume 11

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements®

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to HKFRS
1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS10 and HKAS 7°

Contracts Referencing
Nature—Dependent
Electricity”

2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 WA 5 R B wE

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 EREER#E)
2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong 23 CEMEHMRERZEEUEREEA

Financial Reporting Standards (continued) (%)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 ! RZTE—_RAF—A— B AEBFAEBN
January 2025 FEABRER

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 RZEZARF—A—HIUERARK
January 2026 FEHEER

8 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on 8 RZEZ+tF—HA—HI A ERERN
or after 1 January 2027 FE/RE AR ER

¢ No mandatory effective date yet determined but ¢ I 4 5% Il A 2k B BAB B T AT 3R A

available for adoption

Except as described below, the directors of the 1N 5= = B NI NG/ === = = (=
Company anticipate that the application of other S REIEET B SN RELEROERAE
new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards AEMARETITEHGEAEMBERREL
will have no material impact on the consolidated EATE-

financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements. While a number of
sections have been brought forward from HKAS
1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces
new requirements for presentation within the
statement of profit or loss, including specified
totals and subtotals. Entities are required to
classify all income and expenses within the
statement of profit or loss into one of the five
categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations and
to present two new defined subtotals. It also
requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and
introduces enhanced requirements on the
grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and the
location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements
previously included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS
8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS
8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements.
As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS
18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments
are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows,
HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34
Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there
are minor consequential amendments to other
HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and
the consequential amendments to other HKFRS
Accounting Standards are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
with earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently
analysing the new requirements and assessing
the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and
disclosure of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 WA 5 R B wE

2

78

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards - Volume 11 set out amendments
to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS
9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to
the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:
The amendments have updated certain
wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and
paragraphs I1G1, 1G14 and IG20B of the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for
the purpose of simplification or achieving
consistency with other paragraphs in the
standard and/or with the concepts and
terminology used in other standards. In
addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does
not necessarily illustrate all the requirements
in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor
does it create additional requirements. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The
amendments clarify that when a lessee
has determined that a lease liability has
been extinguished in accordance with
HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply
paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise
any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss.
In addition, the amendments have updated
certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS
9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove
potential confusion. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

o HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements: The amendments clarify that
the relationship described in paragraph B74
of HKFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the
investor and other parties acting as de
facto agents of the investor, which removes
the inconsistency with the requirement
in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

o HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The
amendments replace the term “cost method”
with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7
following the prior deletion of the definition
of “cost method”. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

2.4 Material accounting policies

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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80

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

The Group’s investments in associates and joint
ventures are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the Group’s share of net
assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist. The Group’s share of the
post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of associates and joint ventures is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises
its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the associates or
joint ventures, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition
of associates or joint ventures is included as part
of the Group’s investments in associates or joint
ventures.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair
values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs
are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a
business when the acquired set of activities and
assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability
to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its land and buildings,
investment properties, equity investments and
debt securities at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (continueqd)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value
is measured or disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements are categorised within the fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques

for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, deferred tax assets,
financial assets and investment properties), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
An impairment loss is charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises,
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy
for that revalued asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each
reporting period as to whether there is an
indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill and certain financial assets is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for
that revalued asset.

A 7 B B A B wE

2 gIFBEE)
24 EREEBEEGE)
HUHEEZBE(E)

REBRESHR  BHAGEEBEHRER
ZHERZBEBED T LKA
R - WhIRABBER MG AT
e - 2AERZEE(BERET
MBEERIN BEBRRIXNBUAEE
BEZANOD A G HRZIAE
RO EZBEITSEBEREENS
EFELABHEAREBEMNTAEE
ZIREE (IR ERITE, #H) - B e
ZHBEBEINEELZBHEN AR
mk - BRIFEEDNREMGEEIE A
BROBEER DREZBREGBEEL
BRSTBRARK -

Annual Report 2024 3 85



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 WA 5 R B wE

2

86

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

the party is a person or a close member of
that person’s family and that person

(i)

(i

(ii)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent
of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(i

the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or of a
parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies (continued):

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item
of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

Valuations are performed frequently enough to
ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does
not differ materially from its carrying amount.
Changes in the values of property, plant and
equipment are dealt with as movements in the
asset revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve
is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual
asset basis, the excess of the deficit is charged
to the statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent
revaluation surplus is credited to the statement of
profit or loss to the extent of the deficit previously
charged. An annual transfer from the asset
revaluation reserve to retained profits is made for
the difference between the depreciation based on
the revalued carrying amount of an asset and the
depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. On
disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion
of the asset revaluation reserve realised in respect
of previous valuations is transferred to retained
profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost or valuation of each item of
property, plant and equipment to its residual value
over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Buildings 2% to 5%

Plant and 6% to 50%
machinery

Leasehold Over the shorter of the lease
improvements terms and 20% to 33%

Furniture, fixtures, 10% to 30%
equipment and
others

Motor vehicles 20% to 25%
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful lives, the
cost or valuation of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful
lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or
loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings (including right-of-use assets), held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at
fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
values of investment properties are included in the
statement of profit or loss in the year in which they
arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal
of an investment property are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss in the year of the
retirement or disposal.

If a property occupied by the Group as an
owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property
in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation”
for owned property and/or accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated
under “Right-of-use assets” for property held as
a right-of-use asset up to the date of change in
use, and any difference at that date between the
carrying amount and the fair value of the property
is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance
with the policy stated under “Property, plant and
equipment and depreciation” above.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are
measured on initial recognition at cost. The
cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised
over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life
represents a motor vehicle registration mark,
which is tested for impairment annually individually.
Such intangible asset is not amortised. The
useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite
life is reviewed annually to determine whether
the indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted
for on a prospective basis.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is,
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract
that contains a lease component and non-lease
components, the Group adopts the practical
expedient not to separate non-lease components
and to account for the lease component and the
associated non-lease components as a single
lease component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(@)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost or
valuation, less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received.

Valuations are performed frequently enough
to ensure that the fair value of a revalued
asset does not differ materially from its
carrying amount. Changes in the values
of right-of-use assets are dealt with as
movements in the asset revaluation reserve.
If the total of this reserve is insufficient to
cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis,
the excess of the deficit is charged to the
statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent
revaluation surplus is credited to the
statement of profit or loss to the extent of the
deficit previously charged. An annual transfer
from the asset revaluation to retained profits
is made for the difference between the
depreciation based on the revalued carrying
amount of an asset and the depreciation
based on the asset’s original cost. On
disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant
portion of the asset revaluation reserve
realised in respect of previous valuations is
transferred to retained profits as a movement
in reserves.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(@)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets are as follows:

Leasehold land 23% years
Buildings 1 to 5 years
Furniture, fixtures,

equipment and others 1 to 5 years
Motor vehicles 1 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(0)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the
present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a
rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
()  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term
leases of office premise (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option). When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies
at lease inception (or when there is a lease
modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease term and is included in revenue in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss due
to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised over the lease term on the
same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they
are earned.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee are accounted for as finance
leases.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income, and
fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them.
With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continueaq)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing
financial assets refers to how it manages its
financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash
flows will result from collecting contractual cash
flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised
cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that
is, the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective interest
method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to
classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income when they meet
the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are
never recycled to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other
income in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss when the right of payment has been
established, except when the Group benefits from
such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of
the financial asset, in which case, such gains are
recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continuea)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at fair value with net changes in
fair value recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which
the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify
at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on the equity investments are also
recognised as other income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part
of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e.,
removed from the Group’s consolidated statement
of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from the asset or has
assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from an asset or has entered
into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if,
and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of
the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that
are integral to the contractual terms.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For
those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition
and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has
been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 270 days past
due. The Group has rebutted the 90 days past
due presumption of default based on reasonable
and supportable information, including the Group’s
credit risk control practices and the historical
recovery rate of financial assets over 90 days
past due. However, the Group may also consider
a financial asset to be in default when internal
or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continueq)

A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and
they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables
which apply the simplified approach as detailed

below.

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and

the economic environment.
Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction

costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade

payables and other payables.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

depends on their classification as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss include financial liabilities held for trading
and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for
trading if they are incurred for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near term. This category
includes derivative financial instruments entered
into by the Group that are not designated as
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as
defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised
in the statement of profit or loss does not include
any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss
are designated at the date of initial recognition,
and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied.
Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss, except for the gains
or losses arising from the Group’s own credit
risk which are presented in other comprehensive
income with no subsequent reclassification to
the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value
gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit
or loss does not include any interest charged on
these financial liabilities.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade
payables and other payables)

After initial recognition, trade payables and
other payables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective

interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the

statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or

cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or

loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities

simultaneously.

SING TAO NEWS CORPORATION LIMITED E & EEEAR A 7

2

B RE(E)

24 EREEEEGE)

KEBHEAASEZHEERE (ETERX
K E A fE A 507 )

LTS 18 4 BB R R A A 308
R ik DB 0% R R M
MR FELTEA - RUERT -
RIRA SIS - B ETERR Al
R R BB R IR SR 5 B2
wh -

BHKAFER S EZ BE KRBT R
MEARBRERNEZEEHMONER
HAAN o BERAMEFXEHFABEZRA
BB E R o

THEZRMBERE

HWEETZEEEREITHFEHEIER
MBRENBER -

EREMBRABERR —ERANABRS
Rz GREH‘RZS—HHEENNK X
RAEBBZHERKEER X B%E
71 BIBR SN BRER IR A & M R
BE-MABCEEEIEZH  E8a
RAPER

EHTARHEH

i B A 78 98 I 1T 2 0K 12 4 ) S T AR
SREMEHE  YHEBRFEELELE
SRSERZEENBEZRE MY
BEEMMBABESEMREE £8%
RRRBEFEE -



2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the actual
cost, first-in, first-out basis or weighted average
basis, where appropriate and, in the case of
work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated
statement of financial position comprise cash on
hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three
months that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present
obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as
a result of a past event and it is probable that
a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Provisions (continueq)

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in the

statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group

operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for

financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible

temporary differences; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, and the carry
forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary
differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period
and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax

asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by

the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be

settled or recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and all attaching conditions
will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services is
transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services
to the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion
basis over the lease terms.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Securities transactions are accounted for on a
trade date basis.

Dividend income is recognised when the
shareholders’ right to receive payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment
is received or a payment is due (whichever is
earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers
the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control
of the related goods or services to the customer).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 EFHBEE)
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2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits
Share-based payments

The Company operates share option schemes.
Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair
value at the date at which they are granted. The
fair value is determined by an external valuer
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model,
further details of which are given in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is
recognised in employee benefit expense, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions
are not taken into account when determining the
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood
of the conditions being met is assessed as part
of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions
attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to
an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payments (continuea)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because
non-market performance and/or service conditions
have not been met, no expense is recognised.
When awards include a market or non-vesting
condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified, if the
original terms of the award are met. In addition,
an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based
payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled,
it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This
includes any award where non-vesting conditions
within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award
is substituted for the cancelled award, and is
designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards
are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is
reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of loss per share.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payments
reserve will be transferred to retained profits. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share-based
payments reserve will be transferred to retained
profits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes and other retirement benefits

The Group operates defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes in Hong Kong and
overseas for those employees who are eligible
and have elected to participate in the schemes.
Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the participating employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the schemes. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds. When an
employee leaves the Mandatory Provident Fund
Exempted Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance retirement benefit scheme in Hong
Kong or other retirement benefit schemes
overseas prior to his/her interest in the Group’s
employer contributions vesting fully, the ongoing
contributions payable by the Group may be
reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited
contributions. In respect of the Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”), the Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specific amount for the
employees in Mainland China, pursuant to the local
municipal government regulations. The contributions
are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

The Group’s statutory obligation to pay long service
payment in Hong Kong is a defined benefit plan.
The cost of providing benefits relating to long
service payment is determined using the projected
unit credit actuarial valuation method. The liability
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position in respect of long service payment is the
net obligation, representing the present value of the
future long service payment benefits reduced by
entitlements from accrued benefits arising from MPF
contributions made by the Group.

2

A 7 B B A B wE

BREE(E)
24 EREEBEEGE)
ESHEF (&)

BRI F 5t &) R B AR5 F

AEBEREREREBIAERIE LA
a2 BERITEBHEFEMRBHETE o
RIBZFE2RA - RS2 EG
HEBZEAF S I X —BNLAESH
- KA HANBERAME -
ZEMBIZEERAREZEENF
H—BYEEZESHA - HEERA
PHERASE 2 BT HRATELEE
TEEA S 58 ) 1 A 78 5 B S R KA &) R D)
ZRARAR N FT 8 3 E At 8 SN R AR AR M ET
g AAREERERN 2 HFEIRE
A EBORMZ B - BLRBIERTE SR
BIRENGFE ((RESHEDMS - A
SEZEIURDE2HEBER2ERES
AR ER -

AEBERDEAMEEEE ZHERF
ZEBAS BB MR ZFR
BRAEFE - EHBRARARELT
TMREZRESTERMESFELETE
M - HFRBP RRAKE IR
AERNE B EERIE -

AERBEEREXNERHURBESNEER
ERAERMTE - BRHRBEEH
HER AR MR AT fE AR B EEHE
BEEIEE ESSMBIRART R
EHRBERNBESEEFER A
AREHRBEEBMOREREANEE
Hogta & R E LM BT A mrER -

Annual Report 2024 3 15



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 WA 5 R B wE

2

116

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Pension schemes and other retirement benefits
(continueaq)

Remeasurements arising from the defined benefit
pension plans, comprising

° actuarial gains and losses; and

° investment returns associated with the MPF
employer contributions and other experience
adjustments (excluding amounts included in
net interest on the net defined benefit liability)

are recognised immediately in the consolidated
statement of financial position with a
corresponding debit or credit to retained profits
through other comprehensive income in the period
in which they occur.

Remeasurements arising from the defined benefit
pension plans, comprising

° actuarial gains and losses; and

° investment returns associated with the MPF
employer contributions and other experience
adjustments (excluding amounts included in
net interest on the net defined benefit liability)

are recognised immediately in the consolidated
statement of financial position with a
corresponding debit or credit to retained profits
through other comprehensive income in the period
in which they occur.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Pension schemes and other retirement benefits
(continued)

Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss
at the earlier of:

° the date of the plan amendment or
curtailment; and

° the date that the Group recognises
restructuring-related costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount
rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset.
The Group recognises the following changes in
the net defined benefit obligation under “cost of
sales”, “distribution expenses” and “administrative
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss by function:

° service costs comprising current service
costs, past-service costs, gains and losses
on curtailments and non-routine settlements

° net interest expense or income

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss with the exception of monetary
items that are designated as part of the hedge of
the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation.
These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at
which time the cumulative amount is reclassified
to the statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and
credits attributable to exchange differences on
those monetary items are also recorded in other
comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or
income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to
an advance consideration, the date of initial
transaction is the date on which the Group
initially recognises the non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the
transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their statements of profit or loss are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s consolidated
accounting policies, management has made the
following judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, which have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial, industrial
and residential properties leases on its investment
property portfolio. The Group has determined, based
on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting
a major part of the economic life of the commercial
property and the present value of the minimum lease
payments not amounting to substantially all the fair value
of the commercial property, that it retains substantially
all the significant risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of these properties which are leased out and
accounts for the contracts as operating leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies
as an investment property, and has developed criteria
in making that judgement. Investment property is a
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties
comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property
is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement
is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.

Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the
event previously causing the impairment no longer
exists, the Group has to exercise judgement in the
area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing: (1)
whether an event has occurred that may affect the
asset value or such event affecting the asset value has
not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value of
an asset can be supported by the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset or derecognition; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing
cash flow projections including whether these cash flow
projections are discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by management to
determine the level of impairment, including the discount
rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value
used in the impairment test.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Provision for ECLs on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by product type and
customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. For
instance, if forecast economic conditions (e.g. gross
domestic products or unemployment rate) are expected
to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an
increased number of defaults in the media sector, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of customer’s actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including
the right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting
period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such
an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset
or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs
of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the
fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value-in-use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

Estimation of fair value of properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an
active market of similar leases or transactions. In the
absence of such information, the Group determines
the amount within a range of reasonable fair value
estimates. In making its estimates, the Group considers
information from fair market value by reference to
independent valuations. This conclusion is supported
by an independent professionally qualified valuer
who was engaged by the Group during the year to
perform valuations on the Group’s properties. The
carrying amounts of land and buildings and investment
properties at 31 December 2024 were HK$878,580,000
(2023: HK$893,647,000) (note 13) and HK$110,797,000
(2023: HK$111,214,000) (note 14), respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management estimates is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies. The Group has estimated unused
tax losses of approximately HK$1,256,788,000 (2023:
approximately HK$1,206,979,000) available for offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of HK$221,836,000 (2023:
HK$220,752,000) of the tax losses. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised for the remaining estimated
tax losses of HK$1,008,829,000 (2023: approximately
HK$986,227,000) due to the uncertainty of future profits
streams. Further details are contained in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Claims and disputes

The Group is the subject of various claims and disputes,
mainly involving libel claims in respect of alleged
defamation, which is common in publication industry.
Management assesses the claims and court cases
instituted against the Group on the basis of facts and
seeks legal advice when required. Moreover, the Group
is also involved in disputes as the claiming party. In both
cases, it involves subjective elements and projected
outcomes for estimation of provision for potential
liabilities or any disclosures of contingent liabilities
arising from the litigations. Further details are contained
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

During the year, the Group is principally engaged in the
business of publishing and distribution of newspapers,
magazines and books to readers in Hong Kong,
Canada, the United States of America and Europe, and
sales of respective content of such publications in The
People’s Republic of China (including Hong Kong).

The Group operates as a single operating segment.
The single operating segment is reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-makers. The chief operating
decision-makers, who are responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segment, have been identified as the executive directors
that make strategic decisions.

None of the revenue derived from any single external
customer amounted for more than 10% of the Group’s
revenue during the year (2023: Nil).
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 ey ER ()
(continued)

Geographical information i & & B

(a) Revenue from external customers (a) XKEINIREFZYPA

(b)

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
The People’s Republic of China REARENE(BIEEE)

(including Hong Kong) 615,272 647,169
North America SIS 159,752 169,759
Europe BOM 2,140 2,935
Total revenue LU 777,164 819,863
The revenue information above is based on the P ABE AR TER R A% -
locations of the customers.

Non-current assets (b) HFHEEE

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
The People’s Republic of China REAREME (BEEE)

(including Hong Kong) 937,272 972,012
North America A== 250,714 248,921
Europe BOM 255 68
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 1,188,241 1,221,001
The non-current assets information above is LIRS EEBRE UNEEMREREA
based on the locations of the assets and excludes AN ESMTAENEERBEE -

financial instruments and deferred tax assets.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

WAZDHET

WA~ HABWK A R W5 R

HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FETT
Revenue from contracts with customers B ZEF A& 42 WA 766,146 813,183
Revenue from other sources T EHMERZ WA
Gross rental income from operating KEKERAOHES KA
leases (note 7) @ (FE7) 11,018 6,680
Total EFr 777,164 819,863
Revenue from contracts with customers KEHEEFEHNZWA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) WAZEHEF

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Types of goods or services ERDRELER
Advertising income 3= ON 497,451 543,671
Circulation income BEITUA 132,959 141,597
Content sales and news service WA S E &3 HE RS BA

income 7,771 8,289
Project management income IH B EERBEKA 58,917 48,329
Printing income EM il g A 35,177 34,392
Radio broadcasting advertising EEEEESERA

income 19,321 19,921
Service income PR 75 W A 6,202 9,068
Others H A 8,348 7,916
Total &5t 766,146 813,183
Geographical markets B iH T %

The People’s Republic of China REAREME (BEEHE)

(including Hong Kong) 613,895 646,853
North America Bl 150,111 163,395
Europe BOM 2,140 2,985
Total At 766,146 813,183
Timing of revenue recognition U A #E 2R
At a point in time and total revenue ME—BZNKBEEEFAAZ

from contracts with customers UL 766,146 813,183
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amount of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that was
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the reporting period:

5

WA~ H AR Wz B8 (F)

RKEEFEHNZWA(E)
() BAZEEH (E)

TRERBEBRINFAAAGNBELRA
BEHED R WA

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAETT FET

Circulation income BT 9,715 11,449
Performance obligations (i) BAHEME

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Advertisements on newspapers, magazines and
radio broadcasting

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
issuance of the advertisements on the Group’s
publications and upon broadcasting of
advertisements. Payment is generally due within
one month, extending up to three months for
major customers.

Advertisements on internet and applications (apps)

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
display of the advertisements in the internet and
the target impression rate or click rate set out in
the respective contract is satisfied. Payment is
generally due within one month, extending up to
three months for major customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(ii) Performance obligations (continued)

Circulation of newspapers, magazines and other
publications

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of these publications and payment is
generally due within one month, extending up to
three months for major customers.

Content sales and news services

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
transmission or delivery of contents and payment
is generally due within one month, extending up to
three months for major customers.

Project management services

The performance obligation is satisfied when
the event or activity takes place, and payment is
generally due within one month, extending up to
three months for major customers.

Printing of publications

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
printing and delivery of the publications and
payment is generally due within one month for
major customers.

Other services

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
the transmission or delivery of the final products
and payment is generally due within one month,
extending up to three months for major customers.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all
performance obligations listed above are for
periods of one year or less. As permitted under
HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5
(continued)

WA - B A R W F R (2

HWA RS FEZNAOT

An analysis of other income and gains, net is as follows:

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Other income H g A
Bank interest income AT B WA 22,153 20,158
Investment income ‘EWA 5 2
Dividend income from listed equity 28 B £ MR AR E 2 1K 2 U A
investments 188 127
Government grants (Note) IR 7 #e0 BE (A7 a) - 19,5616
Sales of materials $HE E Ath R 3,689 3,291
Others H Aty 6,731 5,562
Total other income HAb g A 458 32,766 48,651
Gains/(losses), net W (EE) - B8
Net (losses)/gains from fair value ATV EBE (FE) W
adjustments, on: R
Investment properties e/ (417) 6,365
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABREZHE
through profit or loss BE 486 (472)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of items of HEWE - MENEZFEER 2
property, plant and equipment (B8 W= 7 (125) 344
Gain on disposal of asset HESHABIELEZEEY
classified as held for sales g 7 - 1,544
Loss on disposal of an associate & —H% A F 2 &8 7,18 - (168)
Loss on deregistration of B —ERB AR ZEE
a subsidiary 7 - (968)
Foreign exchange differences, net [E ¥ =%8 - %% 7 (5,692) (1,168)
Total (losses)/gains, net 1B (B8 W F58 (5,748) 5,477
Total other income and gains, net Efih 48 Us A K U 25 % 58 27,018 54,128
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5 WA -HtWARKZZEEZE)

(continued)

Note: In 2023, the U.S. subsidiaries of the Group recognised Hfat - RZBE-=F  AX&EBEEF2Q A ERE
approximately HK$19,516,000 in respect of COVID-19 X fF20193 B mEa [ 8 T ER WK £
related Employee Retention Tax Credit provided by the Z 1ERABL - MRS REA)A19,516,000/8 7T °

United States Government.

FINANCE COST 6 BMERAX

HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Interest on lease liabilities (note 15) HEaGNE (KiE15) 876 1,244
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5 WA 5 R B wE

7 LOSS BEFORE TAX 7 BRBAERE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBZERAEEENG, GFA) T3&
(crediting): H -

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHETT
Cost of inventories recognised as = #7245 X 17 & A A
an expense 71,553 92,382
Depreciation of property, plant ME  MEREEITE
and equipment 13 59,979 60,874
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRHEEEZITE 13 15,644 18,153
75,623 79,027
Auditor's remuneration Z AT & 2,250 2,250
Leases payments not included Rt ATHEBEFEN
in the measurement of lease HER
liabilities 365 278
Employee benefit expense EERAFZ
(including directors’ (BRESEMS (HWi28))
remuneration (note 8)):
Wages, salaries, bonus, I& - #Hol - EAR R
allowances and benefits in EYEF
kind 397,622 396,114
Retirement benefit scheme R ORAE F FT & s
contributions** 18,371 17,833
415,993 413,947
Gross rental income He W AR 5 (11,018) (6,680)
Less: Direct outgoings W BEERX 4,205 5,093
Net rental income e WA FRE (6,813) (1,587)
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ JFE U BR X (ﬁzfﬁ%@)/
impairment loss of trade /)WEEE'ST
receivables* 21 (156) 5,982
Write-off of other receivables* L th i W R IB S 3 6
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of &%) l'r‘?i%& YHEIEE 2
property, plant and equipment Eia, (U 5 125 (344)
Gain on disposal of asset HEDHE AR T’Eu“.n BZBEEZ
classified as held for sales Iy g5 5 - (1,544)
Loss on disposal of an associate & —fH & A 7l Z 8 5,18 - 168
Loss on deregistration of a FHEERE—HENB AR 2 EE
subsidiary B - 968
Foreign exchange differences, net [&EH %8 - JH%8 5 5,692 1,168
* These items are included in “Other operating income/ & SEHEBEAGGESZRANHEMAKRLE A
(expenses), net” in the consolidated statement of profit S ( ;ﬂi)z,qa»ﬁﬁj
or loss.
e At 31 December 2024, there were no forfeited e R-E-—_mME+=—A=+—08  TEAHEK
contributions available to the Group to reduce its EBRNMBAKREERKRERTE T 208
contributions to retirement benefit schemes in future KWHFZB(ZE—_=F : &|&) o

years (2023: Nil).
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B 5 A 5 R B wE

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8 EEMe

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant REEEEWNERETBHARSFARA
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on AlEH EMBA (T ETRED - BERQ A
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 1 25383(1)(a) ~ (b) * (C)R(MER A A (FE=
“Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the EXZER) RO F2HBHEENT ¢

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Fees we 600 600
Other emoluments: Hub 4 -
Salaries, allowances and e R EYREA
benefits in kind 6,048 3,601
Discretionary bonuses 1B TE4L 856 1,006
Retirement benefit scheme RARAE ) ET B4 3K
contributions 36 36
Subtotal NEt 6,940 4,643
Total S8 7,540 5,243
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5 WA 5 R B wE

8 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8 EEM< (&)
(a) Executive directors (@) HMITEE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits Discretionary scheme Total
in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
¥4 EHR BHKEF
ENERN MiEEA R Mot
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
2024 —E-ME
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Kwok Ying Shing SPHERL K4 t - - _t
Ms. Kwok Hiu Ting PE=LL 1,586 3 18 1,607
Mr. Choi Karson Ka Tsan BEmELRL 2,400 - - 2,400
Mr. Cai Jin BEEE 2,062 853 18 2,933
Total B 6,048 856 36 6,940
2023 =%
Executive directors: WITESE:
Mr. Kwok Ying Shing BEKELE i - _ ¥
Ms. Kwok Hiu Ting PEFL+ 1,590 3 18 1,611
Mr. Choi Karson Ka Tsan BEEL 4 = = = =
Mr. Cai Jin BTG HE 2,011 1,003 18 3,032
Total A&t 3,601 1,006 36 4,643
# Amount less than $1,000. i SBPR—TFITE-
There was no arrangement under which a director FRBEEENERRIRNETAHNS
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration TEHE(ZE-=F:|\) o

during the year (2023: Nil).
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8 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(b)

Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive
directors during the year were as follows:

A 7 B B A B wE

EEMe (A
b) BYFHTES

FARRBIIFRTEE N 2BEWOT :

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHETT

Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony #AE B A& 200 200
Ms. Han Yong Hong EE oK AT £ 200 200
Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew SBEEESL A 200 200
Total &&F 600 600

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the
year (2023: Nil).

FABERBYIFRTEENEM
e (—F—_=F:8) -
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5 WA 5 R B wE

9 FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year
included three directors (2023: two directors), details of
whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two
(2023: three) highest paid employees who are neither
a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

9 EBE¥FMNANES

R EE BT

FAGKRFNNEUREEE=-NESF(=F
—=F MUES)  HFMFRERN LM
H8c FAHEBMNU(ZT_=F: =) &=
FMES (LHEARBEETHHZSTRAR)

HK$’000 HK$’000

FETT FETT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ &% - 2B R EWEF 3,591 4,769
Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 331 439
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & (k& F| 51 2/ 4 2x 36 54
Total aFr 3,958 5,262

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within
the following bands is as follows:

MEBATHEAZIFEERIZSTHRAER
K= EEABMT

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7% 7T 22,000,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 T £2,500,000/% T 1 1
Total A5t 2 3
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INCOME TAX

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for
one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity
under the two-tiered profits tax rate regime. The first
HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of assessable
profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2023:
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed
at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

10

A 7 B B A B wE

Frg®t

ERENEBEINIRFARBBEE 2 HETER
A LA16.5% (B =4 : 16.5%) K Fi =
BE EAEE MM BARKRI  ZAQF
ARFEAFNEGHBEXRHENETE - —HW
JB A A < FER A 52,000,000 7T (=
T — =4 : 2,000,000/ JT) #%8.25% (= =
—=F :825%) KRR HRERBF
AIEZ16.5% (ZE =4 : 16.5%) 2 F o K
Himih[m 2 ERTm M 2 RIB I AN EE B
EBEEZBARZBITHREGTE -

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Current: BNER -
Charge for the year: FALZH -
The People’s Republic of China R AR A
(including Hong Kong) (BEEH) 7 28
North America b3 424 152
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETR
The People’s Republic of China REARELNBE(BEES)
(including Hong Kong) 107 =
North America b= 313 172
Deferred (note 27) B (FF3E27) (3,141) 1,852
Total tax (credit)/charge for the year FABB (Ke) FBXBE (2,290) 2,204
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5 WA 5 R B wE

10

138

INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax (credit)/expense applicable
to loss before tax at the statutory tax rates for the
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of
its subsidiaries are domiciled and/or operate to the tax
expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation
of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to
the effective tax rates, are as follows:

10

Fri&®i (&)

BARABREKRBHHEARMEREE &
B2 AEMRAE 2B AR A EEZ B
H(ER) FX BEERXAEZHEAM
MZHE ARERRE (BEEREX) ZE
BRB R Z BERAAT ¢

Hong Kong Mainland China North America
BE REIR L%
HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %
FET FEz FET FiEx FEn
2024 —E-NE
Loss before tax RHRAEE (53,418) (4,801) (26,782) (1,540) (86,541)
Tax at the statutory tax rate ~ REEREHE 2
A (8,814) 16.5 (1,200) 25.0 (5,637) 21.0 (293) 190 (15944) 18.4
Adjustments in respect of I ER B BRE
current tax of previous A
periods (16) - (1) - 313 12 - - 296 (0.3
Profits and losses attributable & & (M KB4 A 7l
to joint ventures and iR REE
associates - - 503 (10.4) 1,293 (4.8) - - 1,796 (2.1)
Income not subject to tax BREBHZBA (3,129) 5.9 (36) 0.8 (4,062) 15.2 - - (7,227) 8.3
Expenses not deductible for A HH 2 H X
tax 3,030 (5.6) 387 (8.1) 5,007 (18.8) 293 (19.0 8,717 (10.1)
Tax losses utilised from BRENGSEREL
previous periods RBEE (1,249) 23 - - - - - - (1,249) 14
Tax losses not recognised VERIZHBEER 9,871 (18.5) 353 (7.4) - - - - 10,224 (11.7)
Temporary differences not WERER B
recognised B 873 (1.6) - - - - - - 873 (0.9
Others i (455) 0.9 - - 673 24) - - 218 (0.3)
Tax credit at the Group's BAEEERH=
effective rate HEIRERS 17 (0.1) 6 (0.1) (2,413) 9.0 - - (2,290) 27
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B 5 A 5 R B wE

INCOME TAX (continued)

10 A% (&)

Hong Kong Mainland China North America Australia and Europe
A HE AL % REUA
HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %
FET FET FET FET FET
2023 - Sy -3
Loss before tax BB AEE (87,330) (2,215) (5,998) (1,318) (46,861)
Tax at the statutory tax rate  REEREHE Y
BB (6,159) 16.5 (654) 25.0 (953) 15.9 (361) 214 (8,027) 171

Lower of tax rates for specific  ERIE R ESH

provinces of local authority ~ FIHt ERIBER % = = (72) 33 - - - - (72) 02
Adjustments in respect of NS EBHE

current tax of previous HE

periods - - - - 172 2.9 - - 172 (0.4)
Profits and losses attributable 4 &% B £ 1 )

to joint ventures and EhENRER

associates 270 0.7) 207) 93 1,908 (318) = = 1971 42)
Income not subject to tax A ON (2,952) 7.9 (98) 43 (4,287) 715 - - (7,335) 15.7
Expenses not deductible for ~ Fa/ 1% 2 6%

tax 614 (1.6) 408 (18.4) 5,597 (93.3) 361 (27.4) 6,980 (14.9)
Tax losses utilised from ERNEBEIRE

previous periods BE (6,652) 17.8 1) - - - - - (6,653) 14.2
Tax losses not recognised TERRHBER 13020 (349 550 (24.8) - - - - 13,570 (29.0)
Temporary differences not W ERER Bk

recognised 28 1,886 (5.1) - - - - - - 1,886 (4.0)
Effect of withholding tax o~ 811 W’Wﬁ @ ng

the distributable profit AMBARAT SR

of the Group’s Canada patilliof2=

subsidiaries - - - - 91 (1.5) - - 91 0.2)
Others -2} 148 (0.4 - = (527) 88 = £ 379) 08
Tax charge at the Group's BAEEERH=

effective rate HEZRERE 175 (0.5) 28 (1.3) 2,001 (33.9) - = 2,204 (4.7)

The share of tax credit attributable to joint ventures and
associates amounting to HK$917,000 (2023: expenses
of HK$1,362,000) is included in “Share of profits
and losses of joint ventures and associates” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended
31 December 2024 (20283: Nil), nor has any dividend
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2023:
Nil).

11

EEPEREE QA EETHIEE R R917, OOO
BT (ZE =4 : #%1,362,0008 ) *
ARG ERRANIELEERER ’9‘%%’“7
wm A R EE] A e

B
BE-T-MEI-A=t-ALTELE
RN BRRE (C B =7 ) ARE
AR IR RS (SB=F ) -
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5 WA 5 R B wE

12 LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12 ARREBEREFEARLEBRER
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY
The calculation of the basic loss per share amount BREAEESBENRFEANARRD A LB E
is based on the loss for the year attributable to B AJEEE1E84,251,0008 0 (&2 ==
owners of the Company of HK$84,251,000 (2023: F : 49,065,000 7T) K F A BEITEBERKR
HK$49,065,000) and the weighted average number of 2 hnAE 15 £0880,543,017 (T = =4
ordinary shares of 880,543,017 (2023: 880,543,017) in 880,543,017%) 5 &
issue during the year.
No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per 2T NER_E_=Ft+ A =+—
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 HIEFE - /x*ﬁ_ﬁ‘ytﬁﬁﬂﬂgﬁtz_‘iﬁzﬁﬁ
December 2024 and 2023 in respect of dilution as the HAEBSHANBEEZE AR -

impact of the share options had an anti-dilutive effect
on the basic loss per share amounts presented.

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 V¥ BERSKRE

Right-of-use assets Owned assets

ERERE BRRE

Furniture, Furniture,
fixtures, fixtures,

equipment Motor Land and Plant and Leasehold equipment Motor

Land Buildings and others vehicles Sub-total buildings machinery  improvements and others vehicles Sub-total
B %8 B %8

14 B  RERER AE M t#EER  REREE RENEEE  RERER hE it

HKSOOD  HKSDOO  HKSDOO  HKSDOO  HKSDOO  HKSDOO  HKSDOO  HKSOWO  HKSOMO  HASOMO  HKSOMO  HKSOW
FEL FEL TEL FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL FET FEL FEL

31 December 2024 —E-METCA
=t-A

A31 Decomber 203and W=z

1 January 2024: T2A=+-8k
ZR-RE-A-R:
Cost o valuation RAERREE 23,000 38978 100,555 1,215 163,743 870,647 400,695 46,114 23,224 3400 1,534,080 1,697,823
Acoumulated depreciation and ~ ZiHAERHE
imparment - (25,642) (92,695) (1,144) (110,481) - (259,721) (32,759) (199,396) (2,101) (493,983) (613,464)
Net caying amount REFE 23,000 13,331 7,860 il 44,262 870,647 140,968 13,355 13,828 1,209 1,040,097 1,084,359

At 1 January 2024, net of

accumulated depreciation FZ

and impaiment 23,000 13,331 7,860 il 44,262 870,647 140,968 13,355 13,828 1,299 1,040,097 1,084,359
Addltions KE - 434 9,152 - 9,586 - 7,924 545 7213 - 15,742 25,328
Disposals/wrie-off HE/HH - - - - - - - - (180) - (130) (130)
Depreciation provided during ~ EAITERE (Ki7)

the year 10te 7) 979) (&,115) (10,490) (60) (15,644) (34,028) (16,368) (223%) 6628) ) (59979) (75,629)
Surplus on revaluation Byl 979 - - - 979 20,859 - - - - 20,859 21,838
Exchange realignment ERfE - (111) - - (111) (1,898) - ) (24) 6 (1,939) 2,050)

At 31 December 2024, net of
accumulated depreciation
and impaiment

23,000 9,539 6,522 1 39,072 855,580 132,524 11,651 14,319 5

=]

6 1,014,650 1,063,722

At 31 December 2024; R-E-mE
t2A=t-A:
Cost o valuation RAERREE 23,000 30,258 109,707 1,215 173,180 855,580 382,794 46,640 218,612 3,105 1,506,731 1,679,011
Acoumulated depreciation and ~ Z3HAERHE
imparment - (29,719) (103,185) (1,204) (134,108) - (250,270) (34,969) (204,293) (2,529) (492,081) (626,189)
Net carying amount REFE 23,000 9,539 6,522 1l 39,072 855,580 132,524 11,651 14319 576 1,014,650 1,063,722

140 SING TAO NEWS CORPORATION LIMITED £ E¥EEEAER AT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 5 A 5 R B wE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 V¥ BERRE(E)
(continued)

Owned assets

Furniture, Furniture,

fixtures, fixtures,
equipment Motor Land and Plant and Leasehold equipment Motor
Buildings and others vehicles buldings machinery  Improvements and others vehicles

#7 ) 58 BEREEE  DEREM £
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS /000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TET TET TEL TEL TEL TERL AL TEL TERL

31 December 2023

At 31 December 2022 and

1 January 2023:
Cost or valuation 23,000 38,671 100,555 1,215 163,441 881,338 395,496 43,546 213,198 4782 1,538,360 1,701,801
Aocumulated depreciationand 23T EREE

impaiment - (21,343 (79,884) (893) (102,120) - (242,716) 81,714 (196,355 (3071) 473,856) (675,976)
Net carrying amount EEFE 23,000 17,328 20,671 322 61,321 881,338 162,780 11,832 16,843 1,1 1,084,504 1,125,825
At 1 January 2023, net of

accumulated depreciation 2

and impairment 23,000 17,328 20,671 322 61,321 881,338 152,780 11,832 16,843 1,711 1,064,504 1,125,825
Additions HE - 302 - - 302 - 5463 4212 3813 1,641 15,189 15,491
Disposals/write-off HE/HH - - - - - - (40) m (124) (943) (1,114 (1,114
Depreciafion provided duing ~ FAHERE (Hi7)

the year (note 7) 939) (4,152) (12,811) (251) (18,159) (33,131) (17,235 [2721) 6,678) (1,103 60,874 (79,027)
Surplus on revaluation EfRH 939 - - - 99 23,985 - - - - 23985 2.9
Exchange realgnment Ejge = (147) = . 14) [1545) . (t5) 26) m (15%9) (1,740
At 31 December 2023, net of -E

accumulated depreciation =t-f-

and impaiment AHERRE 23,000 13,331 7,860 n 44262 870,647 140,968 13,35 13,828 1,299 1,040,097 1,084,359
At 31 December 2023:
Cost or valuation 23,000 38973 100,555 1,215 163,743 870,647 400,69 46,114 213,224 3,400 1,534,080 1,697,823
Aocumulated depreciatonand it ERHE

impaiment - (2564) (%269%) (14 (1948 - ) (2759 (19939 PO (93983 (B136)
Net carrying amount FESE 23,000 13,331 7,860 n 4262 870,647 140,968 13,355 13,828 1,299 1,040,097 1,084,359
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13

142

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

In view of the operating losses in certain
cash-generating units, management considered that
indicators of potential impairment of property, plant
and equipment existed. The Group assessed the
recoverable amounts of these cash-generating units
using the value-in-use method based on discounted
cash flow forecasts for each cash-generating unit,
and no impairment loss were recognised for the year
(2023: Nil). The estimates of the recoverable amounts
of the relevant assets of this cash generating unit were
based on their value in use using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a period of the
remaining lease terms or useful live assigned by senior
management. The pre-tax discount rate adopted was
7.0% (2023: 7.0%).

The directors of the Company have determined that the
Group’s land and buildings consist of three classes of
asset, i.e., commercial, industrial and residential, based
on the nature, characteristics and risks of each property.
All of the Group’s land and buildings were revalued
on 31 December 2024 based on valuations performed
by Chung, Chan & Associates, an independent
professionally qualified valuer. Selection criteria of the
external valuer include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. In determining the fair value of the relevant
properties, the Group senior management discuss with
the valuer on the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of the
Group’s land and building is HK$878,580,000 (2023:
HK$893,647,000) (including the leasehold land under
right-of-use assets).

A revaluation surplus of HK$21,838,000
(2023:HK$24,924,000) resulting from the revaluations
on the Group’s land and buildings, net of income tax
effect of HK$3,890,000 (2023: HK$4,387,000 (note
27)), has been credited to other comprehensive income
during the year.

SING TAO NEWS CORPORATION LIMITED E & EEEAR A 7
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M BERRE(E)

AETREELEMHKESELEEE BEE
REME BEMREBEETEBEREDZR -
AEECHKAFERAEELIRESHEESEL
BUFBREBESREBAFENITKRE S 5HEE
AFE TRERTERERREER(ZZ
—=FE)  HEEEZAREEERE
FREAEMT ZAEAENRBERSR
EIRE R BCW 2 T R A0 B o AT {5 AR A HR B
BRENBESAREBA EFMEAOHA
WIRERABT0%(ZZE-=4F :7.0%) °

BESWENEDS BFEERRK AQRE
EERE AEENLTHEEFRE=ZFE
E @ ITEREE-ALEEZAEL
WEEBFERKR_ZT_NFEF+-_A=+—8H
BERBYEXAERGHEMEETETHD
HEMmER - BBIIEGHEMERBIETIS
Mg BE2 BUMMELHEISEEKRE
RETHBODENRATER ~AEESHE
BEERGEMTHATTEFENEE HER
iy B o3y A\ B ©

R-ZEBE-_NE+-_A=+—"8 AEEHL
i &8 F 2 A F{EAE878,580,0008 T (=&
— =4 : 803,647,000/ 7T) (BESEAEFE A
BEEMNHEELH) o

NAEERN HAESETHWREEFZEGBE
4+ 7 B A %21,838,0008 L (— T — =4 :
24,924,000/ 7t ) 6% 3,890,000 7T (= &
= = F : 4,387,000 7T (Ft#¥27)) FRE R 2
FHEEEDTTAEMERRE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 5 A 5 R B wE

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 Y% BERRZE(ZE)

(continued)

The carrying amounts of the relevant land (included in RZZZWME+=—A=+—H " Bl (G
right-of-use assets) and buildings erected on this land ARAEEE) RERZ T EEF (Gt A
(included in owned assets) as at 31 December 2024 FLBEEE)WEREED B A23,000,00058 7T (=
amounted to HK$23,000,000 (2023: HK$23,000,000) T — = £ : 23,000,000/ 7T.) }&618,216,000
and HK$618,216,000 (2023: HK$630,830,000), B (ZZE = =4 : 630,830,000/ L) °
respectively.

Further particulars of the Group’s land and buildings are AEFE T REF 2 E—HHEEHNE198H o

included on page 198.

Fair value hierarchy AFEERFE

The fair value of the Group’s land and buildings at the REBMNTHEEBFAIBEHRRNAFE
end of each reporting period is measured by using DERERTABRGAB(ZERZ)FE
significant unobservable inputs (level 3) and is presented WEFNMAT :

as below:

31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2024
—E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHETT
Recurring fair value measurement for: BFEEANFEE
Commercial properties HMEME 149,871 152,764
Industrial properties* TEmE 704,762 715,234
Residential property TEME 23,947 25,649
Total SEr 878,580 893,647
* The industrial properties include a right-of-use asset of * T XY %8 3EF A # & E23,000,0008 7T (=
HK$23,000,000 (2023: HK$23,000,000). T — = : 23,000,000/ 7T) °
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13
(continued)

M BERRE(E)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) AREEEHRFEE (&)
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil).

RAFEERN MEESEL - RSEH _Z2BE
BEREAZEEELA = AFEFE(ZZ
—=FEE)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

DPERAFESRASE =M FEFEN
R

Commercial Industrial Residential
properties properties property
[EEX/ES TEYE EEMWE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FET
Carrying amount at RZEZ=F—H—H®
1 January 2023 BREE 154,503 722,127 27,708
Depreciation provided FAMERE
during the year (4,269) (28,694) (1,107)
Net gain/(loss) from fair value HEEMEEBERERR
adjustment recognised in other RKERAFE
comprehensive income AR FWE= (E18) 3,342 21,801 (219)
Exchange realignment & A& (812) - (733)
Carrying amount at M-—TE-—=%+—F#
31 December 2023 and =+t—BR-ZT_ME
1 January 2024 —A—BREEE 152,764 715,234 25,649
Depreciation provided during the 4 P47 £ {5
year (4,473) (29,541) (993)
Net gain from fair value fEE b 2 E Y P R A
adjustment recognised in other KEAFEEFHEH
comprehensive income U = 2,544 19,069 225
Exchange realignment M H A (964) - (934)
Carrying amount at RZZEZWF+=A
31 December 2024 =+—HOEKREE 149,871 704,762 23,947

The fair values of the land and buildings were
determined using the comparison approach based
on market comparable of similar properties and with
adjustments made on factors such as location, size,
age, condition and aspects of the properties.

SING TAO NEWS CORPORATION LIMITED £ E¥EEEAER AT
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 ¥¥ BERRKE(E)
(continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AP ESEREEE)
Below is a summary of the key inputs to the valuation of LA HEEFEEMRANEZGA
land and buildings: ENEZ :
Range (weighted average)
HE(MEFLHEH)
Significant
unobservable inputs 2024
ERAFAEEH AE —E-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Commercial properties  Adjusted price per square foot HK$6,613 - HK$7,107 HK$6,959 — HK$7,029
BEME ARG T HRER 6,613 T-7,1078 T 6,959/ 7T-7,0297% 7T
Industrial properties Adjusted price per square foot HK$2,025 - HK$2,251 HK$2,134 — HK$2,156
TEME KABRGFHRER 2,025 t-2,2518 T 2,134 72,1567 7T
Residential property Adjusted price per square foot HK$9,644 - HK$9,800 HK$9,864 — HK$9,963
TEME KABRGFHRER 9,6447% 7T-9,80078 T 9,864% 7T-9,963% 7T
The Group has determined that the highest and best NREBERKRAT Nl BERBELS
use of the commercial and certain industrial properties TIX¥MENSARESZEREABXED
at the measurement date would be to convert those *ELATEAR - EANKEBER ZFEWE
properties for residential purposes. For strategic RYAKAMGER ZERHEBITEYMHE A&
reasons, the properties are not being used in this BEe&XRrE NA=2H EZAREREHR
manner. While for the remaining industrial properties, S ABEERIETXRAS -

the Group has determined that the highest and best use
of them at the measurement date has remained to be
for industrial purpose.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the adjusted price RABRGTHFREBRAB LT (FE) &€&
per square foot would result in a significant increase/ Wt REFHATEAEEFCRE) o

(decrease) in the fair value of the land and buildings.
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14

146

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEAE 111,214 104,849
Net (losses)/gains from fair value AEFEAE (BB,

adjustments U255 58 (417) 6,365

Carrying amount at 31 December RTZA=+—HB/KRHEE 110,797 111,214

The directors of the Company have determined that the
Group’s investment properties are commercial, industrial
and residential properties, based on the nature,
characteristics and risks of each property. The Group’s
investment properties were revalued on 31 December
2024 based on valuations performed by Chung, Chan
& Associates, an independent professionally qualified
valuer. Selection criteria of the external valuer include
market knowledge, reputation, independence and
whether professional standards are maintained. In
determining the fair value of the investment properties,
the Group senior management will discuss with the
valuer on the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.

The investment properties are leased to third parties
under operating leases, further details of which are
included in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties
are included on page 199.

SING TAO NEWS CORPORATION LIMITED E & EEEAR A 7

RESVENEE BHRRER AQAE
FORE AKENREMERBEE IX
REEME AEBEZREVEER-F
“HET A=+ —BERBBIEXLSER
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LRELHBERKE REEREVENR
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A 7 B B A B wE

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14 REWXE (&)
Fair value hierarchy AFEERFE
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at AEBEREMERSHREHARNAFETLE
the end of each reporting period is measured by using RAEARTABEGgAEB(FEH=)E L2
significant unobservable inputs (level 3) and is presented SR -
as follow:

31 December

+=A=+—H
2024
—ECOE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Recurring fair value measurement for: SFEMAFEFE
Commercial properties [EEXZES 47,783 50,331
Industrial property T 56,277 54,405
Residential property EEWE 6,737 6,478
Total aat 110,797 111,214
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RAFERN BMEEER —LEF _z2HE
measurements between Level 1 and 2 and no transfers BRENEAFELEER=2 A TFEFE (=T
into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil). Z=F 4E) o
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14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14 REWXE (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continueqd) AR EEREE (&)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised DERATFEEFRAZTHR =R FTETZEN
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: AR
Commercial Industrial Residential
properties property property
[EEXZES TEMZE Ex==L/F3
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHEIT FHEIT FHETT
Carrying amount at RZEZ=F—H—HH
1 January 2023 BREE 52,897 45,622 6,330
Net (loss)/gain from fair value  #E 1825 A &9 H g A K
adjustment recognised in U 2 % R R R AR A
other income and gains, net KB A F(EFHEHF
in profit or loss (B518) (2,566) 8,783 148
Carrying amount at R-EBE-_=%+_-AH
31 December 2023 and =t+—BARZZT-NF
1 January 2024 —H—BmEREE 50,331 54,405 6,478
Net (loss)/gain from fair value  fE1#E %5 A E’JEMH&)\&
adjustment recognised in W et FRE P HER
other income and gains, net & H ’&$1§.ﬂ§éﬁ’]/¥r
in profit or loss (E518) e (2,548) 1,872 259
Carrying amount at RZE-_WmE+-_A=+—H
31 December 2024 ) BR E & 47,783 56,277 6,737
The fair value of the investment properties was REYEN N FETIFEBLEEE - BFEL
determined using the comparison approach based MSA L BRYEL R Z S EHE - K
on market comparable of similar properties and with B - MARFTRERXELFARMEBT °

adjustments made on factors such as location, size,
age, condition and aspect of the properties.
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14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14 REWME(E)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AEEERFEE (&)
Below is a summary of the key inputs to the valuation of LUTEREVEGECERGAERE :

investment properties:

Range (weighted average)

& B (hn#EFHE)
Significant unobservable inputs 2024
EARTABRGAE —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Commercial properties  Adjusted price per square foot HK$10,010 - HK$10,432 HK$10,443 — HK$10,547
BEXZES BYFREFHRERE 10,0108 7T - 10,4328 5T 10,443/ 7T — 10,5478 T
Industrial property Adjusted price per square foot HK$2,094 - HK$2,380 HK$2,143 — HK$2,165
TEME BYFREFHBERS 2,094 7T - 2,38058 T 2,143/ 7T — 2,165/ 7T
Residential property Adjusted price per square foot HK$5,996 - HK$6,457 HK$6,263 — HK$6,326
FEMmE BYFREFHRERS 5,996 T - 6,4578 T 6,263/ 7T — 6,326/ 7T
The Group has determined that the highest and best AEBELRE Nt ER  FHEEDE
use of the commercial properties and industrial property RIXMENSARESZEREAEXEY
at the measurement date would be to convert those ¥ELATEAR ENRKIER ZSWE
properties for residential purposes. For strategic WA AR ER -
reasons, the properties are not being used in this
manner.
A significant increase/(decrease) in the adjusted price KAESTHARERABER (TR &
per square foot would result in a significant increase/ BIREMENATFEKRE LA (TH) -

(decrease) in the fair value of the investment properties.
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15 LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for properties, motor
vehicles and other equipment used in its operations.
Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the
leased land from the owners with lease periods of 40
years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the
terms of these land leases. Leases of properties and
other equipment generally have lease terms between 2
and 5 years (20283: between 2 and 5 years), while motor
vehicles generally have lease terms between 2 and 4
years (2023: between 2 and 4 years). Other equipment
generally has lease terms of 12 months or less and/
or are individually of low value. Generally, the Group
is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use
assets and the movements during the year are
further set out in note 13 to the consolidated

financial statements.

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 WA 5 R B wE

15 A&
REBEAEREAA

AEBGREEMAMNYWE  TERHEMEE
HEFBHEESY - Al % EERMEA405F
MEELH EBRNEBENR MBEZS
THANKIEEFTHEMN - BE R
MNEH—MBEBEN FoE25F (2T ==
F2E54F) » RBEMHBA—RNT224F (=
T _=F N F2E4F) - MEREMEEN
FAH— M AI2EASAT & HERMmS
BREEBEBE - —MMs  AEEXRHER
SELIINEERDEEEERE -

(a) EHEZE

ARENEREEERTMERFAE
HIBHN G M B RKRMFIS

(b) HEERE

FANHERBERTERLRZSHOT :

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—H—BmMEREE 23,485 39,705
New leases HMAE 9,586 302
Accretion of interest recognised B A T 3R A B 2 3 A0
during the year 876 1,244
Payments NN (15,610) (17,618)
Exchange realignment [E 5 & (119) (148)
Carrying amount at 31 December W+ _-A=+—HHEHEE 18,218 23,485
Analysed into: DA
Current ik 7,392 10,395
Non-current ERE 10,826 13,090

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is
disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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15 LEASES (continueq)

15 #HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (continued) KEBEBERABA(E)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in (c) BHAEREZEBRELHEUT -
relation to leases are as follows:

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6) T E & &EF 2 (Ki:X6) 876 1,244
Depreciation charge of CREEEREER
right-of-use assets (note 13) (MF%E13) 15,644 18,153
Expenses relating to short-term REHEMEARX
leases (included in administrative (3t AfTEBI)
expenses) 154 184
Expenses relating to leases of EEEEEHEMNHEBARY
low-value assets (included in (GtATTERAE)
administrative expenses) 211 94
Total amount recognised in RIERRMERN AR
profit or loss 16,885 19,675
The Group as a lessor AEBEAHEA

The Group leases its investment properties consisting
of two commercial properties, one industrial property
and one residential property under operating lease
arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require
the tenants to pay security deposits and provide
for periodic rent adjustments according to the then
prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised

MR S

by the Group during the year was HK$11,018,000
(2023: HK$6,680,000), details of which are included in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

AEBERBEERANLTHHBHEEEME
BIE2EmEDE 1HIEDERBEEED
¥-AOKR—MECHREINRES
NMREHS A THIZERMAARE - AKH
FAERHES WA A11,018,0008 7T (==
— =4 : 6,680,000 L) ' FEIEE AR A B
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15

16

17
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LEASES (continued) 15 HE (&)

The Group as a lessor (continued) AEBEBERBAAE)

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted minimum lease RZZE_NME+ZA=+—8 AKERRK
payments receivables by the Group in future periods REEBER T B ERO T REEE
under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants MABKHRTREZEBENTAOT :

falling due are as follows:

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHETT
Within one year —F R 11,019 9,180
After one year but within two years —FREMFAN 10,078 8,182
After two years but within three years MERE=ZFNR 10,390 8,338
After three years but within four years =FRENFR 7,215 8,596
After four years but within five years MERERAFERN 20,920 5,374
After five years hFE% - 20,296

59,622 59,966
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16 \|REE
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, intangible asset R-ZE-_NFEFR_T-_=F+=-_A=+—8"
represents a motor vehicle registration mark with an EREERERAEAFH I TBEEDR
indefinite useful life.
INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 17 REEDLEZKRE

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F&T
Share of net assets fE(h & EFE 10,337 8,473
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17 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 17 REELEZRE(F)
(continued)
Particulars of the Group’s principal joint ventures, all RAGIBERE I AEEBFTFBEEESPE
of which are indirectly held by the Company, are as B
follows:

Place of

incorporation/ Nominal value of Percentage of

registration and issued share/ ownership interest Principal
business registered capital attributable to the Group  activity

R ERTROEE AEBELFRE
BERERKE e EMER EEZEI L FEEER
2024 2023
—E-NUE | —E_=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TFET
Sing Tao Daily Canada Total value of Canadian dollar 25 25  Newspaper
Limited nex (“CA$") 10,000 for 3 Class publishing

A1 special shares, 1 Class A2 BERT
special share and 10,000
Class B common shares
(note a)

#2 18 /10,0000 7 ([ 07T 1) 2 3M%
FERIATRERIRR « 1B I RIA2Y B
M %2 10,0004 5B & i i
(Pt 5Fa)

Sing Tao Canada Total value of CA$17,802,680 for 50 50  Newspaper
Newspapers mnex 2 Class A1 special shares, 2 publishing
(Canada 1988) Class A2 special shares and BEEAT
Limited 4,000 Class B common shares

(note b) and CA$1,000,000 for
1,000,000 Class B preference
shares

4818 /517,802,68010 7T 2 2A% 48 5
AR RIRR - 28 B RIA2K Bl R
%4,0008% ¥ 5B (Pt o)
T i/ A% 11,000,0000% A E
1,000,000/0 7T ¥ 5B 5% i

Notes: Hiat -

(@) During the year, the Group entered a Share Exchange (a) AFEER G AEBERF T —EHBEOHBEWE
Agreement to exchange 2,500 Class A common shares 1% 58 RIAE 38 A% 5 4 51 AR 4R RIA24F Bl AR AN
to 1 Class A2 special shares and 2,500 Class B common 250008 B RIBE B ETHMEESLECERN
shares with no change in the voting rights or control over 7 22 ok 4o | A o
the joint venture.

(b) During the year, the Group entered a Share Exchange (b) RNEEBAN  REFZRZ] T —EBERHOHXHBHE
Agreement to exchange 2,000 Series 1 common shares W 8 — 48 T AR E iR A2R% 8 RIIA24F Bl A% AN
to 2 Class A2 special shares and 2,000 Class B common 2,000R$EFIBE®BR - AN EESELEN
shares with no change in the voting rights or control over 5 22 b 4o | A o

the joint venture.
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17

154

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(continued)

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share
of losses of a joint venture, Sing Tao Daily Limited,
because the share of losses of this joint venture
exceeded the Group’s interest in this joint venture and
the Group has no obligation to take up further losses.
The amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share of
losses of this joint venture for the current year and share
of loss cumulatively were HK$353,000 (2023: profit of
HK$610,000) and HK$3,283,000 (2023: HK$2,930,000),
respectively.

During the year, the Group injected CA$1,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$5,690,000)
to subscribe for preference shares in Sing Tao
Newspapers (Canada 1988) Limited. The subscription of
share was made to support its operations and funding
needs, which result in the addition to its investment
cost. However, this preference shares do not provide
additional voting rights or control over the joint venture,
therefore, there is not an increase in the percentage of
ownership interest attributable to the Group.

SING TAO NEWS CORPORATION LIMITED E & EEEAR A 7

17

REELEZRE (EF)

BREML—FEE & 1% (BlSing Tao Daily
Limited) Z BB BEHAEBRZEEREY
KE MASEENERBEREE—F 2B
B BMEAEEERIEREELHZEED
X¥VEB - AEEAERRAFTELAZEED
X2 MRk EBEFELRZEECEBES A
358,000/ 7T (ZE = =4 : }& /610,000 7T)
123,283,000/ 7T (= & = = 4F : 2,930,000/
JL) °

FEARFEER - AL EEE1,000,000007C FBE R
495,690,000/ 7T ) MA R BESing Tao Newspapers
(Canada 1988) Limitedﬁ@@ﬁ‘aﬂﬁ o RIEMRD 0 B
TREBERESTR CEBIRER AWM -
%ﬁﬁ ZERARG T RHEBINEEREIHE

EERE %IH%E B oK 38 0 AN 52 [ FE A EY R
EEmED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(continued)

Sing Tao Newspapers (Canada 1988) Limited is
considered a material joint venture of the Group and is
accounted for using the equity method. The following
table summarised the financial information of Sing Tao
Newspapers (Canada 1988) Limited, adjusted for any

17

B 5 A 5 R B wE

REELEZRE(E)

Sing Tao Newspapers (Canada 1988) Limited
WEAAEBR s —HMEAGELE  WEKA
Mz A AR o T&RFIRSing Tao Newspapers
(Canada 1988) LimitedZ Bf 75 & ¥ (B st & &1
BREZIEHARR AP B RREEESR)

differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to the
carrying amount in the financial statements:

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Bank balances and cash RITEARREMNIR & 3,164 6,555
Other current assets HuRe & E 23,503 21,658
Current assets MBEE 26,667 28,213
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,930 2,353
Trade payables FEATBR 3K 1,936 1,021
Other payables and accruals H b JE 5 08 K FE 5T 5RIE 5,987 12,599
Current liabilities mEAaE 7,923 13,620
Net assets BEFE 20,674 16,946
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in = B AREBER A BN E 7Y
the joint venture: HER -
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEE 2 ERRELG 50% 50%
The Group’s share of net assets and REBEZELEEEFEK
the carrying amount of investment NEERERE ZREE
in the joint venture 10,337 8,473
Revenue A 44,516 50,346
Interest income B U A 122 566
Depreciation and amortisation I E KBSy (486) (838)
Tax credit/(expense) K e, (FxR) 1,848 (17)
Loss and total comprehensive loss AEEBHEMEAEEER
for the year (7,630) (13,513)
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156

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

RBEQATZRE

Share of net assets JEhEEFE

HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET T
9,867 12,202

Particulars of the Group’s associates, all of which are
indirectly held by the Company, are as follows:

Place of

incorporation/ Issued ordinary
registration and share capital/
business registered capital

MY, ERTEERRE
BRREEHR HMEAX

RARREEFB 2 AREBRE AR 2FBOT

Percentage of
ownership interest
attributable to the Group
rEBEGRERE
EEAIL

2024 2023
ZEDNFE —ET_=F

I REEDEHE  People’s Republic  RMB15,400,000
BEERAR" of China/Mainland ~ registered capital

China
mEAREME, AR¥15,400,0007T
w5 A AR

Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise

# In 2023, the Group disposed of 30% interest in Bastille
Post Company Limited (“Bastille Post”) to the holding
company of Bastille Post for net cash proceeds of
approximately HK$8,777,000. Before the disposal, the
Group owned 30% interest in Bastille Post Company
Limited and the investment was previously accounted for
as an investment in an associate using the equity method
of accounting. The Group has not retained any interest.
This transaction has resulted in the Group recognising
a loss of approximately HK$168,000 in “Other income
and gains, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, calculated as follows:

SING TAO NEWS CORPORATION LIMITED £ E¥EEEAER AT

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

30 30  Provision of online
and offline
corporate and
vocational training

and related
services

UL EAIIEAE £
RS
KA R%

: FHORERE

# R-ZT—=F AEBRELTNHRER QA
(TBELH®]) MERARHEERE THHY
0%z * I & TS RIEFREA /8,777,000
B REER AEBHEEITHRAR
ANRAIB0%EL F ZIRE AT UEE ST EA
BRAR—HBERRMNKRE ANEEWEHR
BZRARIAER  ZXFEHAEEAR G
ERBRANNEMBRARKZEZ F5E] i
RE1E49168,000/8 7T st EWMT
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18 REBELARZRE (&)
2023
—E-=F
HK$’000
FET
Net cash proceeds (net of other costs) Re AT RIAFEE (kR H A
AN ) 8,777
Less: Carrying amount of the 30% investment on the date of i : kEEBBAFE HE R -
loss of significant influence of Bastille Post Company ETHmRERAFB30%
Limited REMKREE (8,945)
Loss recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss ~ fE4F&EHEX P HEANERE
(note 5, 7) (FtzE5, 7) (168)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TRINTAEBERMES TEANAIHE QA

information of the Group’s associates that are not VBT E R -
individually material:

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F&T
Share of the associates’ loss and total S {hH L A T AFEEEE &
comprehensive expense for the year 2HEMAX %5 (2,010) (810)
Carrying amount of the Group’s REBPNEE R FIH
investments in the associates KERmE 9,867 12,202
Dividend paid BRI E - (1,650)
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19

20

158

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR 19 EEARATFEFAHEMZE KR 2
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE mERE
INCOME

HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET T
Listed equity investments, at fair value iz MR E @ HAF(E 47 47
The above equity investments were irrevocably R AEBREZEREBREMYE - it
designated at fair value through other comprehensive MR ET AR E e T AT A EEET
income as the Group considers these investments to be AEMmEEWES -

strategic in nature.

20 ®EE

INVENTORIES

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FETT FET

Raw materials R # 19,357 22,763
Finished goods R o 1,173 990
Total = 20,530 23,753
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TRADE RECEIVABLES

B 5 A 5 R B wE

FE&E WL B 3%

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Trade receivables JE W AR 3R 173,242 206,737
Impairment B (15,042) (16,619)
Net carrying amount REAE 158,200 190,118

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment
in advance is normally required. The credit period is
generally for a period of one month, extending up to
three months for major customers. Each customer has
a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and has
a credit control department to minimise credit risk.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the
fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large
number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over
its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on payment due date
and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

BTHEP —REAERMMNZIN  NREBEE
BEPZEZTERBMEEREAELET FEH
—RRE—EA EEXPALERE=(EA -
EEFHRERREER AKEHEHEK
BERBBEREFREES YREEEE
EHMAAEEREEERR SREEEL
ERABAMAN 2GR TR LESEAR
AEBZEUERTEXESTILEFPER
BYEEERBRERZBER NEBLEH
HEWRRESRFAEMRMDREMER
BRI - BRUBERBRE °

RBEHR  BURERFRERBINHA RN
BRERBREBRZREINAOT

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Current to 30 days BIHAZ=30K 114,014 119,843
31 to 60 days 31E60X 18,762 26,018
61 to 90 days 61290K 10,874 18,838
91 to 120 days 91E 120K 5,611 12,615
Over 120 days @120k 9,039 12,804
Total A&t 158,200 190,118
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:

FE W B (42)
MR FURERBEREHEOESHMT

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

At beginning of year RE 1) 16,619 11,372
(Reversal of impairment losses)/ CRIE#E)

impairment losses (note 7) BB EE (M ET7) (156) 5,982

Amounts written off as uncollectible S BE Yz [ 1 # SE ) 2 58 (1,421) (738)

Exchange realignment BE 5 A - 3

At end of year A 4F 48 15,042 16,619

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected
credit losses. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical
region, product type, and customer type and rating).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally,
trade receivables are written off if past due for more
than one year and are not subject to enforcement
activity.

SING TAO NEWS CORPORATION LIMITED £ E¥EEEAER AT

REHRE B RBEAEBEEETRES T -
U ERHERBXR - BEXDENRAAE
BRUBKBEANZ TP 2 #8ETTH 4 (B
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 21 FEWERR (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk BRAAEERBEEEETENEKRERY
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a EERBREMEIN AT

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024 R=-B-NFE+=HA=+—H
Past due
ki
Current to 31to 61 to 91 to Over
30 days 60 days 90 days 120 days 120 days
BH 230Xk 31260% 61£90% 91£120% BiBE120%
Expected credit loss rate BBEIE A% 0.07% 0.83% 2.45% 7.62% 60.88% 8.68%
Gross carrying amount AR E 418
(HK$'000) (F&T) 114,009 18,920 11,148 5,966 23,109 173,242
Expected credit loss L HEIEE DS
(HK$'000) (F&T) 85 158 274 455 14,070 15,042
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZEBE-_=F+-_A=+—H
Past due
Current to 31to 61to 91 to Qver
30 days 60 days 90 days 120 days 120 days
AEZ30K 31ZE60K JES N 9M1E120K HBiB120K
Expected credit loss rate B EH{EREAX 0.13% 0.27% 1.70% 2.01% 55.25% 8.04%
Gross carrying amount R E£1E
(HK$'000) (Fi&7) 119,996 26,088 19,164 12,874 28,615 206,737
Expected credit loss BHEREX
(HK$'000) (F#7) 153 70 326 259 15,811 16,619
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PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS

ANRE HUBEBURERAEMEE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FETT FETT

Prepayments T8~ Fh 18 12,827 11,679
Deposits Ra 9,687 12,932
Interest receivables JE WL F B 2,763 6,031
Other receivables and other assets Hith U B R H & E 9,085 7,850
34,362 38,492

Portion classified as non-current assets D3 AIEREEEZ D (3,418) (4,6593)
Current portion B EB A 30,944 33,839

Deposits mainly represent rental deposits, utility
deposits and other deposits. Where applicable, an
impairment analysis is performed at the end of each
reporting date by considering the probability of default
of comparable companies with published credit ratings.
In the situation where no comparable companies with
credit ratings can be identified, ECLs are estimated
by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the
historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is
adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions, as appropriate. As at
31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group assessed the
loss allowance under the application of HKFRS 9 was
insignificant.

The financial assets included in the above balances
relate to receivables for which there was no recent
history of default and past due amounts. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, the loss allowance was
assessed to be minimal.

SING TAO NEWS CORPORATION LIMITED £ E¥EEEAER AT

eI BEHERS KEBREREMR
T REBERAMEETIRZAELBAT
BRIZAIREMN  BREIMRERERAET
(HEA) WA BEBEBEEFRIAELEK
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23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23 BRAVESFAEBRERUBEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FE T
Listed equity securities, FHRAEBS  BEAFER
at fair value and included in FSTARBAEE
current assets 2,540 1,923
Other unlisted investments, HaIE EmEE  BEAFER
at fair value and included in A EREBEE
non-current assets 10,234 10,427
Total financial assets at fair value BAFEFABREEREZ
through profit or loss MBEEREA 12,774 12,350
The above listed investments were classified as financial it FERESEABEEEE AR AFEE
assets at fair value through profit or loss as they were AR CHMBEEE -
held for trading.
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not R-ZE-_NER-_ZE-_=F+=-B=+—H "
intend to dispose of its unlisted investments within the AREBTHRAXRT-_BAEHEEI  FHIKR
next twelve months and therefore they were included in Z A HEBtAIERBEE °
non-current assets.
24 BANK BALANCES AND CASH/PLEDGED 24 MITBBENBRS SROTEHRCHER
BANK TIME DEPOSITS
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FETT
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFHERE 131,442 136,542
Time deposits TEHF K 384,864 385,966
Bank balances and cash as stated fRE B S AR R 2R A T 3t Y
in the consolidated statement of IRITERREFIR &
financial position 516,306 522,508
Less: Non-pledged time deposits B REEE R A BB =
with original maturity of more Az E\E R EBREFER
than three months when
acquired (291,956) (292,276)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated 4 AIREREXRMIIZIRE R
in the consolidated statement of HELEEHER
cash flows 224,350 230,232

Annual Report 2024 3 163



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 WA 5 R B wE

24

25

164

BANK BALANCES AND CASH/PLEDGED
BANK TIME DEPOSITS (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB”) amounted to HK$28,545,000 (2023:
HK$35,625,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through
authorised banks to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

At the end of reporting period, the pledged bank
time deposits with amounting HK$4,386,000 (2023:
HK$1,750,000) are pledged as collateral for maintaining
the merchant accounts and such pledged would be
released when the accounts are terminated.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

24

25

ROTBKBENRE ROEFREHER (&)

RBEBR REBUARE (AR A
B2 e RIRTTHREE /28,545,000/%8 7T (=
L — =4 : 35,625,000/ 70) - AR 1]
EREBAEMER A RIEFEFE A
ZHNEEBIEOI R EE EERNESER
TE v AN B JE T B iR E AR A HE 1T OINEE RS
ZIRITBARBRIBEEME -

FR|ETZRERFARTERMNRZFR
AR R EMEREAKRE AR RE M
FEFBE=Z@AAAF AREAZE

55 B 7 SRR BRI 8 o BT B R IF R
TR SR R TR - E MR K
5 -

RBEHR £ % 54,386,000 T (= F
— =4 : 1,750,000 ) MIRITTE B E BT
HEEBEAERBEAPEFPFNERR  mMA
BIE IR A A BR P AR IE RS AR BR o

P& 13 B 3K

RBER BARRRBRERRAZE
BAMMT :

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Current to 30 days BEVEAZ= 30K 14,127 15,893
31 to 60 days 31E60K 7,797 7,234
61 to 90 days 61Z90K 2,547 4,630
91 to 120 days 91 120K 449 627
Over 120 days #iB120K 1,010 922
Total SR 25,930 29,306

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on 60-day terms.
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26 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26 HttfENRERERE
2024
—EomE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Receipts in advance TE YRR 34,810 31,828
Contract liabilities EHBEE (a) 9,705 9,715
Other payables b JE S KT8 (b) 45,949 43,344
Accruals FEEt I8 (c) 38,457 38,542
Total &5t 128,921 123,429
Notes: it -
(a)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a) BHBEFBHOT :
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
—E_ME —E-=F —E_=F
+=B=+—-H  t=—A=ft—H —HA—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Short-term advances B EF .2 G HE A
received from customers
Circulation income related to A RIRE « M M EM TR
newspapers, magazines BEITWA
and other publications 9,705 9,715 11,449
The decrease in contract liabilities in both 2024 and AHEER-_E_NMER-_TE_=FHHD
2023 were mainly due to the decrease in short-term DEFEHRERFRETRE B R EM
advances received from customers in relation to T BB WE PR R D FTE -
the circulation of newspapers, magazines and other
publications at the end of both years.
(b)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an b) HMEMNKBERFIFTE XEF=EAFH
average payment term of three months. IRER o
(c)  Provision for long service payments of HK$2,769,000 (c) FEHRKESE#H?2,769,0008 (T -=4:
(2023: HK$3,961,000) is included in accruals. 3,961,000 t) B 5t AFEFH K IH ©
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27 DEFERRED TAX 27 EEFIE

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets
during the year are as follows:

FREEHEARBREEZZSHUNT :

Deferred tax liabilities

EEBHAE

Fair value

adjustments

Depreciation arising from
allowance acquisition of
in excess an additional

of related interestina Revaluation Withholding
depreciation joint venture of properties Tax losses taxes
hESELE
BBEE  ENER
FEZHE  MEBRM
%HE AVEREZ REKE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 W-2-=#-F—H 45,398 4,864 100,203 (35,436) 12,372 127,401
Deferred tax charged to the statement of ~ FERMEZ R A 2 ELTH B
profit or loss during the year (note 10) (K 5E10) 450 - 467 662 273 1,852
Deferred tax charged to asset FANEEERRERNRZ
revaluation reserve during the year BB - - 4,387 - - 4,387
Exchange realignment 5 AT - - 188 - 3 191
At 31 December 2023 and NZE_=F+-F=t-HK
1 January 2024 “E-NE-fA-H 45,848 4,864 105,245 (34,774) 12,648 133,831
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to ERREHERANL/GIA) 2
the statement of profit or loss ERERIE (Fr3H10)
during the year (note 10) 1,229 - (4,224) (179) 33 (3,141)
Deferred tax charged to asset FERRNEEERFERNTNRZ
revaluation reserve during the year BRI - - 3,890 - - 3,890
Exchange realignment s - - (185) - (982) (1,167)
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-mE+=-A=+-H 47,077 4,864 104,726 (34,953) 11,699 133,413
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27 DEFERRED TAX (continued) 27 EEHE(E)

Deferred tax assets EEBEEE
Depreciation
in excess
of related
depreciation
allowance Tax losses
HIBERETE
GHBEZIE HIEEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET
At 1 January 2023, R—FE-_=F—H—H -
31 December 2023, _T_Z¢+_ﬁ_+ SIS
1 January 2024 and —E-NFE—-—A—HEK
31 December 2024 —E-NE+=-—A=+—H 2,921 1,650 4,571

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
tax losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately
HK$1,243,727,000 (2023: approximately
HK$1,191,434,000) that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. The Group also had tax
losses arising in Mainland China of approximately
HK$13,061,000 (2023: approximately HK$15,545,000)
that will expire in one to five years for offsetting

RBEMR AEBEREBEZRES
18 491,243,727,0008 T (ZZE - =% : 4
1,191, 434000,%E)THBEHHJ%EATM‘#E‘%
SHEBBZARZAREZRH & A o
AEBNTERERFRAMBNHEIEEELD
13,061 0007 7T (=& = = 4 : #15,545,000
o) Eﬂﬁﬂfiﬁimiuﬁﬁ A AR K
ﬁé 51% K ERR B i A o B §221,836,0008 7T
T — =4 : 220,752,0007 7T) HY B B E5 48

/-\

against future taxable profits. A deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of HK$221,836,000
(2023: HK$220,752,000) of the tax losses. Deferred
tax assets in respect of remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$1,034,952,000 (2023: approximately
HK$986,227,000) have not been recognised as they
have arisen in certain subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and in the opinion of the
directors, it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

Pursuant to the Canada Income Tax Act, a withholding
tax of 5% or 15% is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Canada. A lower withholding tax rate may
be applied if there is a tax treaty between Canada and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% since the beneficial owner is a
company that controls directly or indirectly at least 10%
of the voting power in the company paying the dividend.
The Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on
dividends distributable by those subsidiaries established
in Canada in respect of earnings generated.

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

ﬁﬁ%ﬁk%}élﬁﬁF HRLEBEDIRES
FHEEEBES—BEBZMNBAR  MA
BEERBETKAILEEBRIKE T EMH
i‘%)éﬂé%%%%ﬁiﬁﬁu AT E R T 2 TS
518 491,034,952,000/8 L (Z T = =4 : &
986,227 ooo,%rc) ERIELERTEEE °

REBEMERMEHE  RNEANKILZINE
RECEMIBEIREET IR Z K EBLE%K
15%H R W BIH - M= KEIBEIRE
EZREZEBERERIIBBELY  BEEA
BRENBENRE -BAKEMS AR E=
BREANREERIHAERZFXNRERFZED
10%F AN RE - BUBRBRESE5% © Ft -
A& B A B E R PTE & &8 A% F R0 ’i?ﬁ
A2 B AR AT E R Z A BRI IA

ill

=
\

$;AET ) B B 3R ST BB I R P IS AR A A
T -

Annual Report 2024 3 167



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 WA 5 R B wE

28 SHARE CAPITAL 28 RA

Shares B 12

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Authorised: ETERRA
2,354,256,546 ordinary shares of 2,354,256,546%
HK$0.2 each BREE0.2B T
Z BB 470,851 470,851
1,291,486,908 5% redeemable 1,291,486,908[%
cumulative convertible preference FRREEC.1S T
shares of HK$0.1 each Z5% 2 ER] fE [
AEHE KR 129,149 129,149
600,000 600,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRBERA
880,543,017 (2023: 880,543,017) 880,543,017 (ZE =4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.2 each 880,543,017)
BREE0.2B T
i il 176,109 176,109
There were no movements in the share capital of the FRN - ARNBRASEEFH (B _=F: ) o
Company during the year (2023: Nil).
Share options & B
Details of the Company’s share option schemes and the ERAANREREZIRBETIREER
share options granted under the schemes are included W2 HBENGE B HRRM E29 o

in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
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29 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(1)

Share Option Scheme adopted on 23 May
2012 (the “2012 Scheme”)

The 2012 Scheme was adopted by the Company
on 23 May 2012 and has a term of 10 years
commencing from 23 May 2012, unless otherwise
terminated in accordance with the terms of the
2012 Scheme.

Summary of the 2012 Scheme is set out below:
(a) Purpose

The 2012 Scheme seeks to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions or potential
contributions made or to be made by the
participants to the Group, to motivate the
participants to optimise their performance
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group,
and to maintain or attract business
relationship with the participants whose
contributions are or may be beneficial to the
growth of the Group.

(b) Participants

The board of directors may at its absolute
discretion invite anyone from the following
classes of participants to take up options to
subscribe for shares of the Company:

(i) any part-time or full-time employee or
officer of any member of the Group or
of any associate;

(i) any director (executive or non-executive)
of any member of the Group or of any
associate; or

(i) any supplier, agent, customer, business
associate, distributor, professional
or other adviser of, or consultant or
contractor to, any member of the
Group.

A 7 B B A B wE

29 BERESE

(1)

R-ZEBE——-HFRA-1+=HHEMANER
B (=2 —=F58))

RZEBE——FRA=-+=H ' ~XAFHK
W_T——F58 R-_FT—Z—FAHA
—+ =B AEHI0F BRIERITIRE
TR FFEIMIE R LE -

—E——FHEMEWNOT :
(a) B#

—T-_HFFEENRER2EE
SAREFTERRBIEL 2 BRI
BEER G MRS REREE
REMREMENELAEE YA
HEIREEBAKERERRAMA
BRIt B BRIz 2 EE 2 X5/
1%

(b) ZHEZE

ExeragRNBAETI2EE
RPN Z EMALTEABBE - AR
BARARD

() AEERAR TR
D2 A WS 2 B E B
HEE

IS Y L PNoE T
A2 EREE (RITHIEN
7) 2%

(i) AEEKE AR ZEMEE
mREBE - BB
DR BEAT  BHAA
AR kA B R o
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29 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

170

(1) Share Option Scheme adopted on 23 May
2012 (the “2012 Scheme”) (continued)

(c)

(d)

Total number of shares available for
issue

The total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the 2012 Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares in issue as at the date of approval of
the 2012 Scheme (excluding options lapsed)
(the “Mandate Limit”).

The Company may, at any time, refresh the
Mandate Limit by obtaining the approval of
shareholders of the Company in a general
meeting. The Company may also seek
separate approval by its shareholders in a
general meeting for granting options beyond
the Mandate Limit or the refreshed limit
provided that the options in excess of the
limit are granted to participants specifically
identified before such approval is sought.

The overall limit on the number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2012 Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless separately approved by shareholders
in a general meeting in the manner as
prescribed in the Listing Rules, the total
number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of share options granted to
each participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the shares
then in issue.

SING TAO NEWS CORPORATION LIMITED E & EEEAR A 7

20 BRESE(E)

(1) R=B-=FREA=-+=ZBEANER
M8 (=2 =58 (&)

(c)

(d)

CINE Sed. i -F -

lﬁ@m%_z —EFFHEEAN

ARMEMEMBRESSREZ
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29 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

(1) Share Option Scheme adopted on 23 May
2012 (the “2012 Scheme”) (continued)

(e) Period within which the shares must be

(f)

taken up

The period during which a share option may
be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the 2012 Scheme shall be the period
set out in the relevant offer letter provided
that such period expires no later than the
tenth anniversary of the date on which it is
granted.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price must be at least the
higher of:

()  the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the relevant share
options; and

(i)  the average closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant
of the relevant share options.

A 7 B B A B wE

20 BRESE(E)

(1) R-B—-SHEA-+=-HERHNNER
M8 (=2 =58 (&)

(e) ZRFBRGZHE

"

RIF—F— —FEEIMGRRK - 71T
R 2 AR R A B E L KA
SRR HAME - tEZ F HIR AT E
RERERLBERETAFER -

TRENEEEE

AEEATIRSEBE :

() BROERABEREEAARXT
Bt fE B 32 P B SRR AT ELEY
WHE: &

(i) EBERRLERBREZERSRA
RER S B AR F R 5B
XA B mERMAEH YT
=
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29 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

172

(1)

Share Option Scheme adopted on 23
May 2012 (the “2012 Scheme”) (continued)
(Continued)

(9) Remaining life

The 2012 Scheme expired on 22 May 2022.

At 1 January 2024, there were (i) 7,600,000 share
options outstanding granted in 2015 under the
2012 Scheme with an exercise period from 4
May 2016 to 3 May 2025 at an exercise price
of HK$1.16 per share, and (i) 8,050,000 share
options outstanding granted in 2017 under the
2012 Scheme with an exercise period from 13
January 2018 to 12 January 2027 at an exercise
price of HK$1.01 per share.

During the year, no share option was granted
nor exercised under the 2012 Scheme. Totals
of 1,500,000 and 1,050,000 outstanding share
options previously granted at the respective
exercise prices of HK$1.16 per share and HK$1.01
per share, under the 2012 Scheme lapsed.

At 31 December 2024, there were 6,100,000 and
7,000,000 share options outstanding granted
in 2015 and 2017, respectively, under the 2012
Scheme.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had
13,100,000 (2023: 15,650,000) share options
outstanding under the 2012 Scheme with an
exercise period from 4 May 2016 to 12 January
2027 and exercise price ranging from HK$1.01
to HK$1.16 per share. The exercise in full of the
remaining share options would, under the present
capital structure of the Company, result in the
issue of 13,100,000 (2023: 15,650,000) additional
shares of HK$0.2 each, which represented
approximately 1.49% of the existing issued
ordinary share capital of the Company at the end
of the reporting period.
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(1) R=B-=FREA=-+=ZBEANER
M8 (=2 =58 (&)

(9) B THR

—E——FHEERZE_—_FH
AZ+Z=HE® °

RZE_WMF—-—A—H (\R=2F—*&
FRB-ZF—_FEEREmMEARITE
2 B&B% ¥ A7,600,00010 @ 5% 5 B8 IL HE
ZIEHRE T R"FRANBERE
—ZEZ_RFRAZHI TEEAER
1168 T RIRZE—+EREBE-ZT
——FFEBREMERITEZERES
8,050,000 ' % EHERE 2 TFEHH =
T \F—A+t=ZBARE-T-tF—
A+=ZHI 1TEERAER1.01ET -
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29 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 29 BERESHE (F)
During the year, movement of share options granted to REAN - GEREEREBERNRGERETS
eligible employees under the share option schemes of BRTZEREZHOT

the Company is as follows:

Number of share options
BREYA
Exercise Exercise

Date of grant of At Lapsed At period of price of Fair value
Name or category of  share options 1 January during 31 December  share options  share options per share

participant (dd/mm/yy) 2024 the year 2024 (dd/mm/yy) (Note a) option
SEE®ZHER BRERLAN R-Z-mF RER  R-B-RE BREGRDE BRECEER BHERE
(B/R/%) -B-H %% +=A=t-B (R/A/%&) (Hzta) N¥E

Other employees (in 04/05/16-
aggregate) 04/05/15 7,600,000 (1,500,000) 6,100,000 03/05/25 1.160 0.380
HiofE 8 (£5) 13/01/18-
13/01/17 8,050,000 (1,050,000) 7,000,000 12/01/27 1.010 0.321
Total 15,650,000 (2,550,000) 13,100,000
At
Note: Hiat -
(a)  The exercise price of the share options is subject to (a) HEREZITEEELEBER  BITAKK
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other AR RIIRA IR 2 E A AL & B ifn /E S -

similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

No share option expense was recognised by the Group RARRMEFEL EERABRERS
for both years.

Annual Report 2024 3 173



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 WA 5 R B wE

29 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 29 BREGE (EF)
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, R EH®E  REAAFBREGFERE 2
movement of share options granted under the share BREZEHAT

option schemes of the Company is as follows:

Number of share options

EREHA
Date of exercised/ Date of grant of Exercised after Lapsed after  Exercise period of
lapsed share options the end of the end of share options Exercise price
(dd/mm/yy) (dd/mm/yy) reporting period reporting period (dd/mm/yy) of share options
T/ %%AH BRERLAH R EH R EH BRETES
(B/B/%) (B/B/%) REITE RERH (B/B/%) BRETHEE
HK$
BT
17/03/25 04/05/15 = 500,000  04/15/16-03/05/25 1.16
13/01/17 = 1,000,000  13/01/18-12/01/27 1.01
Total — 1,500,000
ast
At the approval date of these financial statements, the RAERGBEHREBE  AR2ARE-F
Company had 11,600,000 share options outstanding — —FEEEARTTE 2 B A11,600,000
under the 2012 Scheme, which represented B AR ARIRE BEHEITZRMA1.32% -

approximately 1.32% of the Company’s shares in issue
as at that date.
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30 RESERVES

31

The Group’s contributed surplus represents (i) the
excess of the nominal value of the shares issued by
Perfect Treasure Holdings (BVI) Limited in exchange
for the aggregate nominal value of the issued capital
of subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group
reorganisation in 1996, prior to the listing of the
Company’s shares, amounting to HK$9,899,000, and (ii)
the credit of HK$488,930,000 arising from the reduction
of the share premium account in 2003 less the
distribution of HK$18,181,000 in 2003 and the debits
of HK$5,935,000, HK$1,073,000, HK$34,307,000 and
HK$31,443,000 arising from the repurchase of shares
during the years ended 31 December 2012, 2008, 2007
and 2006, respectively.

PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS

The Group is obligated to make long service payment
to qualifying employees in Hong Kong with a minimum
of 5 years’ employment period upon retirement or
termination of employment under certain circumstances,
in accordance with the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance (the “Employment Ordinance”). Long service
payment is calculated based on the last monthly salary
of the employee and the number of years of service.
There are provisions under the Employment Ordinance
permitting employers to offset employees’ long service
payment against the accrued benefits attributable
to employers’ contributions to the MPF Scheme. In
2022, the Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Bill
2022 (the “Amendment Bill”) was enacted, such that
the Group can no longer use accrued benefits arising
from MPF mandatory employer contributions to offset
employees’ long service payment accrued as from the
transition date (i.e., 1 May 2025). The enactment of the
Amendment Bill is treated as a plan amendment. Except
for the statutory right to offset as described above, the
long service payment benefits are unfunded.

The net long service payment obligations are exposed
to interest rate risk, the risk arising from expected rate
of future salary increase and market risk associated with
investment returns of employees’ MPF Scheme.

30

31

A 7 B B A B wE

(G

NEB 7B AR A() Perfect Treasure
Holdings (BVI) Limited¥7Ti% 0 2 E{E ' BB
RAERRGD ETA - AEXBRIBE -
FEBEABRKRENBERARBEBITRAL
mEZIHD &% 459,899,000 T+ i
I =ZEE=FEHRBROEERMEELZ
488,930,000 THERBE T =F H Ik
218,181,000 TIA KRB EZ =T — = F -
—EENF ZETLER_FEERF L+
B=+—BLEFERRAERRKS M BIREE
5,935,000/ 7t ~ 1,073,000/ 7T * 34,307,000
7571 31,443,000/ 7T °

RERBESRE

BEDTBRERBEN (EEEMN])  XEEH
EEARERBCGEREERARIELETER
THRItERBERESNFERHARSE S - EHH
®LEREF - RERKEBEEERRBAH
MRS FHAE - EREANEEXATREE
HEENRERESEEETRREESTE
HAEEOEFEN R F =%
T FRBREREENEG GRHERHE) (1BET)
RO E = ((MERTIEBIE R ]) B - Bt A%
EEeERAR B -E_AFRA—H)EF
BERRESTa Rt EEEEREENE
HRANEEEENRERGEE - BT ER
B 78 5 15 1R B — AT 8B FT B Ll )k E 4K
HEN  RERESRALEREES -

FHRBEcEEFRAZNEEAR - RHAR
XEeERXELERRINEARENBRES
ArEIRERBEE T SRR -
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31 PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS 31
(continued)

RUBRBERBE (&)

RBERREANTIEZEERRDOT ¢

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Discount rate (%) 7138 & (%) 4.09% 3.75%
Expected investment return on offsetable 7] $4 38 1& & & 5148 | &Y

MPF accrued benefits T8 Hi 4% & [B] 7R 3.4% -4.1%

Expected rate of salary increase (%) TE B % © 42 & & (%) 0% 0%

RBEMR  EARKXOEEHFZE D5
REAR

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant
assumptions as at the end of the reporting period is
shown below:

176

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
provision for provision for
Increase long service Decrease long service
in rate payments in rate payments
RABREERE RERBERE
HRE M 2,/ (HD) &[> #i,/ (Bd)
% HK$'000 % HK$'000
FHET FHET
2024 —E-_ME
Discount rate RS 1% (14) 1% 14
Investment return on offsetable  AI K #4387 & FED
MPF contribution REE R 0.5% - 0.5% -
Future salary increase R JK B 22 0 0.5% 47 0.5% (52)
2023 —B-=H
Discount rate RS 1% (20) 1% 20
Investment return on offsetable  AI Kt TE S FE)
MPF contribution REE 0.5% - 0.5% -
Future salary increase R IR B 22 0 0.5% 65 0.5% (78)

# Amount less than HK$1,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS
(continued)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
based on a method that extrapolates the impact on
defined benefit obligations as a result of reasonable
changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of
the reporting period. The sensitivity analysis is based
on a change in a significant assumption, keeping all
other assumptions constant. The sensitivity analysis
may not be representative of an actual change in the
defined benefit obligations as it is unlikely that changes
in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another.

The total expenses recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in respect of the long service
payments are as follows:

31

B 5 A 5 R B wE

RUBRBERE (&)

FRHREAIMDBRBEIZRINHE AR
LN EEHMENHRERMNECHE
ENTEMETE - BRED ﬁﬁ%ﬁik%
%W&@ REMABHEMBER T E &Wf
DMALERRAERNETHNERE
ARBRERNEHTAREERBEL -

REARakTREHIRESERNEER

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Net service cost PR 75 A AN JF B 224 3,357
Interest cost T BORK 7N 100 129
Net benefit expenses & 5 2 5 324 3,486
Recognised in cost of sales T E B AN FE R 208 2,046
Recognised in distribution expenses RO EAZER 58 626
Recognised in administrative expenses RITB R 58 814
Total BEr 324 3,486

Annual Report 2024 3 177



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 WA 5 R B wE

31 PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS 31 RERKSEE(Z)
(continued)
The movements in the provision for long service RERBeBENEZSHNOT :

payments are as follows:

Long service payment cost Remeasurement gain in other
charged to profit or loss comprehensive income
REENKZ
RERE S A REME AR SR BRE
Actuarial Subtotal
Subtotal changes included

included in arising from in other
1 January  Net service Interest profitor  Netbenefit  changesin comprehensive 31 December
2024 cost expenses loss paid assumptions income 2024
RRRLD AR
2024 kL] BBRE FABEN BB MELH 2EMEN —2-0F
“EIQE -A-B e NERX it R REEE Mt t=B=+-A
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS$'000
FET FET FEn FER FET FEL FEn FEn

Provision for long service RERES
payments B 3,961 224 100 324 (521) (989) (989) 2,769

Long service payment cost Remeasurement gains in other
charged to profit or loss comprehensive income

RERBERE REM ARG ST ERE

Actuarial Subtotal

Subtotal changes included

included in arising from in other

1 January  Net service Interest proftor ~ Netbeneft ~ changesin comprehensive 31 December
2023 cost expenses loss paid  assumptions income
RERH% AR
ZE2ZF RBRA SABEH BAEH fEkd)  2EWNEH
-R-H B FIERX NGt 8 RER NGt

HKS000  HKBOOD  HKBOOD  HKBOOD  AKBOO0  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKS000
TET TAT TAT TAT TET FET TAT TAT

Provision for long service kBR%S
oayments B 1,365 3,357 129 3,486 662) 229) 229) 3,061
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32 PENDING LITIGATIONS

The Group has received claims made against certain
subsidiaries for damages in respect of alleged
defamation. Based on legal opinions, the directors are
of the opinion that adequate provision has been made
in the consolidated financial statements to cover any
potential liabilities arising from the litigations.

33 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash
additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of HK$9,586,000 (2023: HK$302,000) and
HK$9,586,000 (2023: HK$302,000), respectively,
in respect of lease arrangements for buildings and
equipment.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

B 5 A 5 R B wE

32 FRFGHRZFR

AEBZEETHEBRRREY RkHFEMmER
HZHR - REBEZEER EERARAEH
EESREMBRERPELRABERBIUNE
BEMAEERRRMELEZER

33 SMEABRERERME

(@ EEFREXS

FRN - AEE2FEAREEREEASRE
MEFEXE2HELRED BISEIE
IH ¢ #2 119,586,000/8 T (=& — =4 :
302,000/ 7t) }%9,586,000% 7T (= &
— =4 : 302,000/ L) °

(b) MEITHELEZEEEH

activities

Lease
liabilities
HEEE
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 January 2023 N_E-_=%F—H—H 39,705
Changes from financing cash flows BEREREZEE (16,374)
Foreign exchange movement i 5 & F) (148)
New leases FHE 302
Interest expense (note 6) FEF X (FzE6) il 244
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows S iEAKLRESREZENFA (1,244)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZEZ=F+=A=+—8HK
—E-pE—HF—H 23,485
Changes from financing cash flows RERSREE (14,734)
Foreign exchange movement fE 5, & &) (119)
New leases FHE 9,586
Interest expense (note 6) M2 (i 5E6) 876
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows HiEARKLHESTREZENF A (876)
At 31 December 2024 N-E-_NE+=-B=+—H 18,218
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33 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 33 FERERERME(E)
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERLESHEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the HFAGZEREeRERZ2HEERSRE A
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: AR
2024
—E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Within operating activities BEZEEN 1,030 1,244
Within financing activities BEEEA 14,734 16,374
Total = 15,764 17,618
34 COMMITMENTS 34 EIE
The Group had the following contractual commitments AREBRFERRENT A HEIE

at the end of the reporting period:

2024
—E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Plant and machinery BB M 23 934 3,151
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35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3B BEEALXREF
(@ In addition to the transactions and balances (a) BREEUBHRERZEMMAFLAZRS
detailed elsewhere in these consolidated financial BAEGRIN  REBREANINERBE AL
statements, the Group had the following material ST ZEARS ¢

transactions with related parties during the year:

2024
—E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
News service fee expenses YA FEE S A R 2 T E RIS 0]
paid to associates BRAMX - 720
News service and other REBE AR 2B WFHERS (i)
service fee income N EH AR 75 & R YA
received from associates - 403
Advertising income received R A N al 2 B WEEKA (i)
from associates - 87
Notes: B -
(i) The news service fee was charged on an annual (i) 1 RSB AR & A8 B 3 B AR 7S sk
fixed amount basis pursuant to the relevant news FETHENKE -
service agreement.
(i)  The service fee was charged at cost plus a (i) RIEEBRABEKARINTEE MK E -
pre-determined mark-up.
(i) The advertising income was determined between iy BEWABREESH2ZRITMEERE
the parties with reference to the prevailing market
price.
(b) &omepensation of key management personnel of b) ZAEBIESEEABZHS
e Group:

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Short term employee benefits HEEERF 12,148 10,478
Post-employment benefits BB 12 18 7 72 72
Total compensation paid to key MEFEERBAELZNZ
management personnel B 5 48 58 12,220 10,550
Further details of directors’ emoluments are EEHOHE—SEBE N ANBERE
included in note 8 to the consolidated financial B SESHE o -

statements.
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36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36 &RIEBESHE
The carrying amounts of each category of financial RNEEHIR » &

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

31 December 2024

Financial assets

—E_mE+=-A=+—H

MBEEE

PemITAMKEENT :

Financial assets at fair value through Financial
profit or loss assets at
BATEGABREZ fair value
HBEE through other
Designated comprehensive Financial
as such income - assets at
upon initial Held for Equity amortised
recognition trading investments cost
RIS RER R BRATEFA
EEEATE Hin 2 E M= REHRA
FTABERZ BHEE - SRz
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
- TEr TET FET TET
Equity investments designated BERBEATETA
at fair value though other A2 AkE ERlE
comprehensive income #E - - 47 - 47
Trade receivables BRI - - - 158,200 158,200
Financial assets included in FTABNHE « EfEk
prepayments, other receivables HEREMEEN
and other assets HBEE - - - 21,338 21,338
Financial assets at fair value through RATEFABRERN
profit or loss HBAE 10,234 2,540 - - 12,774
Pledged bank time deposits RITERESFA - - - 4,386 4,386
Bank balances and cash ROBEANRS - - - 516,306 516,306
Total At 10,234 2,540 47 700,230 713,051
Financial liabilities BikEs

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

1% 1 85 B A 51 BR

K EEE

HK$’000

FET

Trade payables FE S BRFX 25,930
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals aT A K i FE T 0B K

EstRIBE 2B EE 67,889

Lease liabilities HEaE 18,218

Total &t 112,037
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(continued)

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each category of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows (continued):
31 December 2023

Financial assets

36

B 5 A 5 R B wE

EMIASE(E)

RBERR SRR TANEEENT
(&)

—E_=F+-_A=+—H
MEEE

Financial assets at fair value through profit Financial
or loss assets at
B3 f fair value
E0p)y through other
Designated comprehensive Financial
as such income - assets at
upon initial Held for Equity amortised
recognition trading investments cost
RBHIR
RS R JiliEz
HE ‘
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Equity investments designated BEARATEFA
at fair value though other Et2AkEcERlE
comprehensive income BE& - - 47 - 47
Trade receivables MR - - - 190,118 190,118
Financial assets included in FAEMNFE  EfERGE
prepayments, other receivables REMEENBMBEE
and other assets = = = 26,692 26,592
Financial assets at fair value through BRTEFABERNEHS
profit or loss BE 10,427 1,928 - - 12,350
Pledged bank time deposits BROEATHER = - - 1,750 1,750
Bank balances and cash ROBENRS - - - 522,508 522,508
Total S5r 10,427 1,923 47 740,968 753,365
Financial liabilities MKEE

Financial

liabilities at

amortised cost

RSN 51) BR

M aE

HK$’000

FET

Trade payables FEBRR 29,306
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals T A E fih & 45 5008 K 5T 5RIE

2% EE 61,448

Lease liabilities HEBE 23,485

Total At 114,239
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37 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 37 SRMIANATERAFESERFE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

REEEEQAFESEROEN AEES
BTAMEEERAFERT

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s
financial instruments, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are

as follows:
Carrying amounts Fair values
REE ATLE
2024 2024
—E-mE ZE-NE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET
Financial assets BKEE
Equity investments designated 15 AR A FEx A
at fair value through other Hitnz2@EME 2
comprehensive income BRIERE 47 47 47 47
Financial assets at fair value R A E(EzH AR
through profit or loss LHBEE 12,774 12,350 12,774 12,350
Total A&t 12,821 12,397 12,821 12,397

Management has assessed that the fair values of
pledged bank time deposits, bank balances and cash,
trade receivables, trade payables, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals, and lease liabilities approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance team is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The finance team
reports directly to the Group senior management and
the audit committee. At each reporting date, the finance
team analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in
the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved
by the Group senior management. The valuation
process and results are discussed with the audit
committee twice a year for interim and annual financial
reporting.
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37 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 37 SRMIANAFERAFESRHE &)
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are MHEEERBENAFEUNZIEABRARS
included at the amount at which the instrument could 7 (RASEEREERIN BRIRS THAIXR
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing SBAE - NHFERBRTB UG A
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The F1E :

following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

The fair values of listed equity investments are based FhESEREZ AFEDERMERE -
on quoted market prices. The fair value of other unlisted EMmIEFETEBREZAFEEILZ2ETSREM
investments is determined with reference to the quoted BE -

market price.

Fair value hierarchy ATFEERFE

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRERAEBEHMTIANQATFEFESH
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: HE -

Assets measured at fair value: BRAFEFENEE

As at 31 December 2024 R-—E-_WE+=-—HA=+—H

Fair value measurement using

AV B ERA

Quoted
prices Significant

in active observable
markets inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2)
ERTIEN EATEBR@A
BEZER-) B(ZEH=)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Equity investments designated at fair BEAREDNTETAEAM
value through other comprehensive PENGEERNRE
income 47 - 47
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABREZ
profit or loss: B EE
Equity investments R E 2,540 - 2,540
Debt investments EEITEAR - 10,234 10,234
Total EEr 2,587 10,234 12,821
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37 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 37 SRMIBENAFERAFESERHE &)
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AFEEHREEF)
As at 31 December 2023 R-—E_=%+=-H=+—H

Fair value measurement using

AFEHRRA

Quoted
prices Significant

in active observable
markets inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2)
ERMISE BEAABEHA
WE(FH—) BE(ER=Z)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET T
Equity investments designated at fair BEREATETAEAM
value through other comprehensive FENGEERNRE
income 47 = 47
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABREZ
profit or loss: Mg EE
Equity investments i g 1,923 - 1,923
Debt investments EBEITA - 10,427 10,427
Total = 1,970 10,427 12,397
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured RZEBE-_WFER-_ZFE-_=F+-_A=+—H"
at fair value as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. AEFBTETMAZATFEFENTEEE -
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value REAFERN BMEESR REHR _BEE
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no BrEAgEHRER = A FETE (2
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil). —=F &)
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
cash and short term deposits. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables
and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.
The board reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, joint ventures and associates. It is the
Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on
credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts
is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets and the exposure
to credit risk for the financial guarantee contracts.

38

A 7 B B A B wE

BEEBREEEERBE

AEBEZTIECHIARERERERTFR -
ZEETRMTAZIZANR/ERESUHA
SERKERF - AKBETRMBEERA
B (Pl R R EMAERR) - TBREH
RRERTE -

AEEeRMTAZEIEZRARASEERR R
BESRRETEER BEF2RE RHBE
EEEBEARIER AL

EERR

AEERERANEEBREZE=ZT A
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38 HEEMREEEERBE(£Z)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) EERKE (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BAEBREXERE S ()
(continued)
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_mWE+=-HA=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12f8 A
BHEREX ZHESEREL
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
E—E EoRE Y EER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FAT
Trade receivables* & L B 1 - - - 173,242 173,242
Financial assets included in FTABRFUE - EfbER
prepayments, other receivables REREMEEL
and other assets BB E
- Normal™* ~E3~ 21,338 - - - 21,338
~ Doubtful™ — W - - - - -
Pledged bank time deposits RITERTERER
- Not yet past due — W R 4,386 - - - 4,386
Bank balances and cash BIIHBBNRE
- Not yet past due — [ AR 8 516,306 - - - 516,306
Total EEr 542,030 - - 173,242 715,272
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=F+=-A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A
BHEREX 2HEHEREBRX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
F—FE F_BE E=EER 5%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET FET FET FET FET
Trade receivables* TEUBR Z* - - - 206,737 206,737
Financial assets included in FABMTE . HMER
prepayments, other receivables REREMEEZ
and other assets M EE
- Normal™ —FE™ 26,592 - - - 26,592
- Doubtful** — A - - - - -
Pledged bank time deposits BIEBTHER
— Not yet past due — W AR L ER 1,750 = = = 1,750
Bank balances and cash BOHENRS
- Not yet past due — R A 48 2 522,508 - = — 522,508
Total A&t 550,850 - - 206,737 757,587
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based
on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

i The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets are
considered as “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets are considered as “doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables
are disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flow
from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank overdrafts and bank loans. The Group’s policy
is that not more than 20% of its interest-bearing bank
borrowings should mature in any 12-month period.

38
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 WA 5 R B wE

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:

38

MEERERERREREEK(F)

REBEERER(E)

RBEHMR REGHRTRANRE A&
BB AENZIMBERMT

2024
—E-_mE
Less than 1
year
DR1E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FHT
Trade payables A BR 3R 25,930 - 25,930
Financial liabilities included in & A H fib & {5 2018 -
other payables, accruals JEETFRIE &
and provision BRENTBKAE 67,889 - 67,889
Lease liabilities HEAE 7,988 11,283 19,271
Total = 101,807 11,283 113,090

Less than
1 year
DR1E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FET
Trade payables FEAFBR 3k 29,306 - 29,306
Financial liabilities included in &+ A H it & {5 708
other payables, accruals JEET A K
and provision BENYKEaE 61,448 = 61,448
Lease liabilities HEAE 11,110 13,708 24,818
Total = 101,864 13,708 115,572
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Market risk

The Group trades in financial instruments, including
equity securities and debt securities.

Market risk represents the risk that the fair values or
future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate
due to changes in market variables, such as interest
rates and equity prices. The Group is exposed to
market risk through its derivative financial instruments
and other investments.

The Group has investment guidelines that set out its
overall business strategies, its tolerance for risk and
its general risk management philosophy, and it has
established processes to monitor and control various
trading transactions in a timely and accurate manner.

Equity risk

Equity risk is risk that the fair values of financial assets
and derivative financial instruments decrease as a result
of changes in the levels of equity indices and the values
of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity
risk arising from individual investments included in
current portion of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (note 23) as at 31 December 2024. The
Group’s investments are listed or linked to securities
listed on stock exchanges in Hong Kong and are
valued at quoted market prices or quoted prices from
investment banks.

No equity price sensitivity is disclosed as in the opinion
of the management of the Company, the equity price
sensitivity does not give additional value in view of
insignificant exposure at the end of the reporting period.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 WA 5 R B wE

39 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

192

39

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are

as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WEBAREM

Chinese Information Radio

Job Market Publishing Limited

KRESLRERAT

Land Profit Development
Limited

Perfect Treasure Investment

Limited
REZRARATA

Premier Printing Group Limited
HRz RENEEEFRAA

Rayma Limited

Sing Tao (Canada) Limited

Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of issued
registration and
business

AR

Bk

United States of
America

*H

Hong Kong
Bt

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong
KBRRHSE/BR

Hong Kong
BB
Hong Kong
BB
Hong Kong

BB

Canada

NIEYN

share capital’/registered

capital
BERTRAEE"
TEHEX

US$100,000
common stock
100,0003 7T & 8 A%

HK$2 ordinary shares
2B LA

US$1 ordinary share
1ETEBR

HK$100,000 ordinary
shares
100,000/ 7T & 8 A%

HK$2 ordinary shares
2B T LR

HK$100 ordinary shares
1007 7T & i@ Mk

CA$1 common share
10070 L & Rk

SING TAO NEWS CORPORATION LIMITED £ E¥EEEAER AT

MEARFE

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company
ENEEERE

BOL

Direct

HE

Indirect

B

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

AARNEEHBARAZHEDT -

Principal
activities

TEXH

Radio
pbroadcasting

ERRE

Newspaper
publishing
WERLT

Securities trading
and investment
BHEERRE

Securities trading
and investment

BHRERKA

Printing
EN I

Operation of a
website
RuhgE

Investment holding
REER
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39 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39 KEBLARAFHE(E)

Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of issued

registration and share capital’/registered Percentage of equity Principal
Name of subsidiary business capital attributable to the Company activities
EM& L, ERTRAEE" AR RAE
- NG FRRCE LY ERE-E BAt TERH
Direct Indirect
E# ik
Sing Tao Limited Hong Kong HK$177,544,000 = 100 Newspaper
EEBRAF B ordinary shares publishing
177,544,0007% 7T & @ R REHET
Sing Tao Magazine Group British Virgin Islands/ US$1 ordinary share = 100 Magazine
Limited Hong Kong 1IETEBR publishing and
EERFEEBRAR EBERHE/BR advertising
agency
REETRES
2
Sing Tao Publishing Limited Hong Kong HK$133,332 ordinary — 100  Book publishing
EBHRBRATF e shares and HK$66,668 EERT
preference shares
133,332/8 L & @ J
66,6687 L& £
Sing Tao Newspapers Los United States of US$100,000 — 100 Newspaper
Angeles Ltd. America common stock publishing
el 100,000 7T & @ R WEBAT
Sing Tao Newspapers New United States of US$5,550,000 — 100 Newspaper
York Ltd. America common stock publishing
EJ5 5,550,000% 7t & 1 f& BEHET
Sing Tao New Media Business  Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Operation of
Limited B ordinary shares websites and
2B T LR application
(apps)
BuEmARALE
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39 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39 KMIBARFEE)
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of issued
registration and share capital’/registered Percentage of equity Principal
Name of subsidiary business capital attributable to the Company activities
EMEL ERTRAEE AA R RE
MEARERE BERBE R ERE-E BAt TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# ik
Sing Tao Newspapers San United States of US$2,335,000 - 100  Newspaper
Francisco Ltd. America common stock publishing
R 2,335,000% 1. & 1 ik BEHET
Sing Tao (UK Ltd. United Kingdom GBP2,500,000 - 100 Newspaper
= ordinary shares publishing
2,500,000% 5 & i i REEAT
tREEEREERMRE People’s Republic of RMB23,000,000 - 100  Software
BRAA China/Mainland registered capital development
China AR #23,000,0007% YR
REARLNE &R
FR A
KEFZHRTHE (R) People’s Republic of RMB30,000,000 = 100 Distribution of
BEREEDA China/Mainland registered capital print-media
China AR #30,000,0007% publications in
REARAME, BRIIE-E Mainland China
B A i AR B A b B 1T

+

issued ordinary share capital

*

Wholly foreign-owned enterprise

For Hong Kong-incorporated companies, this represents

TED £% B8 ED ol

y HEBEMALZZ AR RREHTETERK
PR

i SNEBE LR

EZRR LXRMINRIEREAFERE -
KERAEEEEN RABFEZIER
DZEARAMBRA -EEFRR  HFIA
REEMBRR  RIESERITE -

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets and/or liabilities of the Group. To give
details of all the Company’s subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40 AR E B BARR R
THE COMPANY

BRARRANBERRYBARR ZERT :

Information about the statement of financial position of

the Company at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment YE - BEREE 27 32
Investment property KEYE 6,738 6,478
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR 2 RE 1,360,440 1,362,321
Total non-current assets RBEELE 1,367,205 1,368,831
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTFRIE - H e W R IE &
deposits e 787 780
Bank balances and cash IRTTERREAIR & 3,288 3,167
Total current assets REBEEHE 4,075 3,947
Current liability REBAE
Other payables and accruals b FE ST FE R B AT RIA 4,203 3,546
Net current (liabilities)/assets FE(EE) EEFE (128) 401
Total assets less current liabilities ERAHAB2EEHAE 1,367,077 1,369,232
Non-current liability kFBEMB
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIE B & 1,647 1,582
Net assets EEFE 1,365,430 1,367,650
Equity [
Issued capital BEITIRA 176,109 176,109
Reserves ff# 18 1,189,321 1,191,541
Total equity i R 48 5R 1,365,430 1,367,650
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40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40 ARBHBRRE (E)
THE COMPANY (continued)
A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: AAvfEERERNT :
Share  Contributed Asset Share
premium surplus revaluation option Retained
account (note) reserve reserve profits
BAEH BEEfR
RABER (F¥&E) wmE BRERE REEA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 R-E-_=%—f—H 43,522 502,941 4,733 8,014 634,973 1,194,183
Loss for the year and total FEFBREEZE
comprehensive loss for the year  EjiR 4% - = = = (2,642) (2,642)
Remeasurement of provision for B EREBREERE
long service payments - - - - - -
Transfer of share option reserve TR I B R s
upon the forfeiture of share BRERR
options - - - (2,573) 2,573 -
At 31 December 2023 and RZE-=F+-f=+—
1 January 2024 BR-_ZE-_mF¥—A—H 43,522 502,941 4,733 5,441 634,904 1,191,541
Loss for the year and total FEBEEREEZA
comprehensive loss for the year BRAR - - - - (2,220) (2,220)
Remeasurement of provision for EFtERIRBELRE
long service payments = = = = & =+
Transfer of share option reserve KR Uk B AR B 8 3¢
upon the forfeiture of share BRERR
options - - - (899) 899 -
At 31 December 2024 RZF-ME+=A
=4=F 43,522 502,941 4,733 4,542 633,583 1,189,321
# Amount less than HK$1,000 # & 51,0007 T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

41

THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: The contributed surplus of the Company represents
(iy the excess of the fair value of the shares of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 1996, prior to the listing of the
Company’s shares, over the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor,
amounting to approximately HK$104,950,000, and (ii)
the credit of approximately HK$488,930,000 arising from
the reduction of the share premium account in 2003
less the distribution of approximately HK$18,181,000 in
2003 and the debits of HK$5,935,000, HK$1,073,000,
HK$34,307,000 and HK$31,443,000 arising from
the repurchase of shares during the years ended 31
December 2012, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the Company may make distributions to its
members out of the contributed surplus under certain
circumstances.

The share option reserve of the Company comprises
the fair value of share options granted which are yet
to be exercised, as further explained in the accounting
policy for share-based payments in note 2.4 to the
consolidated financial statements. The amount will either
be transferred to the share premium account when
the related options are exercised, or be transferred to
retained profits should the related options expire or be
forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24
March 2025.

A 7 B B A B wE

40 ARATMBMRREK (&)

Biat - KRR ZB AR BN AR KRG LT ATE
B AN ANEEEEHEFKRECHBARZ
BHOAFE SHARAARBRZERG M
BTz EME =% 0 B4104,950,000
BT RZZEZT=FH R DS EEME
A 7 #9488,930,000/8 THEERE T T =
F IR Z#18,181,0008 TA KRB E - =
——FE ZEENF - —_ETLFER-ZEE
ANE+T_A=+—BLEFEANABELRD M
2 Bl B 5,935,000 7T + 1,073,000/ 7T
34,307,000/ 7T %31,443,000/8 7T - 1R B
HE—NN\—FERaDE(EIER]) » ARARA
EEFTBERT  UBABBABREELDIK

ARABERERBEEEREBERRITRZ
BREZATE FREEMBHRERME24
BRNBRNDBERZNRZETEHEK - B
FEREETE eRAERERNEE
B REEBRED BB RIS
R F o

41 MBEEEHHHRER

EFeX T RAF=-A-_tHAHSRLRE
BT EREEMB®RE -
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Schedule of Major Properties
FEYEME

Approx.
gross floor Group’s Lease Main
Address Lot No. area interest expiry  occupants
BEm rEE
131k 1t B3 4 5% HEANE FEEE REREH ZEHRE
() PROPERTIES HELD FOR OWNER OCCUPATION:
BEBRZYE:
Located in Hong Kong
TR &

1. Rooms 1401-02,05-06,14/F, Inland Lot No. 2 ~ Commercial 3,330 100 2842  Flash Bright
Car Po Commercial A3 EX 255 SRS Development
Building, No.37-43 Limited
Pottinger Street, Central SRHERERAF
IR
PR FA37-435%

RERFAE
141£1401-02 * 05-06 %

2. 7 Chun Cheong Street, Lot No. 39 Industrial and 322,865 100 2047  Sing Tao News
Tseung Kwan O Industrial 1 B 3955 headquarters Corporation
Estate, Tseung Kwan O TERBE Limited
HER EEHEE
1% B8R T 5 4P BRAR
REHTR

Located in Mainland China

17 R B 7y

3. Units 501 and 502, N/A GCommercial 7,938 100 2052  Sing Tao News
The Spaces International T A BE Corporation
Centre, No.8 Dongdagiao Limited
Road, Chaoyang District, EENEER
Beijing BRAR
R R
RARBR85
1w D B BX AR Ly
501E K502F

Located in the United States of America

REH]
4. 215 Littlefield Avenue, Lot 7 Block 4 Industrial 14,935 100 Freehold  Sing Tao
South San Francisco T interest Newspaper San
KA TR Francisco Ltd.
5. 188 Lafayette Street, Lot 40 Block 473  Commercial 16,200 100 Freehold  Sing Tao
New York [5ES interest Newspaper New

KA R York Ltd.
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(ii)

Address

1 3k

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES:

REME:

Located in Hong Kong
I REE

Rooms 1305-06,13/F,

Car Po Commercial Building,
No.37-43 Pottinger Street,
Central

HIR

MR i /E4737-435%
RENERE
13181305-06%

Rooms 1403-04,14/F,

Car Po Commercial Building,
No.37-43 Pottinger Street,
Central

HIR

TR EA37-435
REWMERE
141£1403-04%

Located in Mainland China
7 R B A

Unit 8E, Lan Yuan Mansion,
Beijing Jingdao Garden,
No. 1 Xibahe Nan Road,
Chaoyang District, Beijing
R R
PRI A K15

I R&SEERBIEES

Lot No.

i B A 5%

Inland Lot. No. 2
A ER 25K

Inland Lot. No. 2
1 B; 257

N/A
TEH

Located in the United States of America

17 R

17059 Green Drive, City of
Industry, Los Angeles

Tract No. 26265
Lot 7

Commercial

GES

Commercial

GES

Residential
F=E

Industrial

TI%

Schedule of Major Properties
ERVEBRT

Approx.
gross floor
area
BRE
HRAH

1,632

950

1,132

63,500

Group’s
interest

r5E
Frib &

100

100

100

100

Lease
expiry

JeE 8 F 3R

2842
(long term)

(REH)

2842
(long term)

(REH)

2064

Freehold
interest
KA R

Main
occupants

TEGRAE

Independent third
parties
BUE=H

Independent third
parties
BUE=H

Independent third
parties
BUE=H

Independent third
parties
BUE=H
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Five Year Financial Summary

47 S 5 B

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of AEBBREAAENBFECRE  EERBEHRE -
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from NS BE B EEZGEMBEMERNAT

the published audited consolidated financial statements, is

set out below.

RESULTS E

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=1t—HILEE

2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-E —E-=F —E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FET
Revenue A 777,164 819,963 815,008 834,788 825,747
Loss for the year REFEE (84,251) (49,065) (138,784) (139,812) (80,909)
Attributable to: AT AL :
Owners of the Company  AAREAR A (84,251) (49,065) (138,784) (139,812) (80,909)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENEE
As at 31 December
W+t=ZA=t+-—H
2024 2023 2022
—E-ME —EC-=F —E-=
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
Total assets BEHE 1,938,104 2,011,209 2,054,643 2,154,031 2,301,707
Total liabilities BE#E (306,810) (310,341) (326,857) (312,779) (323,480)

1,631,294 1,700,868 1,727,786 1,841,252 1,978,227
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